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109" Meeting of the IUCN Council (C109)
in person, HQ, Gland (Switzerland), 23-25 May 2023

Agenda
(Approved by the IUCN Council decision C109/1 on 24 May 2023)

Tuesday 23 May 2023

09:00-
13:00&
14:00-
18:00

Meetings of the standing committees of the IUCN Council (PPC, FAC and GCC)

Wednesday 24 and Thursday 25 May 2023

Agenda Item 1: Opening of the meeting and approval of the Agenda FOR
DECISION

IUCN Members have received the draft agenda one month in advance of the Council
meeting. Their comments will be compiled in Council document C109/1/3.

Documents:
e (C109/1/2b rev Program overview of C109 with tentative timetable of Council plenary
e (C109/1/3 Comments from IUCN Members on the Draft Agenda of C109

Agenda Item 2: Director General's Report

2.1 DG’s annual report based results on the DG’s strategic objectives for 2022 FOR
INFORMATION / DISCUSSION

Following his annual report 2022, the DG will also present an update on activities since the
previous Council meeting (the period January-May 2023). Both the written report and the
slides for his update January-May 2023 are available:

e (C109/2.1/1 DG’s annual report / results on the DG'’s strategic objectives for 2022
e (C109/2.1/2 DG’s Update for period since C108 (covering Jan-May 2023)

2.2 IUCN 2022 Annual Report FOR DECISION

Council members received the draft IUCN 2022 Annual Report from the Director General on
7 March 2023, for comments by 27 March 2023. The final version incorporating Council
members’ comments is available:

e (C109/2.2/2 Revised and final version of the IUCN 2022 Annual report, with feedback
from Councillors incorporated
2.3 Audited Financial Statements 2022 FOR DECISION

The DG (and CFO) will make a brief presentation followed by the Chair of FAC’s presentation
of the recommendations from FAC10 scheduled for 23 May 2023, and the Treasurer’'s
remarks.

e (C109/2.3/1 - FAC10.2: Financial Results 2022

e (C109/2.3/2 - FAC10.2a: The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2022

e (C109/2.3/3 - FAC 10.2b: Review of the 2022 financial statements

2.4 DG’s strategic objectives for 2023 FOR DECISION
e (C109/2.4/1 DG’s 2023 strategic objectives

Agenda Iltem 3: Council’s strategic priorities & objectives 2022-25

3.1 Overview of progress FOR INFORMATION
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By the President and Vice Presidents

3.2 Strategic Vision FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

e Progress on the 20-year Strategic Vision elaborated by the Intersessional Council
Working Group / Steering Committee — for discussion / approval for the purpose of
consulting the IUCN membership.

e The FAC will discuss the financial strategy at FAC10 on 23 May 2023 and report back to
Council.

During its third meeting held on 16 May 2023, the Steering Committee of the IUCN 20-year

Strategic Vision Project agreed to:

e Approve the submission to Council (C109) of two of the deliverables of the Project,
Phase I, as defined in the Project Initiation Document. These are: “Analysis of IUCN
today” (Chapter 1) and “External situation and trends” (Chapter 2). They can be viewed
though the links below.

¢ Recognise that these are provisional texts which will be improved based on consultations
with Council and the Membership.

¢ Request that a place holder be included in Chapter 1 for inclusion of a section on Value
Proposition to Membership, once defined by Council.

e Upon Council approval, submit these documents to Members as part of the package for
Consultation (June 2023 onwards).

e C109/3.2/1 Chapter | - IUCN Today May 6 2023
e (C109/3.2/2 Chapter Il - External situation and trends

3.3 Implementation of 2021 Resolutions requiring action from Council

3.3.1 2021 Congress Decision 148 - Enabling effective attendance and participation of
Members in future sessions of the Congress FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

The Advisory Group’s proposals to amend the Statutes, Rules and Regulations to make the
Congress a hybrid event — for discussion / approval for the purpose of consulting the IUCN
membership.

e (C109/3.3.1/1 rev Report of the Advisory Group to Council w. Annexes 1, 3, 4 and 5
e Annex 1 - IUCN Statutes and Regulations September 2021 - with proposed revisions
and notes of the Advisory Group 15 May 2023

3.3.2 Impact of armed conflict on biodiversity FOR DISCUSSION
Progress report from the Working Group established by Council decision C108/9.
e (C109/3.3.2/1 IUCN draft report of the WG on armed conflicts

3.3.3 Update from PPC and GCC on progress with the implementation of other 2021
Resolutions requiring action from Council FOR INFORMATION / DISCUSSION

3.4 Implementation of the Council Response to 2019 Governance External Review FOR
INFORMATION / DISCUSSION

GCC will consider results of its Task Force during its meeting of 23 May 2023.
e (C109/3.4/1 Report of GCC’s Task Force on the External Governance Review

3.5 International Positioning FOR DISCUSSION

Discussion of IUCN'’s international positioning, in particular the plans and strategies for
UNFCCC CoP28 and other CoPs (e.g. Convention on Migratory Species CoP14) and
priority subsidiary bodies of MEAs that will be held in 2023, taking into account
recommendations of PPC incl. on the role of IUCN’s Permanent Observer to the United
Nations in this regard.

Agenda Item 4: IUCN World Conservation Congress 2025
4.1 Selection of the Host Country FOR DECISION



https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/resrecfiles/WCC_2020_DEC_148_EN.pdf
https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2023-02/decisions-of-the-108th-meeting-of-the-iucn-council-parts-i-nov-2022-and-ii-jan-2023-w.-annex-1-10.pdf

This item will be dealt with in camera, i.e. restricted to the Council members, the Director
General and Secretariat staff required for this item.

Agenda Iltem 5: Constituency Issues
5.1 Membership dues FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

Discussion / decision on proposals from the Council Working Group to operationalize
membership dues for the special case of venue-based organizations (follow-up to Council
decision C108/14). This topic is on the agenda of GCC9 of 23 May 2023.

e (C109/5.1/1 Council WG on membership dues - Progress Report 19 May 2023

5.2 Membership applications FOR DECISION

Consideration of new membership applications taking into account the recommendations of
GCC (GCCS8 of 13 April 2023 and GCC9 of 23 May 2023).

e (C109/5.2 Consideration of 12 membership applications w. Annex
e GCCB8 Outcomes and recommendations to Council 13 April 2023

5.3 Applications for change of membership category or notification of name change
FOR DECISION

e C109/5.3 Change of category or name of IUCN Members and notification about State
Members

e (C109/5.3/2 Change of membership category

5.4 Update on the preparations for the IUCN Members’ e-vote to rescind Members’
rights FOR INFORMATION

Agenda Item 6: Strategy for Knowledge Products and Strategy for the IUCN
Academy FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

Proposals from the Director General in response to Council decisions C108/15 and C108/16,
taking into account recommendations from PPC.

Documents:
e C109/6/1 Initiative for the future of IUCN capacity building
e (C109/6/3 Knowledge Products and Knowledge Management: Strategic Roadmap
Version 2.0 — May 2023
e (C109/6/4 Capacity Building CEM and WCPA Comments v0517

Agenda Item 7: (Re)Confirmation of the rules for intervention or lobbying
letters and the use of the IUCN logo in conjunction with the logo of other
constituent parts of IUCN FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

In the context of a recent issue, the DG consulted the Chairs of PPC and GCC who
suggested that Council reconfirms the rules. The following background documentation has
been provided by the Secretariat:

e C109/7/1 rev Background note - Use of Logo for lobbying w. attachments

Agenda Iltem 8: Strategic Review of IUCN’'s Future Engagement with the World
Heritage Convention FOR INFORMATION

The Director General would like to share with Council the findings and recommendations of
the Strategic Review of IUCN'’s Future Engagement with the World Heritage Convention
which were reviewed by the PPC (See PPC10 Outcomes and recommendations to Council 9
March 2023 for PPC’s input).

Documents:
e (C109/8/1 Strategic Review of IUCN’s Future Engagement with the World Heritage
Convention

e (C109/8/2 IUCN Response to Strategic Review of IUCN'’s Future Engagement with
World Heritage Convention

Agenda Item 9: Reports of the IUCN Commissions
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https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2023-02/decisions-of-the-108th-meeting-of-the-iucn-council-parts-i-nov-2022-and-ii-jan-2023-w.-annex-1-10.pdf

9.1 Reports of the Commissions FOR INFORMATION/DISCUSSION

The Chairs of CEM, SSC and WCPA will present their Commission’s annual report to Council
as required by Art. 77 of the Statutes. The remaining Commission Chairs will present their
reports at C110.

C109/9.1/1 CEM group and regional reports 2022

C109/9.1/1 PPT CEM report to Council

C109/9.1/2 WCPA 2022 Annual Report (pages 1-11)

C109/9.1/2 WCPA 2022 Annual Report (pages 12-39)

C109/9.1/2/2 PPT WCPA Report 2022 to Council (slide presentation)
C109/9.1/3 PPT SSC report to Council

9.2 IUCN Climate Crisis Commission:
9.2.1 Appointment of Deputy Chair(s) FOR DECISION

The Interim Chair intends to make a proposal for appointment as Deputy Chair(s). The
Interim Chair, who will not be able to travel to Gland, will connect remotely for agenda items
9.2.1 and 9.2.2. The only time available in his travel schedule will be between 11.30 and
13.30 CEST on 24 May.

e (C109/9.2.1/1 Appointment of Deputy Chair(s) of the IUCN Climate Crisis Commission

9.2.2 Issues raised by the Interim Steering Committee (ISC) FOR DISCUSSION/
DECISION

In its “statement” (pp 15-18 of the pdf file) clarifying their rationale for adapting the draft
Terms of Reference of the Commission to the requirements of the Council in February 2023,
the ISC raised issues pertaining to budget and voting rights of the Interim Chair (cf. Council
decision C107/12, May 2022) which Council members agreed to discuss at C109

9.3 IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas FOR DECISION

The Chair of WCPA will propose two candidates for appointment to WCPA's Steering
Committee to fill vacancies following the resignation of two committee members.

e (C109/9.3/1 Appointment of members of the Steering Committee of the IUCN World
Commission on Protected Areas

9.4 IJUCN Commission on Environmental, Economic and Social Policy FOR DECISION

The Chair of CEESP will propose a candidate for appointment to CEESP’s Steering
Committee to fill a vacancy following the resignation of a committee member.

e (C109/9.4/1 Appointment of a member of the Steering Committee of the IUCN
Commission on Environmental, Economic and Social Policy

9.5 IUCN Commission on Education and Communication FOR DECISION

The Chair of CEC will propose candidates for appointment to CEC’s Steering Committee.

e (C109/9.5/1 Appointment of members of the Steering Committee of the Commission
on Education and Communication

Agenda Item 10: Reports with recommendations from the Council’s Standing
Committees FOR DISCUSSION / DECISION

Under this agenda item, the committees will present topics for information, discussion and/or
decision of Council that have not yet been covered under other agenda items of this Council
meeting.

10.1 Finance and Audit Committee (FAC)

e FAC9 Outcomes and recommendations to Council 3 May 2023 w. Annex

10.2 Programme and Policy Committee (PPC)

e PPC11 Outcomes and recommendations to Council 12 April 2023



https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2022-002-En.pdf
https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-11/decisions-of-the-107th-meeting-of-the-iucn-council-in-person-18-19-may-2022-with-annex-1-8.pdf
https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-11/decisions-of-the-107th-meeting-of-the-iucn-council-in-person-18-19-may-2022-with-annex-1-8.pdf

10.3 Governance and Constituency Committee (GCC)

e GCCB8 Outcomes and recommendations to Council 13 April 2023

Agenda Item 11: Amendments to the Regulations FOR DISCUSSION /
DECISION

This item is on the agenda in order to allow Council to approve amendments to the
Regulations if it wished to do so, taking into account that Article 101 of the Statutes requires
that amendments to the Requlations must be placed on the agenda of the Council and
adopted at each of two successive periodic meetings of the Council. Between these Council
meetings, the proposed amendments must be communicated to IUCN Members for
comments or objections. The amendments listed under this item concern amendments other
than those consequential to the proposed amendments to the Statutes and Rules of
Procedure of the Congress referred to under agenda item 3.3.1 (in response to Congress
Decision 148) which will be submitted to the IUCN membership for approval together with the
amendments to the Statutes and the Rules which they relate to.

11.1 Amendments to the Regulations concerning the Legal Adviser (Follow-up to
Council decision C107/21)

e Taking into account recommendations from GCC. See in this regard GCC8
Outcomes and recommendations to Council 13 April 2023 (item 4, paragraph f)

Agenda Iltem 12: in camera session

Session of the Council held in camera, i.e. restricted to the members of the Council, in
accordance with Article 58 of the Statutes

12.1 Search for and transition to a new Director General of [IUCN

Agenda Item 13: Any other business
13.1 Date and place of the next Council meeting C110

Maud Leliévre has confirmed that the French Government will host the 110" Council meeting
in (or near) Paris from 13 to 15 November 2023 in the context of the 75" anniversary of
IUCN’s founding. Consultations are on-going with the view to determining to what extent the
host will pay any expenditure not covered by the approved IUCN budget.



https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2022-002-En.pdf
https://portals.iucn.org/union/sites/union/files/doc/decisions_of_the_107th_meeting_of_the_iucn_council_-_in_person_-_18-19_may_2022_w._annex_1-8.pdf

Council document C109/1/3
‘\ Status 19 May 2023

’ IUCN 109" Meeting of the IUCN Council
in person, in Gland (Switzerland) on 23, 24 and 25 May 2023

Comments from [IUCN Members on the Draft Agenda C109

Council’s Transparency Policy (2016) requires that the draft agenda and the draft Work Plan
and Budget be made available to IUCN Members before the Council meeting.

The draft agenda of the 109" Council meeting has been shared with IUCN Members on 20
April 2023, for comments by 19 May 2023.

All comments received from IUCN Members are presented as Annexes to the present
document.


https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-08/transparency-policy-of-the-iucn-council-april-2016.pdf

Annex 1

NICK Sabrina

From: Kathleen Rogers <rogers@earthday.org>

Sent: 09 May 2023 22:13

To: President - IUCN

Subject: Comment on the Draft Agenda for the 2023 IUCN Council Meeting
Attachments: IUCN Letter.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Categories: President

Dear Ms. Mubarak,
Please find our comment regarding the agenda for the 2023 IUCN Council meeting attached.

Best,
Kathleen

Earth Day 2023: Invest In Our Planet

Kathleen Rogers
President

T: 202-518-0044

E: rogers@earthday.org
1752 N Street NW
Suite 700

Washington, DC 20036
INVEST www.earthday.org
, IN oun #investinOurPlanet
EARTHDAY.ORG p L AN E 'l'

| BILLION PEQPLE 192 COUNTRIES |

— CHARITY
NAVIGATOR

* Kk

Four Star Charity
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EARTHDAY.ORG

EARTHDAY.ORG
1752 N Street, NW,
Suite 700
Washington, D.C.
20036
Tel: +1.202.518.0044
Fax: +1.202.518.8794
www.earthday.org

Earth Day Network is a
501 (c)(3) organization.
All donations are tax-
deductible.

May 9, 2023

Razan Al Mubarak
President
IUCN

Dear Ms. Mubarak,

As a longstanding member of [UCN, with a network of over 150,000 NGOS which
work with us on Earth Day and year-round, we ask that the topic of climate
education, specifically, climate and biodiversity education that is universally
mandated and integrated from K through 12, university, trade schools, and
graduate schools be included in the agenda for the 109" Meeting of the IUCN
Council.

Earth Day’s petition on this subject now includes over 450 million people signed
on, both individually and through their organizations. This petition has resulted in
many countries adding climate literacy into their NDCS under the Paris
Agreement, as well as consideration by the G20 and G7 for inclusion.
Additionally, some multilaterals, including those that fund biodiversity and
conservation, are considering mandatory climate/biodiversity education be
included in all financing and grant making for conservation. It makes good
conservation sense given the extraordinary pressures on communities which
intersect with conservation projects, climate change, and the need for economic
security.

The commitment of [UCN to promoting climate literacy falls within the ITUCN
Program-IUCN 2030 one nature, one future which in the section on youth states
“TUCN will work across all fronts including education . . . to further
intergenerational knowledge sharing . . .” Moreover, Section 6 of the program on
enablers includes communication, education, and public awareness. Finally, [UCN
is also engaged in helping implement the UN SDGs and UN SDG 4 and its target
4.7 focus on education for sustainable development.

We also support [IUCN Resolution 62 (Children), 64 (Behavior Change), 84
(Environmental Education) and closer collaboration could greatly amplify progress
towards these priorities.

We commend [UCN on its recent focus on the engagement of youth 18-35
including the Youth Strategy. Systematic Education of Children as identified in the
Resolutions is complimentary but distinct. Several [IUCN members states have
identified formal compulsory K-12 Education as more inclusive with far greater
potential as a whole society solution for large scale behavior change.

Fifty years ago, the first Earth Day sparked an environmental revolution, and
ignited the modern environmental movement. Today, EARTHDAY.ORG, the
organization that grew out of the first Earth Day, is mobilizing its global network,
trusted brand and far-reaching communications assets to call for universal climate
literacy. Our goal is to accelerate the transition to an equitable green economy by
creating the next generation of green consumers, innovators, and civic leaders.



The draft agenda for the 109" Meeting of the IUCN Council is missing discussion
on climate education, even as public and private sector leaders are increasingly
recognizing the need for a climate-literate population. In 2020, with support from a
World Bank grant, EDO studied more than 35 countries’ environmental education
systems and found that not a single country mandated environmental or climate
education nationwide. Since then, in part due to EDO’s Global Climate and
Environmental Literacy Campaign which include the first ever pavilion dedicated
to climate education—the Climate Education Hub—at COP27 in Sharm El-Sheikh
and the youth-led Climate Education Coalition.

As support for climate education grows, a number of funds dedicated to climate
literacy are being created by governments, multilateral organizations, and global
educational partnerships that would provide funding to countries that demonstrate
a clear and actionable commitment to integrating climate education policy. EDO is
calling upon all countries to add such a commitment in their Nationally
Determined Contributions (NDCs) as outlined in Article 4, paragraph 2 of the Paris
Agreement. Under the Paris Agreement’s Enhanced Transparency Framework
(ETF) established under Article 13, paragraph 7b, countries are required to report
progress made in implementing and achieving their NDC commitments as a
method of building trust and confidence for future funding.

Support for climate literacy is also key to achieving the objectives of the UNCBD
and goals of the 2025 World Conservation Congress.

We thank you for your consideration of this matter and respectfully request a call
with you at your earliest convenience to discuss the path forward.

Sincerely,

Vatidon. Eryonr)

Kathleen Rogers
President
EARTHDAY.ORG

Cc: Sue Lieberman
Rick Bates
Sixto Inchaustegui
Sean Southey
Christina Voight
Manuel Pulgar-Vidal



Annex 2
NICK Sabrina

Subject: RE: Council Meeting Comments

From: Ottinger, Prof. Richard L. <rottinger@law.pace.edu>
Sent: Thursday, May 11, 2023 10:19 AM

To: ALI RAZA Rizvi <Ali.raza@iucn.org>

Cc: Christopher P Dunn <cpd55@cornell.edu>

Subject: Council Meeting Comments

Dear Ali:

Christopher Dunn recently forwarded to me the draft agenda for the 109" Council Meeting to be held 23-25 May
with instructions to send any comments or suggestions to you.

Re Agenda Item 9.2, | would like to have asked of Manuel Pulgar Vidal when he will publish his plans for the
Commission that you kindly forwarded to me, and how applications for membership are going to be handled. | have
sent three e-mails to him, one recently, offering my help and asking for membership, but he rudely failed to reply at
all to any of them. This does not seem to me appropriate interest in member participation in his important work.

Also, | would like to have an item added to the agenda an item re what are the IUCN Council plans for having
countries address the climate crisis in 2023 and what IUCN plans to present at COP 28 re plans for transition from

fossil fuels and for terminating fossil fuel subsidies.

Thanks for your consideration. All the best. Dick



Annex 3

NICK Sabrina

Subject: RE: IUCN: 109th Council meeting - draft Agenda ASOC comments

From: scotthajost@yahoo.com <scotthajost@yahoo.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 18, 2023 4:13 PM

To: President - IUCN <president@iucn.org>

Cc: LIEBERMAN Susan <susan.lieberman@iucn.org>; RAO Madhu
<madhu.rao@iucn.org>; OVER Sarah <Sarah.Over@iucn.org>; GOOD
Deborah <Deborah.GOOD@iucn.org>

Subject: IUCN: 109th Council meeting - draft Agenda ASOC comments

Dear President Mubarak. On behalf of ASOC- the Antarctic and Southern
Ocean Coalition, | am pleased to provide comments on the 109" Council
draft agenda. ASOC is the only environmental NGO observer in the Antarctic
Treaty System (ATS). IUCN has long had a “seat at the table” in the ATS.
The IUCN Program 2030 includes Antarctica and the Southern Ocean. It is
timely for this IUCN Council to revisit the Council approved 2009 I[UCN
Antarctic Strategy.

The 45" ATCM (Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting) will take place in
Helsinki, Finland May 29- June 8 (climate change is an important theme)
followed by the 3d Special Meeting of CCAMLR ( Commission for the
Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources) June 19-23 in Santiago,
Chile to discuss Southern Ocean MPAs. Council can discuss IUCN
engagement in the ATS and these meetings in particular under agenda item
3.5 — International Positioning. It would be good if IUCN is present at the
ATCM and CCAMLR Special Meeting and we appreciate that this is being
worked on.

We are pleased that action on Marseille Resolution 107 on fisheries and
marine biodiversity which includes Antarctica and the Southern Ocean has
begun and ASOC is further pleased to contribute.

Many thanks and all the best for a successful Council meeting.

Scott A. Hajost

Board Vice-Chair
ASOC- Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition
https://www.asoc.org/




JUCN

To: IUCN Members

CC: National and Regional Committees, Regional Directors, IUCN Councillors, Director General, Membership Focal
Points, Membership and Commission Support Unit

Draft Agenda for the 109th meeting of the IUCN Council

23-25 May 2023

Dear IUCN Members,

IUCN Members and National, Regional and Interregional Committees are welcome to send
their comments on the draft Agenda for the 109th Council meeting to the IUCN Director
General via president@iucn.org by 19 May 2023.

Kind regards,

Membership and Commission Support Unit

You are receiving this message because, according to our database, you are the IUCN focal point for your organization
(Primary contact, Additional Primary contact and/or Head of Organization), or an IUCN Commission member. Please let us
know if this is incorrect and we will update our records accordingly.

This communication, together with any attachment, may contain confidential
information and/or copyright material and is intended only for the person(s) to
whom it is addressed. If you are not the intended recipient of this
communication, or if you received it in error, you are asked to kindly delete it
and promptly notify us. Any review, copying, use, disclosure or distribution of
any part of this communication, unless duly authorized by or on behalf of
IUCN, is strictly forbidden.



This communication, together with any attachment, may contain confidential information and/or
copyright material and is intended only for the person(s) to whom it is addressed. If you are not the
intended recipient of this communication, or if you received it in error, you are asked to kindly
delete it and promptly notify us. Any review, copying, use, disclosure or distribution of any part of
this communication, unless duly authorized by or on behalf of IUCN, is strictly forbidden.



c/o IUCN Country Office, Islamabad

National Committee : ; :
‘ IUCN I Pakistan IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature)

Annex 4

70-A, Main Nazimuddin Rd, F-7/4, Islamabad, Pakistan
Cell: +92 307-7773801; Tel: +92-51-2656991-97

Ms. Razan Al Mubarak,
President IUCN, UAE
Dated: April 27, 2023

Re: Request for review of IUCN Membership Fee
Dear Ms. Razan Al Mubarak,
Greeting from Pakistan and a very Happy Eid Mubarak,

| am writing to you to bring to your kind attention the concerns of all the non-profit
organizations (NPOs) from Pakistan regarding the high membership fees being charged by
IUCN. As the President of IUCN and representative of the constituency, | urge you to raise this
issue on behalf of IUCN members from Pakistan and other developing countries.

Pakistan has the second largest NPO membership in the IUCN global family and has been
actively advocating for climate change, biodiversity, and environmental-related issues with
the government and other entities. Therefore, it is crucial that their concerns are taken into
consideration.

It has been brought to our attention that in the last World Council, membership fees
increased by 100% to 500%. Moreover, the new membership fee rate is now based on total
budget, which is a discriminatory way of calculation, as NPOs from rich countries can pay it
easily, while those from country with weak currency will find it very difficult. Additionally,
most of the funds received by NPOs are restricted funds, which cannot be used for anything
other than project-related activity, leaving them with little surplus funds to pay for
membership fees. It is worth mentioning that the membership fee of other international
organizations is minuscule as compared to IUCN's fee.

Furthermore, Pakistan is currently going through hyperinflation with a 100% increase in the
dollar value in just one year, making it virtually impossible to pay such heavy IUCN
membership fees. It is crucial that we support the non-profit organizations in Pakistan in their
efforts to play their role in securing a better environment for the people of the country.

We suggest a reasonable flat token rate for IUCN membership fees as being charged by
many other global and regional membership forums. The membership fee based on
organizational annual turnover already discriminates against the principle of equality and
equity for all. Another option may be to have a decentralized membership system for every
country with the same code of conduct to follow but with different criteria as per the local
context, which should be negotiated considering the current financial situation and
constraints. By doing so, more funds can be allocated towards crucial conservation agendas,
benefiting the communities in Pakistan.



: c/o IUCN Country Office, Islamabad
IUCN g‘e&’t‘:' Committee IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature)
\ a n 70-A, Main Nazimuddin Rd, F-7/4, Islamabad, Pakistan

Cell: +92 307-7773801, Tel: +92-51-2656991-97

| request you to give due consideration to this matter and raise this issue in the forthcoming
109th meeting of the IUCN Council to be held from 23-25 May 2023 and take necessary steps
to address the concerns of NPOs from Pakistan and other developing countries regarding
high membership fees. This will help in promoting inclusivity and equity in IUCN's
membership structure, and support the crucial work being done by NPOs in developing
countries.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.
Sincerely,

Warm regards,

Pl

Dr. Roomi S. Hayat

Chairperson

|[UCN Pakistan National Committee,

IRM Complex, 7-Sunrise Avenue, Main Park Road
Near Comsats University, Islamabad, Pakistan.
Phone: +92-5108742201-7, Email: roomi@irm.edu.pk

Copy:

Pakistan National Committee,

DG IUCN, Geneva, Switzerland.

RD IUCN, Bangkok, Thailand.

Mr. Raj Kumar, Regional Membership Manager, Thailand.
National Committees.
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Annex 5

NICK Sabrina

From: Scott Hajost <sh@whistleblowers.org>

Sent: 19 May 2023 15:08

To: President - IUCN

Cc: LIEBERMAN Susan; VOIGT Christina; OVER Sarah; GOOD Deborah
Subject: IUCN: 109th Council meeting - draft Agenda NWC comments
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Dear President Mubarak. | am pleased to provide comments on the draft 109'" Council
agenda on behalf of NWC ( the National Whistleblower Center).

The IUCN Nature 2030 Program provides that as part of the enhanced realization and
enforcement of the environmental rule of law IUCN will promote whistleblower protection
and reward laws. Marseille Resolution 115 on environmental defenders and whistleblowers
among other things encourages the DG to develop an IUCN policy and action plan on
environmental human rights defenders and whistleblowers and report on activities related
to such policy and action plan as part of the IUCN Annual Report. Resolution 115 requests
CEC, (W)CEL and CEESP to initiate a campaign to promote and support the work of
environmental human rights defenders and whistleblowers. Whistleblowers are further
addressed in Marseille resolutions 38 on organized crime and the environment, 40 on
online wildlife crime, 54 on the private sector and wildlife trafficking and 108 on
deforestation and agricultural commodity supply chains and in the WCEL Mandate.

Human rights is integral to Resolution 115 on environmental human rights defenders and
whistleblowers which we trust will be included in the work of the Council PPC human
rights task force. The report of the UN special rapporteur on human rights defenders and
their anti-corruption work which also includes whistleblowers is an important document
for consideration https://documents-dds-
ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G21/396/47/PDF/G2139647.pdf?OpenElement IUCN
engagement with the UN Human Rights Council is of course relevant to the task force and
agenda item 3.5 on IUCN’s international positioning.

The IUCN Program, numerous Marseille resolutions and various Commission Mandates all
address various aspects of natural resource crime including wildlife crime. IUCN members
are involved in a number of natural resource crime efforts including the Wildlife Trafficking
Alliance based at AZA, the Nature Crime Alliance based at WRI and End Wildlife Crime. It
would be good for Council to take up consideration of development of an IUCN strategy to
contribute to combating natural resource crime.

There is increasing convergence among the environment and conservation, human rights,
crime and corruption communities including on human rights and climate change and the

UNFCC. Supporting environmental defenders/whistleblowers is part of that convergence. In
1



this regard, this community is focusing on the 10th Conference of States Parties (COSP) to
the UN Convention Against Corruption (UNCAC) which the US Government is hosting this
December in Atlanta, Georgia. Natural resource crime will be an important element of the
COSP. It would be good for Council to consider UNCAC and COSP 10 as part of agenda item
3.5 and for it to be included in the IUCN international policy calendar.

Thank you for Council’s consideration.
Scott A. Hajost
Senior Environmental Policy Adviser

National Whistleblower Center
https://www.whistleblowers.org/

To: IUCN Members

CC: National and Regional Committees, Regional Directors, IUCN Councillors, Director General, Membership Focal
Points, Membership and Commission Support Unit

Draft Agenda for the 109th meeting of the IUCN Council

23-25 May 2023

Dear IUCN Members,

IUCN Members and National, Regional and Interregional Committees are welcome to send
their comments on the draft Agenda for the 109th Council meeting to the IUCN Director
General via president@iucn.org by 19 May 2023.




Kind regards,
Membership and Commission Support Unit
You are receiving this message because, according to our database, you are the IUCN focal point for your organization

(Primary contact, Additional Primary contact and/or Head of Organization), or an IUCN Commission member. Please let us
know if this is incorrect and we will update our records accordingly.
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26 April 2023

Razan Khalifa Al Mubarak
President, International Union for the Conservation of Nature

Dear President Al Mubarak;

Greetings from the United States. We greatly appreciate your leadership and the superb work of
you and the Council on behalf of IUCN and its Members.

As you might know, two of our US members, The Smithsonian Institution and the Environmental
Defense Fund (EDF), have been approved to change their membership status from NGO to Affiliate.
This is owing to the increase in their dues and the consequent reclassification of both organizations
into the highest dues category.

The “good news” is that both valued organizations can remain as Members of the Union. The “bad
news” is that, after decades of significant and dedicated contributions to ensuring the strength of
the Union, their ability to fully participate will now be diminished.

What is equally troubling is the fact that they are being expected to pay the full 2022 dues at the
Group 10 level (20,620 CHF) as well as Affiliate dues for 2023. This is concerning as they are not
prepared to pay the 2022 amount, nor do they plan to do so, because they applied for changes in
their Membership category in 2022. They both entered into good faith discussions with the IUCN
Secretariat in 2022 fully expecting a change in status would be applicable to 2022 as well as 2023.

As the Executive Committee of the US National Committee, we do not feel this approach from the
Secretariat is appropriate, and we worry that both organizations might consider withdrawing
completely from IUCN owing to this issue (both the dues structure and process, and the attitude to
their 2022 dues). We would all be the worse off if we were to lose two high profile members.

The Smithsonian has been a valued member since 1966 and has been immensely supportive of the
Union, of the US National Committee, and of individual Members. The Smithsonian, which operates
the Smithsonian National Zoological Park, is a venue-based organization. We understand that
Council has established a Task Force to review venue-based organizations, which we welcome owing
to the fact other zoos, botanic gardens, and aquaria face this same dues issue. In fact, we are trying
to recruit more venue-based organizations to IUCN members and the Species Survival Commission
has drafted a Position Paper on the important conservation roles of zoos, gardens, and aquaria.

The Environmental Defense Fund has been a member since 1984 and has connected over time with
various parts of IUCN, including those working on climate change and oceans. The budget for their
membership comes from EDF’s international budget, which is quite small. EDF is not a venue-based
organization nor a Center in a university. Because IUCN has determined that it cannot accept
budgets from the individual relevant programs within an organization (although it can and does for
universities), we fear that EDF will also withdraw from IUCN if they are expected to pay the full 2022
dues as calculated by the Secretariat (20,620 CHF).



We ask your assistance in working with Council to reach an agreement that the Affiliate dues level
for 2023 is retroactive to 2022 for both the Smithsonian Institution and the Environmental Defense
Fund. And we ask, respectfully, that Council swiftly act to revise the dues structure and computation
process, such that long-time, active, and internationally respected members can be retained and
that venue-based organizations are motivated to join the Union.

With all best wishes,

Executive Committee:
Christopher P. Dunn, PhD, Chair
Deborah Hahn

Scott Hajost, Esq.

Healy Hamilton, PhD

David Reynolds

Jennifer Swandby

Cc: Susan Lieberman, PhD, Councillor, North America and the Caribbean
Tracy Farrell, PhD, Director, North American Regional Office
Deborah Good, Membership Focal Point, NARO
Sarah Over, Senior Membership Engagement Manager, IUCN



~ 9 May 2023
\ IUCN
Results on DG strategic objectives for 2022
T a oY [V 4 Te] o SRR STPP 1
Overarching performance INAICAtOrS......c..uii i e e s e e et e e e e rabre e e eabaee e eeaneeas 1
Report on results against strategic objectives approved by Council...........ooocciiieiiiiiiicciiiiiieee e 6
Chapter 1. Strategic Leadership in CONSErvation ........cccccoveiieeiiiiieiseiiiee e 6
Chapter 2. Fundraising and Financial Management..........ccooecieeeieiiiee et 13
Chapter 3. Operational, Change ManagemeENnt.........ccccueeeeiiiieeeiiieee e ecee e e eeree e e eree e e eareeas 15
Chapter 4. Programme ManagemMENT.........uuuuuuueiiiiiiiiiiiiiti e aaaaaaaeaaaaanannaes 18
Chapter 5. External Liaisons, PUDIC IMAGE ...cc.vviiiiiiiiie ettt e e 22
Chapter 6. [ ToT o L\ T oY o<1 0 1= ) PSRRI 23
Introduction

The purpose of this document is to report on the results of the Director General’s (DG) Strategic
Objectives for 2022. Reporting is against strategic objectives and overarching indicators approved by
Council in June 2022, see Council document No B6/2. Given the timing of approval of the strategic
objectives and the resulting reporting, some of the results captured in this report are from Q1 2023.

The structure and coverage of the strategic objectives is prescribed in the [IUCN Council Handbook

Article §62; and reporting is based on and/or complementary to:

IUCN 2022 Workplan, approved by Council at its 107" meeting;

One Programme Charter;

Congress outcomes, IUCN External Reviews and discussions with Council;
Secretariat’s report on resolutions (delivered end of 2022);

IUCN 2022 Annual report, submitted to Council for feedback on 7 March 2023; and
DG update to Council meeting 107 and 108; amongst other.

Overarching performance indicators

Financial result at end of 2022 to be in line with the IUCN Financial Plan
a. Size of core funding increased: % increase

b. Size of reserves in line with IUCN Financial Plan: % increase

The IUCN Financial Plan foresaw a surplus of CHF 0.5m. The actual result for 2022 was a surplus of CHF

1.0m. An operating surplus of CHF 4.1m was realised, however other expenditure items significantly
impacted the final result. Specifically, there were unrealised losses on the IUCN investment portfolio
of CHF 1.7m, a 10% decline, driven by falls in global financial markets, and foreign exchange losses of
CHF 1.3m as a result of the consolidation and translation of regional balance sheets to Swiss francs,
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reflecting an appreciation of the Swiss franc against nearly all major and local currencies with the
exception of the US dollar.

Membership dues (invoiced amount — before provisions) increased from CHF 12.6m to CHF 13.5m (7%
increase). Framework income increased from CHF 13.6m to CHF 15.2m (11% increase).

The level of reserves (unrestricted and designated) at the end of 2022 was CHF 23m compared to a
Financial Plan level of CHF 20m.

2. Membership increase: number of new Members (reported on by category)

64 new Members of which 1 State, 5 government agencies, 4 subnational governments, 48 national
NGOs, 2 international NGOs, 2 indigenous people’s organisations, and 2 affiliate.

3. Membership engagement: % of Members involved in Programme delivery

The 2022 value of the portfolio ran by the Secretariat is at 147.9 MCHF spread across 465 projects.
46% of these are implemented with Members.

To understand the overall contribution to Programme delivery by Members, please refer to the IUCN
Contributions for Nature Platform.

4. Strategic partnership: number of novel partnerships (including but not limited to: private
sector, donors, multilateral organisations, etc)

In 2022, IUCN signed 138 news contracts for a total value of CHF164 million. Bilateral engagements
represented over 60% of income, with the largest new partnerships signed with Australia, France,
Germany, Luxemburg, Norway, Saudi Arabia, Switzerland, Sweden, Norway. This included an
innovative partnership with SIDA to implement the “Advancing towards effective conservation and
territorial management with a rights-based approach” programme in Central and South America.

Two new large partnerships were signed with philanthropic foundations. The first will support the
implementation of the Green List Programme until 2030, with the objective of implementing the new
Global Biodiversity Framework Targets and the 30x30 ambitions to secure biodiversity and climate
benefits. The second grant support by an IUCN Patron of Nature, will support the Sport for Nature
initiative co-created by IUCN, the International Olympic Committee and UNEP, in collaboration with
the CBD Secretariat. This initiative aims to deliver transformative action for nature across sports, by
2030 and beyond. It will bring together sports federations, leagues, clubs and events to protect and
avoid damage to important species and habitats, restore key ecosystems, create sustainable supply
chains, and educate and inspire the wider sporting community to take action for nature.

New partnerships included the launch of a major new, track I, initiative on NbS (ENACT, Enabling
Nature-based solutions for an Accelerated Climate Transformation), co-chaired by the governments
of Egypt and Germany, aligned with the UNFCCC and the high-level champions agendas, with several
IUCN State Members committing to the partnership.
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IUCN signed a new 3-year partnership with KfW, paving the way for new areas of work with Germany
on issues such as private sector and finance and human rights in conservation — as well as the
implementation of the Global Biodiversity Framework.

Building on the existing engagement with the Royal Commission for AlUla at local leve;, a new
institutional partnership was developed with the aim to collaborate in the areas of Nature and
Wildlife, Tourism and Heritage, Arts and Culture, events and publications, both in Saudi Arabia as well
as globally.

A new agreement was signed with the European Commission for EUR 32 million — which will provide
funding to 200+ environmental projects in the EU’s Outermost Regions and Overseas Countries

and Territories by a consortium led by IUCN, the French Office for Biodiversity, the IUCN

National Committee of The Netherlands, and the IUCN French National Committee. An excellent
example of the One Programme Approach.

17 new agreements were signed with the private sector.

For more information, kindly refer to the 2022 IUCN Annual Report.

5. Size of portfolio: % increase

The current size of the portfolio (B & C lists at the end of Q1 2023) is the following:

Project type Value (CHF) Percentage of increase from last year
(end of Q1 2022)

Executing role 832 594 954 Increased by 8%

Implementing role 283 446 067 Increased by 24%

Service level agreement 18 287 137 Increased by 28%

Grand total 1134328 158 Increased by 12%

6. People management: staff fluctuation/ retention

The Secretariat’s turnover rates are within the norms of the not for profit sector. Across all sectors in
2020 the voluntary turnover decreased and the involuntary turnover increased, as many employers
laid off part of their staff due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The latter did not happen at IUCN Secretariat.
After the pandemic, the voluntary turnover increased sharply across all industries at IUCN, the
increase is slower than the average.

Annual Turnover Rates
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7. Policy influence (note: indicators are under development and will be operational in 2023)

The policy influence work of the Secretariat is delivered through two main mechanisms:
1) Programmatic policy influencing in two contexts (aka “non-portfolio”): i) International policy
influence (multilateral agreements), and ii) Regional policy influence.
2) Project portfolio contributions to policy influencing through projects

IUCN’s policy influencing work at the international and regional level is substantive. Guided by IUCN’s
general policy as stated in the adopted Resolutions and Recommendations, at the international level,
IUCN actively engages in numerous policy processes, provides technical and scientific inputs as well
as targeted recommendations to influence decisions, engages with IUCN Members, Parties to
different Conventions and partners to exchange on and align positions, among others. IUCN prioritises
international policy processes where the Union has a clear mandate — from Resolutions, a recognized
advisory role and track record (e.g. the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Global Biodiversity
Framework, CITES and the World Heritage Convention), where IUCN has a clear comparative
advantage (e.g. the United Nations High-Level Political Forum, the United Nations General Assembly
and other UN processes capitalising on the IUCN Observer Status and authoritative knowledge
products), where there is a clear convergence with the implementation of the IUCN Programme (e.g.
engagement in the High Seas treaty negotiations) and through which new areas of work are identified
(e.g. negotiations of the new Plastic Pollution Treaty).

A number of products and tools support IUCN’s policy influencing work. These include: position
papers which are focused on the agenda of the respective prioritized meetings or processes and which
provide concrete policy recommendations, briefs (technical or policy), Statements by the Director
General, Open letters (including to IUCN Members ahead of key events), interventions from the floor,
articles and blogs, media briefs, among others. Webinars, capacity building and training activities as
well as side events also complement IUCN policy influencing work.

In 2022 and until the end of Q1 2023 IUCN:

- Sent delegations to 34 international policy meetings

- Developed and released 12 position papers

- Issued 62 policy documents (including information briefs, policy briefs, papers)
- Made and released 50 statements or interventions from the floor

- Published 28 articles or blogs

- Hosted, co-organised or participated in 263 side events

IUCN also participates in a number of regional (and national) policy processes. These include
engagement with Regional policy bodies (e.g. African Union, European Parliament and Commission)
or processes (e.g. African Ministerial Conference on the Environment, the Regional Forums on
Sustainable Development). In general, policy influencing activities at the regional level have a direct
correlation with IUCN’s projects which include policy components.

IUCN Members appreciate IUCN’s policy influencing work and engage with IUCN Secretariat and
Commissions in international and regional policy forums. In an effort to increase interactions across
the Union around policy positions and objectives, the IUCN Secretariat has organised webinars and
briefings ahead of key policy meetings to socialize and amplify IUCN’s positions, participated in and
contributed to similar activities hosted by Commissions, Regional and National Committees and
partners, regularly included and shared information about IUCN’s policy priorities and engagements
across the Union using the IUCN Digest and dedicated webpages in the IUCN website, circulation of
newsletters, factsheets and reports, among others. All these created spaces for active engagement
across IUCN constituencies to enhance our policy influencing and advocacy work.
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It is worth emphasizing that the Member adopted Resolution and Recommendations provide IUCN
with general policy guidance and are the basis for IUCN’s policy influencing work. Many IUCN
Members refer to this body of policy to further guide and advance conservation action. Resolutions
also bring together IUCN’s constituencies around their implementation.

The project portfolio is a great tool to support the crystallisation of the IUCN footprint across the world
(currently delivering in 166 countries). Through its portfolio, IUCN:

- generates, compiles and/ or provides science and knowledge solutions based on locally-driven
identification of conservation and development problems;

- disseminates this knowledge through engagement with policy stakeholders and policy makers
to increase awareness, capacity, and will that leads to improved policy for biodiversity
conservation and equitable sustainable natural resource management;

- supports governments and actors across other sectors to implement these policies by
providing technical assistance, globally-recognized monitoring and reporting standards,
capacity development, and direct financing; among others.

This work leads to positive outcomes and impacts for people, land, water, ocean, and climate.

To measure our results performance IUCN must start monitoring and reporting on standard result
indicators linked to policy and beyond. In 2022, a results architecture comprised of reference
outcomes, reference products and services, an indicator catalogue have been designed with the
overall purpose to be integrated into the project portal. This will enable IUCN to globally plan and
monitor in a consistent manner across its portfolio and enable analytical reporting and accounting —
including the policy work delivered through the portfolio.

How will this work...

At the institutional level, IUCN’s policy work is based on the mandate provided by IUCN
Resolutions and Recommendations and on using IUCN’s globally accepted knowledge and
science products to inform agenda setting, policy development, policy implementation, and
policy monitoring and reporting. Each of these four stages of the policy cycle have key
milestones.

IUCN projects will link each of their outcome-level results to one of the Reference Results:
knowledge, policy or action.

Each policy outcome will use the standard policy indicator to identify the baseline and target
milestones on the policy cycle, and report on progress towards the target in terms of milestones
passed.

Each policy outcome will also select and report on the supporting products and services.

This will allow IUCN to show the policy contributions of the portfolio, mapped to the policy cycle,
and will allow standardised monitoring of the milestones being influenced. It will also show
which outputs are being used to delivered the policy outcomes, and, at a later date when
budgets are based on outputs, will enable quantified level of effort per outcome.
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Report on results against strategic objectives approved by Council

Chapter 1. Strategic Leadership in Conservation

IUCN’s influence on global policy stage is strengthened.

1.1 Influence the development of an ambitious Post-2020 Global Biodiversity
Framework (GBF) and
1.5. Strengthen IUCN’s leadership in advancing the Post 2020 GBF through strategic

partnerships
IUCN’s objectives for the UN Biodiversity Conference were three-fold: i) strategically influence the
negotiations towards the adoption of a strong Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework; ii) position
IUCN as key player in the implementation of the Framework once adopted; and iii) increase IUCN’s
influence, visibility and impact promoting and advancing IUCN’s policy, and its Programme — Nature
2030.

To achieve these objectives, IUCN’s One Programme delegation — strong of 95 delegates on-site and
virtual, followed the negotiations, organised and participated in over 50 side-events, and major
associated parallel events such as the High-Level Segment. IUCN’s interventions and advocacy were
guided by its 3 position papers developed in close collaboration with IUCN Commissions and Council’s
Programme and Policy Committee (PPC), on: 1) the post-2020 global biodiversity framework; 2)
support mechanisms for the implementation of the framework; and 2) other technical issues that were
also under negotiation.

IUCN’s closing statement provides some thoughts on the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity
Framework (KM GBF). As a provider of biodiversity knowledge, tools and standards that help
conservation planning, IUCN can meaningfully contribute to the implementation of the new
framework, and this was recognised in a number of COP decisions, including on the monitoring
framework, invasive alien species, nature and culture, capacity-development. Further, while not
explicitly mentioning IUCN, some COP decisions provide opportunities for IUCN to meaningfully
contribute to the implementation of the KM GBF, while also implementing the Nature 2030
Programme. Some of these are further identified in the detailed delegation report shared with
Commission Chairs and PPC (IUCN meeting report: UN Biodiversity Conference 2022).

IUCN’s participation at the UN Biodiversity Conference 2022 was substantive with IUCN delegates
actively taking part in nearly all the activities and strands of the Conference. Some highlights include:

¢ |UCN made interventions from the floor/statements during COP stock-taking plenaries (10
and 17 December).

¢ |UCN co-organised the Nature and Culture Summit with CBD Secretariat, UNESCO, IIFB and
other partners, with a rich high-level programme, and with very strong participation from
Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities. (11-12 December)

e |UCN was featured in more than 3,000 media articles that referenced COP15 in December
2022. Including 2 live TV interviews to Al Jazeera on the importance of COP15 and the status
of negotiations (8 and 11 December).

e The High-Level Segment, where the Director General made an IUCN statement to UN
Biodiversity Conference 2022 (15 December)

e |UCN ran an exhibit booth from 7 to 19 December. The booth helped increase IUCN visibility
at COP15 and provided a convenient meeting place for Union meetings. It delivered
significant opportunities to inform and mobilise IUCN Members.

e |UCN was a major partner in the Nature-Positive Pavilion, where we hosted 22 events.
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In the run up to CBD COP15, the Secretariat organised five webinars with the aim to support and
mobilise Members, and one webinar after the COP on the outcomes. To reach Members in all time
zones, each webinar was held twice (AM and PM sessions).

Date Title Turnout
4 October 2022 | IUCN Webinar series: How to achieve Species Goals AM: 95
and Targets of the Post-2020 Global Biodiverstiy PM: 112
Framework.
20 October IUCN Webinar series: Nature-based Solutions in the AM: 119
2022 Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework PM: 147
27 October IUCN Webinar series: Resource mobilization for the AM: 88
2022 Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework PM: 100
1 November IUCN Webinar series: Ecosystem Restoration in the AM: 83
2022 Post 2020-Global Biodiversity Framework PM: 116
7 November IUCN Webinar series: 30 x 30 - What and who counts? AM: 95
2022 PM: 177
20 and 28 COP15 is over, now what? Translating the Kunming- AM: 113
February 2023 Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework PM: 103

IUCN also held Nature-based Solutions regional webinars in 10 IUCN Regions. The webinars were
attended by over 225 participants from 55 countries, including CBD, UNFCCC and UNCCD
negotiators.

In addition, the Director General had more than 31 meetings at the CBD COP15 in Montreal during
the negotiations, whereby 10 were at Ministerial level. Members and government representatives
sought advice on various issues; these bilateral meetings proved to be imperative in the final hours
prior to adoption of the KM GBF.

IUCN Member feedback:

“I would like to commend you [Bruno] on preparing IUCN members for a more unified approach
going into COP15. The work in Montréal and Kunming, and the ensuing Global Biodiversity

Framework, will play a big role in our conservation efforts moving forward.”
- Ron Hallman, President & CEO - Parks Canada Agency

1.2 Lead the development of strategic and focused messaging for key Conventions (for
example, CBD, UNFCCC, UNCCD) in line with the adopted IUCN Resolutions

The Secretariat led the coordination and development of strategic and focused messaging for key
Conventions’ conferences of the Parties and meetings throughout 2022, such as CBD COP 15, UNFCCC
COP 27 and CITES COP 19. IUCN’s engagement was guided by adopted IUCN Resolutions. In 2022,
following consultations with IUCN Commission Chairs, IUCN Council (in particular the Policy and
Programme Committee at its 6™ meeting) and staff, an updated set of IUCN Procedures for Engaging
in International Policy Meetings were approved and released. The document is primarily addressed to
the IUCN Secretariat but expands to cover roles and responsibilities of the wider IUCN policy system,
providing guidance to IUCN delegations at international policy meetings. The policy procedures also
offer relevant information on IUCN delegations, side events, communications and delegation reports,
and different types of policy documents.
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Guided by IUCN programmatic priorities, at the beginning of each year, the International Policy Centre
(IPC) identifies the priority global policy events and processes relevant to IUCN, and shares the policy
calendar with Council and Secretariat staff to help facilitate a unified and coordinated Union voice.
The policy calendar is updated on an ongoing basis and revised versions are shared with IUCN
Secretariat, Commissions and Council through the Programme and Policy Committee.

IUCN Position Papers are a result of a consultation with all relevant stakeholders across the Union
(Commissions, Council and staff) and are guided by the mandate provided by Members through the
IUCN Resolutions. They are timed to be released and widely disseminated at least 1 month in advance
of the start of the respective meeting. Sometimes, consultation processes are less extensive in order
to favour a timely outcome. In accordance with Council feedback during its 108" meeting, it is
important that Position papers are prepared and socialised across the Union as early as possible.

1.3 Raise the Union’s influence and visibility in high-seas and ocean conservation,
including Biodiversity Beyond National Jurisdictions (BBNJ) and sustainable
fisheries, costal and large marine ecosystems in line with relevant adopted IUCN
Resolutions.

In 2022, the Secretariat invested in strengthening IUCN’s Ocean work within the framework of the
Nature 2030 Programme IUCN Ocean Ambition, and in accordance with IUCN Resolution WCC 2020
Res 128 regarding marine biological diversity in the Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction (ABNJ). This
effort is aligned with Target 3 of the recently adopted Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity
Framework. IUCN is now well positioned to play a significant role in ensuring rapid entry into force,
and effective and equitable implementation of the BBNJ Agreement for the protection of high seas
biodiversity, as well as to acquire the funds made available by the GEF and EU for ratification and early
implementation.

NOTE: The following result is from 2023 due to timing of international processes beyond IUCN’s control
Common ground on the text of the High Seas Treaty was reached in New York, USA on 4 March 2023.
IUCN’s primary focus was to support and influence negotiators to conclude an ambitious treaty for
adoption in support of WCC 2020 Res 128 Acting for the conservation and sustainable use of marine
biological diversity in the ocean beyond national jurisdiction. IUCN developed a series of materials
that were made accessible on a dedicated resource webpage frequently updated. This historical
achievement (although pending formal adoption) is the result of two decades of work. IUCN
Secretariat, Members and Commission Members have been advocating for such an agreement since
the outset and have continuously been providing scientific and legal advice to negotiators. Initially,
this focused on provisions concerning area-based management tools (ABMTs), especially marine
protected areas. By expanding the delegation, we were able to cover the full package, including
environmental impact assessments, access and benefit sharing of marine genetic resources, capacity
building and transfer of marine technology, as well as cross cutting issues from guiding principles and
approaches to institutional and financial mechanisms.

IUCN Ocean Team worked with the International Policy Centre and Commissions members (WCPA,
WCEL, CEM) and the Oceania office to influence the BBNJ negotiations to ensure that appropriate
institutional and legal mechanisms to establish area-based management tools (ABMTs) including
MPAs are in place, as well as to deliver strong intervention for the moratorium of deep seabed mining
and robust regulatory framework during the Council Meeting of the ISA to protect the seabed of the
high seas.
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IUCN also issued a timely statement on the High Seas Treaty, available here.

Council Member feedback:

“Thanks, Sonia, for this report, and more importantly, for IUCN's engagement (at this

meeting, over the last decade, and before that) on the issue of biodiversity in marine areas
beyond national jurisdiction (ABNJ), in particularly issues around establishment of MPAs in
ABNJ. | recall well the debate and adoption of Resolution 074 at the Jeju Congress in 2012 (and

all those after it on the issue). It's IUCN (Members, Commissions, Secretariat) at its best. Now
onward to ratification and entry into force of the BBNJ agreement. “

- Susan Lieberman, Vice President, International Policy, WCS; IUCN Regional Councillor,
North America & the Caribbean; Chair of PPC

Supported by a strategic communication strategy, IUCN worked intensively to promote High Seas
and BBNJ being brought to close, including in UNOC closing statement, IUCN Multimedia story "high
time for the high seas" developed and disseminated, short films and animations, Press briefings at
the UN HQ, general statement delivered at the 26 and 28" Council Meeting of the ISA, and social
media campaign to raise awareness amongst other efforts. IUCN received significant media
coverage following agreement on the treaty text at the resumed IGC5 early March 2023, with [UCN
highly visible in the news with nearly 1000 news items with IUCN mentioned.

Implementation of Resolution 107: Reducing the impact of fisheries on marine
biodiversity

The main actions required by the Resolution, incl. the establishment of a Task Force to
reconcile fisheries and conservation, the scientific and technical situation analysis on the
effects of fisheries on biodiversity, involving a Consultative Workshop and a 2™ Consultative
Workshop to consider the analysis and propose policy to IUCN and implementing parties,
have not been implemented yet. IUCN members, Coalition Clean Baltic (CCB), Antarctic and
Southern Ocean Coalition (ASOC) and Commission on Ecosystem Management (CEM) have
made progresses on the implementation.

The Secretariat presented the latest updates to the Programme and Policy Committee (PPC)
on the implementation of the Res 107 and intends to support implementation by
establishing a working group with representatives from 3 IUCN Commissions (CEM, SSC,
WCPA) and Secretariat to discuss next steps.

Earlier in 2022, IUCN, led by the DG, took part in the UN Ocean Conference in Lisbon, May 2022.
Position paper available on our website, and reflections captured in an IUCN closing statement,
available here. Highlights included:
e MoU signature between IUCN and Blue Forest Company with a focus on instigating the NEW
BLUE CARBON PARTNERSHIP, part of THE GREAT BLUE WALL initiative
e Deep Sea mining- Support for a pause on deep sea mining (WCC 2020 Resolution 122) received
a huge political boost with the launch of the Alliance of Countries for a Deep Sea Mining
Moratorium in a DSCC side event on Monday 27 June, echoed by the launch at UNOC of a
Global Parliamentarians Declaration Calling for a Moratorium on Deep-sea Mining on March
28, youth marches, other side events, and culminating in a statement by President Macron
saying that a legal framework was needed to stop deep-sea mining from going ahead and
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urging countries to put their money on science to better understand and protect the world's
oceans.

e |UCN Blue Carbon Accelerator fund winners announced- The Australian new Minister for
Environment, Tanja Plibersek, announced the 4 first winners of the Australia funded, and IUCN
executed, Blue Carbon Accelerator Fund (BCAF).

At the conference, the DG had bilateral meetings with UN Under Secretary-General of the Department
of Economic and Social Affairs, UAE Cabinet Minister for Environment, Australian Minister of
Environment, Dutch Minister of Infrastructure and Water Management, French Polynesian Minister
of Environment, Special Envoy of the Government of China, UK's High-Level Climate Action Champion
etc., enhancing IUCN’s strategic cooperation and collaboration with different stakeholders.

Other relevant engagements in this space included the continuously strengthened collaboration with
the World Trade Organisation (WTO). Building on the DG-led IUCN Council and WTO Senior Leadership
Knowledge Exchange on plastic pollution, fisheries and agriculture in May 2022, the Secretariat has
been working with the WTO to define the concrete areas of collaboration in 2023 and beyond. One of
those areas is in fisheries, where IUCN could support the ratification of the WTO Agreement on
Fisheries Subsidies adopted at its 12™ Ministerial Conference | l !

(MC12, 2022), whilst building understanding on how the ’ L
Agreement fits within the wider framework of the High Seas | '

Treaty.

Additionally, in early 2023, in implementing Congress Resolution
122, the Director General started a campaign to uphold the IUCN
Member-adopted moratorium on deep seabed mining. The
campaign included:
e Issuing an open letter to the Members of the
International Seabed Authority (ISA)
e Tailored DG letters to all IUCN State Members. To date,
we have received positive response and feedback from: ) }
Kuwait, Switzerland, Australia and Denmark. WTO Director General meets [IUCN DG

1.4 Contribution to the development of metrics for the value of nature and impact on
nature (i.e. defining ‘nature positive’)

In 2022, the DG deepened engagement with the “Global Goal for Nature CEO group”, a network of
leaders from global nature conservation organisations coordinated by IUCN Member WWF, with the
aim of setting a joint 2030 mission that all could sign up to. This mission evolved from an “apex target”
to “nature-positive” in 2021. As a result, in 2022, the Secretariat, led by the Centre for Science and
Data, developed an IUCN contribution to the concept of “Nature-Positive” that would allow
stakeholders to measure and track contributions towards protecting and restoring living nature. The
intended end users are from all sectors — from private sector, through governments, to civil society.
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A working paper on Nature-Positive was shared
with the registered participants of the IUCN Leaders
Forum in Jeju, co-hosted by IUCN Member Republic
of Korea. The Forum drew 400 leaders from

NATURE government, civil society, Indigenous people’s
organisations, business and finance for in-person
pOSITIVE discussions on the draft methodology, among other

nature-positive issues.

Following the Leaders Forum, efforts turned
towards ensuring nature-positive played a central
role at the CBD COP15 in Montreal (see logo of

IUCN co-hosted “Nature Positive Pavilion” on left). Furthermore, IUCN continued to reach out to its
Members and stakeholders to further refine its metric-based contribution to measuring progress
towards Nature-Positive based on feedback obtained during various events and dialogue. This will
culminate in a Union-wide consultation in 2023.

Outputs:

PN A WDNRE

10.

PwnNE

o

8.
9.
10.

(i) Succinct position papers with clear and focused key messages, developed in
consultation with Commissions, Members and Council in accordance with IUCN
procedures.

IUCN Position Paper for resumed CBD SBSTTA24-SBI3-OEWGS3 - resource | IUCN
IUCN Position Paper for OEWG-4 - resource | IUCN

IUCN Position Paper for UNCCD COP15 - resource | IUCN

IUCN Position Paper for UN Ocean Conference 2022

IUCN Position Paper for CITES COP19

IUCN Position Paper for UNFCCC COP27

IUCN Position Paper for INC-1 Plastic Pollution Treaty

IUCN Position Paper on the Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework OEWG-5 and CBD
COP15

IUCN Position Paper for CBD COP15 on technical issues

IUCN Position Paper for CBD COP15 on support mechanisms

(ii) Strategic and active participation in key international fora.
UNEAS5.2 /UNEP@50: IUCN Director General’s open letter to Members ahead of UNEAS.2
IUCN statement on UNCCD COP15 and International Day for Biological Diversity
WEF Annual meeting
Stockholm+50: IUCN Director General's Statement on Stockholm+50 and World Environment
Day
UN Ocean Conference
UN High Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development; UN Web TV video recording of
DG’s general statement (03:00:00)
UN General Assembly High-level Week; UN Web TV video recording of President’s
intervention at IUCN co-sponsored event “Countdown to COP15: Landmark Leaders’ Event
for a Nature-Positive World” (01:00:00)
IUCN statement to UN Climate Change Conference 2022
IUCN Director General’s open letter to Members ahead of UN CBD COP 15
IUCN statement to UN Biodiversity Conference 2022
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In 2023:
11. IUCN Director General’s statement on World Wildlife Day
12. IUCN Director General’s open letter to ISA Members on deep-sea mining

(iii) Structured engagement with Members to socialise IUCN position in advance,
particularly State Members.
Please refer to the overarching report on results above, under objectives 1.1 Influence the
development of an ambitious Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework (GBF) and 1.5. Strengthen
IUCN’s leadership in advancing the Post 2020 GBF through strategic partnerships

(iv) IUCN White paper on defining nature positive
1. Towards an IUCN nature-positive approach: a working paper (Summary)
2. Towards an IUCN nature-positive approach: a working paper (3.10.22: Full Draft linked)

IUCN Nature Positive
Working Paper_Clear

(v) Strengthened current and established novel partnerships with private sector and
multilateral and/or intergovernmental organisations, e.g. World Trade
organisation (WTO)

Building on the IUCN Council and WTO Senior Leadership Knowledge Exchange on the back of the
107 Council meeting in May 2022, WTO Director-General Ngozi Okonjo-lweala and IUCN DG agreed
to set in motion a roadmap for cooperation between IUCN and WTO in March 2023. The areas of
collaboration are plastics and pollution, agriculture and fisheries.

Under the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) signed between IUCN and the International
Labour organisation (ILO), a report was jointly published by IUCN-ILO-UNEP on Decent Work in
Nature-based Solutions which was presented at COP27.

IUCN and the International Federation of the Red Cross (IFRC) and Red Crescent Societies signed a 5-
year MoU to engage in substantial cooperation activities related to NbS in humanitarian contexts at
global, regional and national level.

For more information, please refer to the previous section and results captured under Indicator 4:
Strategic Partnerships.
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Chapter 2. Fundraising and Financial Management

In line with the Resource Mobilisation Strategy deployed in 2021 and the Financial Plan 2021-2024
approved by Congress —

Strengthen engagement with Framework partners and private sector, and commence the
implementation of the new Overhead Policy to enable consistent and equitable treatment of costs
across IUCN.

Outputs:

(i) All existing framework partners retained and at least one new framework partner

recruited.

All existing framework partners were retained in 2022, and IUCN signed renewed multi-year
framework agreements with France, Sweden and Switzerland. Following a meeting between the DG
and the Minister of Environment of Luxembourg, a new framework partnership was secured — with
the government of Luxembourg who are particularly interested in IUCN’s work in Finance for Nature.
Two Framework Partners meeting were held and the Director General held a number of high-level
bilateral meetings with Framework Partners in capitals and at key international events throughout the
year. For more information, please refer to the Framework Partners section in the [IUCN 2022 Annual
report.

As a follow up to the Framework Partners request for an Observer seat on the IUCN Council, the
Director General facilitated a regular dialogue between the Framework Partners and the IUCN
President as part of a new regular debrief following Council meeting.

(ii) Private sector engagement approach

2022 provided several opportunities for IUCN to continue to improve and expand its engagement with
the private sector. Several new business engagement projects were secured, including projects
focused on: (a) developing use cases for renewable energy investments that support nature goals; (b)
private sector sponsorship of species conservation actions and wetland conservation; (c) biodiversity
assessments and biodiversity management plan development in landscapes selected for large-scale
infrastructure projects; and (d) development of regenerative agriculture solutions in food supply
chains. 2022 also saw the renewal of several pre-existing business engagement projects, many of them
building on previous collaborations between IUCN and specific businesses.

In 2023, the Secretariat has continued to refine its private sector engagement approach, building on
the business engagement strategy approved by the Executive Board in June 2022. Recently-completed
analyses of more than 300 business engagements pursued by IUCN from 2018 — 2023 indicated that
the Secretariat could benefit from prioritising specific industries where it can deliver the most impact
and obtain strong alignment to IUCN’s priorities. 26 industries are currently being assessed, from
which a smaller number will be selected as the focus industries for future business engagement.
Additionally, an assessment of IUCN’s products, offerings, and partnership structures with the private
sector is underway, and this will inform how IUCN works with the targeted industries to advance the
Union’s goals.

(iii) Socialisation of Overhead Policy with donors
In 2021, IUCN developed and issued its first Overhead Policy. This was one of the actions taken by the
DG to help improve IUCN’s financial situation, following a series of deficits prior to 2021.
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Both direct and indirect cost recovery are core components of an organisation’s financial strategy.
Throughout 2022, efforts were put in place to ensure effective implementation of the Policy to enable
effective indirect cost recovery across the organisation. Various implementation tools were launched
and IUCN is currently in the process of training staff on these tools. The need to increase levels of cost
recovery has been recognised by the Financial consultant retained to advise the Finance and Audit
Committee (FAC), as emphasised in their final report to FAC.

The Overhead Policy has been shared with Framework Partners and other key institutional donors and
progress was made in achieving compliance with the Policy. Nevertheless, some donors impose their
own rates (e.g. EU, GEF, GCF, UN agencies). A two-fold approach to addressing this has been adopted:
1) launch of a project costing framework that supports, amongst other, improved budgeting and
inclusion of corporate costs as direct costs; and 2) discussion with donors at the institutional level led
by the Strategic Partnerships Unit with the support of the DG through high level meetings.
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Chapter 3. Operational, Change Management

Work towards integrating the various parts of the Secretariat to enable effective delivery of the
Programme and required service to Members, whilst ensuring that risks are managed and
corporate data is kept up to date.

Outputs:
(i) Better integrated corporate functions (Secretariat wide) of HR, IT, Finance, and
PPME
Building strong, efficient and integrated IUCN corporate functions worldwide is important for the
effective delivery of IUCN programme and services. In order to achieve this overarching goal, in 2022,
the following was delivered:

e Systematic and coordinated approach with HQ, Regions and Centres on HR, IT, Finance and
PPME were developed or improved. These include regular meetings of community of practise
and knowledge sharing, clear matrix reporting lines, standardised job descriptions, as well as
clear roles and responsibilities, and harmonised procedures and guidelines.

e Management dashboard was developed on Membership, People, Finance, Portfolio, and
Partnership to promote integrated and data driven management (see more on this under
Section 6. People Management, output (iv).

e Service level objectives were set for each corporate function to facilitate more efficient and
coordinated day to day service provision. These objectives are transparently shared with all
staff to enable stronger accountability across the global Secretariat.

e As smart and automated data is key for efficient and integrated corporate management, a
data governance project has been initiated.

e In order to establish harmonised and fit-for-purpose business practises and corporate
services, IUCN typology of projects were defined with clear models, skills needed and
requirements (see more in 2023 Workplan, as approved by Council at its 108 Part Il meeting).

(ii) Streamlined and improved corporate policies, procedures and guidelines (PPG);

One of the overarching objectives of the DG since his appointment has been to streamline and
improve the Secretariat’s operational framework. Prior to stepping in, the Secretariat had more than
200 corporate policies, procedures and guidelines, which were developed in an uncoordinated
manner, with multiple duplications and therefore ineffective implementation and lack of clarity
amongst staff; in addition, the terms policy, procedure and guidelines were used differently and
interchangeably at times, causing further confusion. Documents were also disbursed across regional
and country offices of the Secretariat, with no coherent structure or single repository.

In 2022, a process of streamlining PPGs commenced, culminating in the development of:

e A PPGs framework, which defined and clarifies what documents should be a policy, a
procedure and a guideline;

e Adigital user-friendly repository, which contains all PPGs in an organised manner;

e Identification of owners for each PPG, in charge of improving and streamlining the respective
corporate document, to ensure they are fit-for-purpose.

e A PPG Coordinator, part of the Director General’s Office, was assigned the responsibility to
oversee the implementation of the Framework and ensure the register is up to date.

e Identification of any gaps (e.g. Whistleblower Policy, which is currently under development by
the Oversight Unit).
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(iii) PPG framework and register developed, monitored and updated on biannual basis
The PPG Framework was delivered in 2022 as planned. It was developed in consultation with
colleagues across IUCN regional offices. For more information, please see results against item (ii)
above.

(iv) Revised Enterprise Risk Management policy and procedures implemented

IUCN continues to strengthen its risk maturity level and to promote a culture of awareness around risk
and internal control across the Secretariat. In 2022, IUCN designed, revised and rolled out its new
Enterprise Risk Management Policy and Risk Appetite Statement. This package includes revised and
improved:

e Risk management roles and responsibilities

e Risk taxonomy

e ERM criteria model for determining likelihood and impact

e Operational guidelines

e Risk Committee terms of reference

The policy implementation is guided by a capacity development framework for the first and second
lines of defence. Overall, 340 project managers and subject matter experts were trained between
November 2022 to January 2023. All regions and centres were covered.

A new project risk register module was designed and is expected to be rolled-out to all new projects
starting 2024 (when the portal 3.0 has been developed). This important step forward will greatly
improve IUCN’s capacity to manage and monitor risks and enable analytical reporting.

(v) Up to date register of all legal arrangements including Host country agreements of
IUCN Offices worldwide.
In March 2022, the Secretariat delivered a first of its kind up to date register of all IUCN legal
arrangements across the globe, including Host country agreements of IUCN regional and country
offices. Similar data-gathering exercises have been attempted in the past, last one being in 2008.
However, this is the first time the data-gathering exercise has been brought to completion.

The register shows that, in summary:

e |UCN has 65 Offices in 54 States worldwide. This includes HQ, a Representative office in New
York, the Cambridge office, the Environmental Law Centre, Regional, Country and Project
offices.

e |UCN enjoys International organisation (10) type privileges and immunities in 43 countries, of
which IUCN is currently not operating in 5.

o 85 % of the IUCN office locations are in State Members’ territory (55 out of 65).

The Secretariat leadership has noted that it is imperative that all risks associated with setting up and
closing offices, including the risks that we currently face for offices with uncertain legal arrangements,
must be registered and tracked. This register is the basis for strategic reflection on IUCN’s global
footprint and responds to Council-related inquiries from the past. The Director General’s office,
together with the office of the Legal Adviser are in charge of maintaining this register up to date.

To further strengthen operations, the Secretariat also developed a Policy for the Establishment of
IUCN Offices Worldwide (March 2022) and Guidelines for Opening and Closure of IUCN Offices and
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(vi) Guidelines on management arrangements for regional hubbing (i.e. more efficient
and streamlined corporate services to regional and country offices)
In 2022, the Secretariat issued Guidelines for Regional Hubbing. These procedures, which are global
in scope, provide guidance on how hubbing arrangements strengthen IUCN’s efficiencies in
corporate service management, programme implementation, quality management, and fiduciary
control. For more information, please refer to the results above, point (i).

The document defines all current IUCN regional service hubs, explaining their general roles, scope of

operations, reporting relationships (including for corporate functions), as well as the rules that apply
in accordance with the IUCN Delegation of Authority policy.
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Chapter 4. Programme Management

Strengthen monitoring and evaluation practices and develop a consistent, systematised way of
tracking progress against targets with the ultimate objective to increase engagement with and
support to Members towards IUCN Programme delivery.

In 2022, continued efforts were made to implement the programme performance, monitoring and
evaluation roadmap to bring IUCN on par with industry standards.

Several Project appraisal and approval system & Programme guidelines and standards were revised
to improve IUCN’s ability to strategically guide the selection, design, and quality of new project
proposals (“the pipeline”):

* Pre-screening criteria (pre-pipeline) (update)

e Proposal quality assurance criteria (update)

¢ Project Monitoring Evaluation and Learning (MEL) elements appraisal requirements

(new)

¢ Project costing framework level of effort tool for MEL costs (new)

¢ Evaluation terms of reference template (update)

¢ Evaluation report quality assurance checklist (new)

Evaluation policy and guidelines the IUCN evaluation policy has been revised to bring to industry
standard. The revised policy is supported by a set of guidelines and templates that will help harmonise
IUCN’s approach to managing quality evaluations. The policy implementation and capacity building to
all programme and project staff is planned for 2023.

In 2021, the Programme Performance, Monitoring and Evaluation Unit (PPME) grew to 4.8 full time
equivalent (three new recruitments: Head of Programme Performance, Monitoring and Evaluation
Unit, Monitoring Evaluation and Learning Coordinator; Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning
Specialist), and in 2022, with support from the Swiss Development Cooperation (a framework
partner), the Unit hired new full time Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Coordinators for four of
its regional offices. The Regional MEL Coordinators who occupy a “second line of defence” role are
leading on upgrading regional portfolio planning and monitoring frameworks, implementing global
MEL upgrades in the regions, and building project level capacity and practices for project MEL.

Training and recruitment needs were also assessed and reviewed to bring in MEL skills and capacities
across the Secretariat. To support this, all portfolio job descriptions with MEL responsibilities have
been revised, namely Project Managers, Project MEL Officers, and Regional and Centre MEL
Coordinators amongst others.

Outputs:
(i) Finalised results-framework with clear standard indicators to account for the work
of the Union
Portfolio results measurement: Progress has been made on the design of IUCN’s theory of change
(specific to IUCN portfolio work) and results architecture to enable results-based management and
analytical reporting on programme areas.

A results management module was designed and is soon to be built in the Project Portal to structure
all project logframes around a focused set of “reference results” and a catalogue of IUCN indicators.
The mapping of project outcomes and outputs to standard IUCN results and indicators will enable the
capability to aggregate achievements across the global portfolio or any subset portfolio within it. The
ability to “see” how each project contributes to the institutional theory of change and IUCN
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Programme targets will enable strategic management and analytical reporting. The solution design is
now complete and will be rolled-out once built in early 2024.

IUCN is therefore on course in the ongoing process of putting capability in place to measure
aggregate results of the next IUCN Programme (2025-28), as already communicated to Council’s
Programme and Policy Committee (PPC) and as agreed with framework partners.

With regard to IUCN’s current capacity to tell a Union-wide story of results and impact against the
2021-2024 programme.

e Members. Our membership is comprised of States, government agencies, and national and
international non-governmental organisations and indigenous peoples’ organisations. For our
members, the accountability mechanisms can take a number of forms, e.g. legal instruments,
policies, mandates, values, legislative provisions, rules and regulations. It could also be in the
form of processes ensuring that the work is being executed according to plans, results
achieved and reported through monitoring and reporting systems, disbursement and
deployment of resources and accounting according to budgets and rules in place, etc. Each
member has its own mechanism in place which may or may not align with IUCN’s Programme
reporting requirements. At the moment, IUCN’s capacity to report back the contribution of
members to the IUCN Programme beyond members’ respective annual reports is therefore
very limited.

In accordance with the IUCN Programme 2021-2024, the vehicle for Members to report on
implementation of the Programme is the Contributions for Nature Platform, launched in 2022.

e National and Regional Committees. In accordance with Regulation 66(d) of the IUCN Statutes,
National and Regional Committees are required to report on their activities on an annual basis.
To date, this has been done in a non-consistent manner, whereby some National Committees
produce their own annual reports; others share their contributions through Secretariat-led
regional annual reports and others, do not report at all due to capacity constraints amongst
other. As a result, in 2022 the DG has been engaging closely with the Chair of the IUCN Global
Group for National and Regional Committee Development to think of effective ways to start
collating this information. A key objective is to give greater visibility to National and Regional
Committees (through IUCN website, Union-wide Annual Report) and support them in fulfilling
their statutory requirements. This effort is also intended to inform this IUCN constituency’s
contributions towards implementation of the IUCN Programme.

e Commissions. IUCN Commissions’ accountability mechanism is channelled through the
annual planning and reporting mechanism in place (Annex 2 of the Council Handbook)
whereby Commissions present an annual workplan and report to Council. This planning and
reporting mechanism are meant to plan and report against the IUCN Programme, including
IUCN’s impact targets. Each Commission has its own mechanism in place. IUCN’s capacity to
report beyond a single Commission is therefore limited. The Secretariat does not have the
authority to impose a specific mechanism onto the Commissions; what the Secretariat can do,
is attempt to align the planning and reporting processes. This alignment process put in place
in 2022 was explained in detail in the 2022 Workplan, approved by Council.

(ii) Contributions for Nature Platform Phase | completed — evaluating potential
contributions to land and climate programme areas of Nature 2030; and prepare
for Phase lll (to be completed in 2023), which will enable reporting against all 5
programme areas

Section 8 of IUCN 2021-2024 Programme Nature 2030 mandates the development of “a digital
platform where all parts of the Union can voluntarily share their committed and realised contributions
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to meeting the Impact Targets as well as commitments against global policy targets such as the post-
2020 global biodiversity framework.” To ensure implementation during times of limited resources and
competing priorities, in 2021, the DG convened a Strategic Initiative on the development of the IUCN
Contributions for Nature platform.

The fully-operational IUCN Contribution for Nature Platform went live across IUCN constituencies in
June 2022, and its Visualisation Module was launched to the public in October 2022 during the IUCN
Leaders Forum. The first phase of development focuses on documentation of potential contributions
to the Programme Areas on Land and Climate. The intent for 2023-2024 is to add reporting for Water
and Ocean, including both STAR for aquatic systems and blue carbon estimation, and likewise for the
People Programme Area.

Following its launch, the next key step for the Contributions for Nature Platform is to complete its roll-
out across the Union, through constituency engagement and validation of contributions. To date,
nearly 10,000 contributions from 130 IUCN Members (e.g., NGOs BirdLife International, TNC and
WWEF, State Members Republic of Korea, Guatemala and Costa Rica amongst other).

Phase Il developments will focus on expanding the reporting on climate change mitigation (e.g. to
include restoration beyond forest ecosystems, and include carbon storage benefits from
conservation), exploring the potential use of the platform by other non-State actors beyond IUCN, and
strengthening the Visualisation Module (e.g. to provide unique URLs for individual reports).

(iii) Membership engagement in regions is strengthened.
To help mobilise the Union and support Members in documenting their contributions to nature on the
Contribution for Nature platform, in 2022, the Secretariat invested in regional membership
engagement. This strengthened engagement took multiple forms. For example, Members were
mobilised on IUCN-led position papers, and included in the socialisation process through global
webinars (see series on CBD COP15) and bilateral engagements with the Director General, along with
Member networking receptions in Montreal (CBD COP15) and Sharm El Sheikh (UNFCCC COP27).
Budgetary allocations to regional offices for membership activities continued and empowered
regional offices to undertake a wide range membership engagement activity at a regional level.

IUCN Webinar Series
The last sprint to COP15
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Ootober 4
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Furthermore, following on from Council Decision C107/10 (May 2022), a digital zone for all IUCN
constituents (Members, Commission members, Secretariat staff) for all IUCN Regions was developed

in 2022 (to be launched in Q2 2023). The aim was to create a space T o n
which had, among many goals, the following: facilitate connections
and build communities of conservation specialists; create, promote : ¥

and attend events all in one place; find or share opportunities, such
as jobs, funding and grant calls, with other IUCN constituents.

In April 2023, this culminated in the launch of the platform IUCN
Engage (see picture at right). This will complement efforts such as
the IUCN Member magazine, which will be issued twice a year and
use high-quality design and excellent writing to present the work of
IUCN to its Members, while also allowing them to present
themselves to the rest of the community.

(iv) Project costing tool developed and deployed
As mentioned earlier in this report, the Project Costing tool aims to set a common approach and
understanding to project proposal budgeting across IUCN. It defines acceptable levels of direct costs
as well as indirect costs and is an important component IUCN’s Project Appraisal and Approval
System (PAAS) and Project Guidelines and Standards (PGS). The tool was developed and launched in
2022; trainings across the Secretariat are to take place in 2023.

(v) 4 new Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning (MEL) coordinators recruited in regions
and M&E community of practice up and running
IUCN now has 5 Regional MEL Coordinators and 14 Project MEL Officers were recruited, thanks to
support from the Swiss Development Agency (SDC) and the implementation of the Project Costing
Framework. The growth of the function is expected to follow and support the portfolio growth. MEL
experts across [IUCN now work as one global team.

Page 21 of 26



9 May 2023

Chapter 5. External Liaisons, Public Image

Work towards strengthening IUCN’s external image — including branding and social media
engagement; and keep Council informed on key issues.

Outputs:
(i) Branding strategy developed

In 2022, the Secretariat began the process of defining required branding policies and procedures to
apply for the IUCN Secretariat. Naturally, due to the organisational model of IUCN, in order for a
branding policy to be effective, it would require the compliance by all IUCN constituents — including
Commission members, [IUCN Members, Councillors and National and Regional Committees.

The Secretariat is in ongoing discussions with the Chair of the Communication and Education
Commission (CEC) on the development, socialisation and Union-wide compliance buy-in of an IUCN
branding policy. Strengthened branding identity was also the overarching aim of the joint
CEC/Secretariat project in 2022 as agreed between the Chair and DG; the project then narrowed down
its scope with a concrete focus on the soon to be launched IUCN Engage platform, which also
contributes to the stronger brand identity of the Union.

In summary, the Secretariat has a draft branding policy ready, which aspires to be a Union-wide policy
in the years to come. In the meantime, the Secretariat has also worked with a brand template
contractor to develop quality designs for enhanced visual identity templates and developed brand
policy guidelines to support implementation.

(i) Curated presence on social media: LinkedIn and Twitter
IUCN’s Corporate social media channels earned a total reach of over 7.8 million for 2022. By adapting
our posts to changing social media algorithms GCU earned a 4% increase reach in Q4 over Q1. This
trend continued into 2023 with a further 12.6% increase in overall reach.

Our increased focus on LinkedIn saw continued growth on the platform with the new follower growth
rate increasing by 74% in 2022 compared to 2021.

(iii) Recurring meetings with IUCN President and regular updates to Council on key
issues
The DG and President have been meeting on a fortnightly basis with the aim to catch up on latest IUCN
developments, both internally and externally. Throughout 2022, the standing agenda included:
external engagements, DG updates on Secretariat, 20-year strategic vision work, Council planning
amongst other topics, as relevant at the time.
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Chapter 6. People Management
Strengthen IUCN’s capacity to prepare future leadership

Outputs:

(i) Fully functioning new performance management system in HR management System
The implementation of IUCN’s new performance development programme was completed in
November 2022. The goals and components of the new programme are:

e comores

1.Align work deliverables 1.Annual performance 1.Automated process in
with organizational goals. assessment and planning IUCN HR Management
2.Enhance accountability in cycle. System.
core management 2.Manager’s scorecard.
functions.

3. Multi-directional
3.Recognise extraordinary feedback.

impact and contributions. .
4.Recognition programme.

4.Enable individual and -
i 5.Annual training cycle.
collective development.
503 staff members and 63 managers were trained on the new programme as well as on core
performance development skills and managerial skills for performance development in October and
November 2022.

(ii) Champion Youth Strategy implementation efforts

Building upon the momentum around increased youth engagement efforts at IUCN in recent years —
notably through IUCN’s first Global Youth Summit in April 2021, youth engagement and
mainstreaming efforts for the IUCN Congress, and the launch of IUCN’s youth strategy — the Global
Convenings and Events Unit developed a young Changemakers programme for the inaugural IUCN
Leaders Forum, held in October 2022 in Jeju Province, Republic of Korea. The aim of the Changemakers
programme was to bring innovative young leaders who are entrepreneurs in their own right and
leaders in the fields of nature conservation, biodiversity, climate change and sustainable development
to the event, to learn, exchange and connect with corporates, heads of organisations and other
leaders on site. Following a Call for Applications, which brought in over 3,500 applications, and a
rigorous selection process, 12 finalists were selected to come to Jeju, fully sponsored by IUCN, to
participate in the event and pitch their projects to corporate, government and civil society leaders on
site. IUCN also fully sponsored an additional two young professionals who were actively engaged in
the IUCN Congress, to participate as speakers in various sessions and panel discussions at the Leaders
Forum.

More than 2400 participants from 53 African countries participated in the inaugural IUCN Africa
Protected and Conserved Areas Congress (APAC) in Kigali, Rwanda from 18-23 July 2022. Prior to the
congress, IUCN partnered with World Leaders of Today (NGO) for a 3-day youth pre-congress for a
coordinated youth engagement for greater youth inclusion in Protected Areas. The pre-congress
brought together 65 Youth from 23 African Countries representing 60 Organisations and Youth
Networks across Africa. The youth have since been meeting for a post APAC youth engagement
strategy. Approximately 500 youth attended APAC.
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(iii) Staff recognition programme developed
IUCN’s first recognition programme was designed in 2022, its implementation is ongoing and will be
completed in December 2023 with the launch of the first IUCN Excellence Awards.

The programme includes three types of awards:
1. The spot awards, awarded by the line and matrix managers twice a year.
2. The IUCN Excellence Awards, awarded once a year by the Executive Board upon nominations
from the regions, the centres, and the corporate services.
3. The Perfectly Awesome Worker or PAW award, awarded by all [IUCN staff through an
election process.

All managers and staff will be trained on the recognition programme in May 2023, and the first spot
awards will be awarded in July 2023.

(iv) Use of Management Dashboard and Managers Scorecard for the annual planning of
2023
In 2022, the Secretariat launched the first of its kind Management Dashboard and an updated, fit-for-
purpose Managers Scorecard linked to the new performance development programme.

Management Dashboard. The Dashboard aims to provide up-to-date quantitative data around 5
areas: people, finance, portfolio, partners and Members. Its intended users are managers across the
global Secretariat. With growing positive feedback from staff across offices, the aim is to extended
access to the platform to all staff (subject to licence costs).

Overview
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Managers Scorecard. The Scorecard contains indicators on a range of topics —including people (overall
average score in the snapshot survey of Unit managers, turnover rate, absences, gender ratio),
financial situation, number of Members involved in portfolio and data stewardship amongst others.
There are also individual Unit-level indicators developed by the respective Unit Head and Chief HR
Officer.
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Both tools are used by the Secretariat leadership as part of the annual planning and reporting cycle.
The cycle follows the continuous improvement model of PLAN — DO — CHECK — ACT and it is structured

around two workshops per year: one in spring, to
take stock of progress against targets; and one in
autumn, to plan and budget for the following year.

Office and Unit workplans are constructed within the
guidance and focus of 2021-2024 Programme,
Resolutions, the Operational Plan and contain the
operational details that illustrate what will be
delivered and to what level of quality. The planning
cycle is done at the office/unit level and allows each
unit to clearly outline the intended outcomes and
outputs. Unit work-plan outcomes clarify the
upcoming areas of focus and desired achievement
within a given work cycle.

(v) Continuous use of these tools by senior management and in performance review

processes

In addition to using these novel tools as part of the annual planning cycle, Managers are also
continuously encouraged to use these tools and data in all staff’s performance review processes. Since
this year, Unit targets have also been captured in Manager’s performance review forms.

For more information, please see section (iv) above.

(vi) Leadership and management training modules developed

In 2022, several training sessions were conducted on various corporate functions, namely
Communications; Information Systems; Human Resources; Legal; Oversight; and Programme
Performance, Monitoring, and Evaluation. The table below illustrates the number of staff trained per

quarter per function.

Function Period Number of staff trained
Communications Q4 5
Global Information Systems Ql 183

Q2 418
Q3 10
Q4 865
Human Resources Q2 21
Q3 21
Q4 566
Office of Legal Advisor Q4 65
Oversight Q4 37
Programme Performance, Q1 130
Monitoring and Evaluation Q2 170
Q3 30
Q4 306
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(vii)Global Town Halls
In 2022, the DG conducted five town halls with staff. In keeping with the goal of strengthening
internal knowledge exchange, each town hall was “hosted” by a different office, whereby that
respective office moderated the entire town hall session, used the opportunity to present their work
to the global Secretariat, and facilitated the presentation of other relevant topics. The year’s town
halls are listed below:

9 May 2023

Month in “Hosting” office Topics covered
2022
January Int’l Policy Centre (IPC) Presenting IPC
Presenting the Convenings Unit
April Centre for Mediterranean Presenting IUCN-Med
Cooperation (IJUCN-Med) HR priorities for 2022
July Oceania Regional Office Presenting ORO
(ORO) Explaining the new IUCN website
October Centre for Science Presenting the Sci & Data Centre
and Data Presenting nature-positive approach
December | DG Policy reflections to end off 2022

COP (CBD, UNFCCC, CITIES, Ramsar) outcomes
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Chapter 1. Union Work




JUSN  Highlights

.

Members

11 new Members in 2023 to date (all NGO)
10 x DG messages in IUCN Digest from Jan-May 2023

Since Jan 2023, DG held in person meetings with Member
organisations during all overseas missions (e.g. IMPACS in

Canada, India-Bangladesh-Nepal-Thailand, UN Water
Conference in USA, G7 in Japan)
IUCN Engage launch preparations

— Online community platform for all IUCN constituents.

— Connect with conservation specialists, host/join virtual

meetings, promote conferences and events, share knowledge,

participate in discussion, collaborate, communicate, and
create added value for all

Issued annual Member satisfaction survey in March

— 262 total respondents (not all answered every question)

— 83% of respondents satisfied with Membership

— 91% of respondents would recommend IUCN Membership
New Member benefits brochure and infographic created;
FR and ES translations underway

Worked with National, Regional and Interregional

Committees to finalise content for update NCRC Directory.

Released in April

Overall, how satisfied are you with your IUCN
membership?
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JUSN  Highlights — support to Commissions

* From January to end-April 2023, the Commission membership
has increased by 833 new members:

— CEM-93

— SSC - 346

— WCPA-125

— WCEL- 115

— CEESP -93

— CEC-61
Began setting up the Commission membership system for
applications form and approval of the members to the new
Climate Crisis Commission.
Collaborated with CEC to develop a new video to recruit new
Commission members.
Rolled out a new onboarding guide for new Commission Chairs,
Deputy Chairs and Executive Officers.
High-level Secretariat participation in Commission Steering
Committee meetings (from Jan-May)

— March: CEC

— March: CEM

— April: SSC

— May (immediately post-Council): CEESP



\IUEN IUCN Convenings

« IMPACS5 (3-9 Feb) « Science Colloquium (29-31 Mar)

— 3,900 participants from 123 countries — Dozens of IUCN experts; global participation, this
_ Discussed effective implementation series of inaugural events had three objectives:

= Ensuring IUCN Programme is credible, science-led,
of SDG 14 (oceans) and Target 3 of and also systematically contributes to generation and

GBF synthesis of new conservation science
— Co-hosted with Canadian Host First = Raising the profile and relevance of IUCN science
Nations. British Columbia. and IUCN = Driving IUCN-generated science to inform

implementation of nature conservation and

Members: Government of Canada, sustainable development

and Canadian Parks and Wilderness
Society.

— Thanks to WCPA for critical
contributions to IMPAC5

« Regional Conservation Fora (RCFs)
— Started preparations for 2024 RCFs

* |UCN Leaders Forum

— Switzerland confirmed as host for the 2023
IMPAC 5 edition of Leaders Forum in October

FIFTH INTERNATIONAL

MARINE PROTECTED AREAS CONGRESS

CINQUIEME CONGRES INTERNATIONAL
SUR LES AIRES MARINES PROTEGEES
VANCOUYER * CAMADA
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JUeN Mission highlights — Asia (DG and DDG Regions)
India, Bangladesh, Nepal, Thailand (February—March)

India

With India as G20 President, this mission led to IUCN —
for the first time — gaining a formally recognised voice in
the G20 process

Met IUCN'’s India Members, stressing the need to
strengthen I[UCN’s presence in India in proportion to
country’s size and influence

Held bilaterals with government (e.g. Federal
Environment Minister, Delhi Lieutenant-Governor),
private sector leaders (e.g. Tata Consultancy Services
chief operating officer)

Bangladesh

Celebrated 50-years of cooperation between I[UCN and
the Government of Bangladesh. The celebration with the
government and IUCN’s Members in the country drew
300 participants

Held half-day roundtable discussion with IUCN
Bangladesh National Committee Members

Travelled to Rohingya refugee camps in Cox’s Bazar,
where IUCN launched successful initiative to reduce
human-wildlife conflict. There, met UNHCR Bangladesh
Representative to discuss scaling up IUCN-UNHCR

partnership
.

Nepal

Thailand

Met Nepal’'s Prime Minister and committed
to supporting national priorities

Congratulated Nepal for exceeding
the Saint Petersburg commitment

to double the population of wild tigers
by 2022

Participated in 6" Annual Joint Meeting/
Workshop of the IUCN Nepal National
Committee as well as Commission
Members

Met with Minister of Natural Resources
and Environment, the first official IUCN &
meeting with the Thai minister since he
arrived in office

Held discussions with IUCN Thailand

National Committee, which focused
on ensuring robust engagement with
other stakeholders i.e. private sector)

Hosted reception at IUCN Asia
Regional Office with guests from
academia, international organisations,
private sector, etc



Brazil IRENA
* In March, DG embarked on * In January, DG met with
mission to Brazil to establish ties Director-General of International
with new government and key Renewable Energy Agency
stakeholders (IRENA) in Abu Dhabi
- Strategised with [IUCN Brazil » Established ties between
National Committee on influencing two highly complementary
national environmental agenda international organisations
« Met environment ministry and » Will deepen areas of joint action (E.g. incorporating
environmental agencies Nature-based Solutions within renewable energy
- Met Ministers of Finance; of sector) '

JUeN Mission highlights

Y

Indigenous Peoples; of Agriculture;
of Mining & Energy

Many avenues of future
collaboration, e.g. biodiversity
assessment; protected area
conservation; land restoration; G20
(Brazil is incoming G20 President)

8
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\'U_gN Contributions for Nature Platform

 Since going live across IUCN

constituencies in June 2022, and its . P [l
public launch in October 2022, the = = T o
platform has received almost 10,000 TR E & smpon
contributions from 130 IUCN Members ey, Bl

- These range from NGOs (e.g. BirdLife il :b-- e Tl e
International, TNC, WWF) to States AR . S
(e.g. Republic of Korea, Guatemala, R Sty s
Costa Rica) aar s e i Lo -

- Next phase will focus on expanding g SR Nt T
climate change mitigation reporting, T .
exploring platform use by non-State ) o\ BN, Ty o
actors outside IUCN, strengthening R e
visualisation - m e E

* Intent for 2023-2024 is to add reporting
for Water and Ocean
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SN Resolutions — Highlights

Resolution 122

* “Protection of deep-ocean ecosystems and biodiversity through a moratorium
on seabed mining”
« DG started a campaign in 2023 to uphold the IUCN Member-adopted
moratorium on deep seabed mining. Campaign included
— Issuing an open letter to the Members of the International Seabed Authority (ISA)
— 91 tailored DG letters to all IUCN State Members (in EN, FR and ES)
— To date, we have received positive response and feedback from a number of
States, including Kuwait, Switzerland, Australia and Denmark
« On 3 May, IUCN co-hosted “Deep seabed mining and the International
Seabed Authority: What is currently happening and where are we headed”,
with the Research Institute for Sustainability, Potsdam and Graduate Institute

Resolution 128

« “Acting for the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological diversity
in the ocean beyond national jurisdiction”

* In March, common ground on High Seas Treaty text was finally achieved in
United Nations (more in section “International Positioning”)

* Represents culmination of two decades of work by IUCN (Membership,
Commissions, Secretariat)

10

U CN Statement on
the High Seas Treaty

UCN welcomes states | finding comman

ground on the text of the High Seas
Treaty in New York. USA on 4 March

2023, after years of neqge agtiations
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Chapter 2: International Positioning
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~ . . .
e Intergovernmental Conference on Marine Biodiversity
of Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction (BBNJ)

* In March, IUCN welcomed the High Seas Treaty that was
agreed during the fifth session of the Intergovernmental
Conference (IGC5) on an international legally binding
instrument under the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea
(UNCLOS).

* Itis expected to be officially adopted by State members in
June.

* Important step towards protecting two-thirds of the ocean
that lies beyond national jurisdiction.

* |UCN applauds alignment of the Treaty with other
international commitments, including the Global
Biodiversity Framework, and the creation of a special fund
to finance the rehabilitation and ecological restoration of
marine biodiversity.

* Represents culmination of two decades of work by IUCN
(Membership, Commissions, Secretariat)
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\'UEN International Seabed Authority (ISA) 28" Session, Pt. 1

 1stpart of the 28th Session of the ISA,
iInvolving the meeting of the Council, took
place 16-31 March

* IUCN delegation included members of
WCEL, WCPA, CEM, and IUCN staff

« [UCN Statement to the meeting (see
right) referenced Resolution 122
“Protection of deep-ocean ecosystems
and biodiversity through a moratorium on
seabed mining” and stressed the need for
a pause or moratorium on deep seabed
mining at the ISA

13

The 28th Session of the International Seabed Authority

Council
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\lugN UN Water Conference

DG led IUCN delegation to the UN Water Conference on 22-
24 March in New York.

Led and participated in a Knowledge Dialogue, an official
virtual side event, on ‘Water, Climate and Biodiversity:
Managing Freshwater Ecosystems for Multiple Benefits’ on
21 March.

Developed an IUCN@UN Water Conference website,
including three information briefs to link IUCN relevant
Resolutions to three of the five interactive dialogues of the
Conference, and information on seven priority Conference
engagements and side events.

Delivered IUCN's official statement to the plenary during the
General Debate.

DG held 3 bilaterals with heads of partner organisations and
Member representatives, incl WTO DG Ngozi Okonjo-lweala

DG had 3 speaking interventions

MoU signing ceremony with the Ministry of Environment,
Republic of Korea and Korea Water Resources Corporation
(state-owned company)
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https://www.iucn.org/events/large-event/iucn-un-water-conference
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JUeN Intergovernmental bodies

G/

April G7 Ministers' Meeting on Climate,
Energy and Environment in Japan.

 Highlighted that our Union is well-
positioned to collaborate with the G7 and
global community to strengthen efforts to
address issues related to invasive alien
species (IAS) — one of world’s biggest
drivers of biodiversity loss, according to
IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.

G20

* In addition to G20 engagements
detailed in “Mission Highlights”
section, IUCN also inputted to
G20 Sustainable Finance Working
Group on ‘Enabling Finance to
Deliver on the SDGs

15

WTO
* DG was invited to represent IUCN at the , At UN Water Conference. DG

agreed with World Trade
Organization (WTQO) Director-
General Ngozi Okonjo-lweala
to set in motion a roadmap for
cooperation between IUCN
and WTO.
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JucN INC-2 Plastic Pollution Treaty

The Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) on Plastic Pollution is tasked with
developing legally binding instrument on plastic pollution

In January, and in cooperation with WCEL, prepared, coordinated and issued an JUCN
submission to INC-2, including the set of legal briefings

Preparations ongoing for 29 May - 2 June in Paris, France

One Forest Summit

From 1-2 March, Gabon hosted the inaugural One Forest Summit, dedicated to the
preservation and sustainable management of forests.

IUCN was represented by Razan Al Mubarak, IUCN President and new Regional
Director for the IUCN Regional Office for West and Central Africa, Nana Touré-Sy, who
assumed duty on 1 February (see picture right)

High-level discussions were held with government representatives, donors, and private
sector representatives.

Furthermore, the ground was set for renewed commitments for partnerships in the
Congo Basin

Nature-Positive

Building on nature-positive milestone at 2022 IUCN Leaders Forum in October, and on
ensuring nature-positive played a central role at the CBD COP15 in Canada in December,
IUCN is continuing to work on nature-positive in 2023

This will culminate with a Union-wide consultation on the nature positive approach in 2023

16
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https://apps1.unep.org/resolutions/uploads/230113_international_union_for_conservation_of_nature_iucn.pdf

Chapter 3: Programme work
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Impact Target 1: Fully realised rights, roles, obligations and

responsibilities to ensure just and inclusive conservation
and sustainable use of nature

* The IUCN Pakistan Country Office, together with AFD, announced the
winners of the first Pakistan Gender and Climate Awards, celebrating
International Women’s Day on 8 March.

» A March workshop in Tashkent, Uzbekistan, confirmed strong regional
commitment to the One Health approach in Central Asia. There, partners
discussed the proposed IKI project “Enhancing landscape resilience to
zoonotic disease emergence by consolidating nature conservation
systems in Central Asia”.

* A successful annual meeting was held for the Coalition for Private
Investment in Conservation, a global multi-stakeholder initiative focused
on enabling conditions that support a material increase in private, return-
seeking investment in conservation. [IUCN is part of the steering and
executive committees, and at the meeting a revamp of the strategy was
agreed on.

* Besides taking part in the International Marine Protected Area Congress
(IMPACS) in February in Canada, ORO also supported the participation
from five Pacific Island countries (Cook Islands, Papua New Guinea,
Micronesia, Fiji and Samoa), under the young professional’s programme

Impact Target 2: Equitable and effective governance of
natural resources at all levels to benefit people and
nature

The “Together for the Environment” project, launched in March, will
improve environmental and biodiversity protection in Serbia over the
next five years. ECARO will deliver a critical review of the national
nature protection system, with particular emphasis on good
governance (budget USD$690,000, supported by USAID).

The Conserving Natural Capital and Enhancing Collaborative
Management of Transboundary Resources project partnered with
Infonile in Uganda and the Association of Media Women in Kenya to
train around 40 East African journalists, improving their
understanding of illegal wildlife trade and marine species
consumption.

IUCN took part in the 2023 European Circular Economy Stakeholder
Conference in February, stressing that when implemented with
nature in mind, the circular economy is an
important opportunity for biodiversity,

a crucial tool alongside conservation and
restoration activities.

ECO-READY, a new project on food security,
started in Q1, aiming to address the complex
issue of food security in Europe by providing
real-time data and critical insights into the
factors that affect food accessibility and the
economic protection of producers. IUCN will
provide the voice of nature in this project and
develop and disseminate relevant policy
recommendations.



https://www.iucn.org/story/202303/empowering-women-and-girls-lead-climate-action-gender-and-climate-award-announced#:~:text=The%20jury%20selected%20the%20best,project%20run%20by%20the%20winners.
https://www.iucn.org/news/202303/strong-regional-commitment-one-health-approach-central-asia
http://cpicfinance.com/
https://www.iucn.org/news/202302/pacific-youths-geared-impac5
https://www.bos.rs/ekz-eng/news/425/11147/the-five-year-project-together-for-the-environment-officially-launched.html
https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/en/annual-conference-2023-recovery-open-strategic-autonomy-and-resilience
https://www.eco-ready.eu/
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Impact Target 2: Equitable and effective governance of
natural resources at all levels to benefit people and
nature

* As part of the steering committee for the America the Beautiful for
All Coalition, NARO launched the first policy report which includes
key recommendations for the US government to meet its twin goals
of Justice40 and 30x30.

* The IUCN Cameroon Programme supported the production of an
Ecological Monitoring Guide and a Protection and Monitoring Plan
for the Benue National Park, located in Northern Cameroon.

* In March, an IUCN regional conference in Jordan gathered 70
participants from 18 organisations across 4 countries to discuss and
exchange knowledge on rangeland management sustainable
principles and related indigenous knowledge.

* In February, the Amazonia 2.0 project ended, after more than 6
years, resulting in 1.5 million hectares observed using satellite
imagery, and 420,000 hectares monitored by Indigenous peoples.
Furthermore, 47 governance structures were implemented through
21 institutional agreements, : :
allowing for the effective
management of the project
territories and the reporting
of threats. Finally, more
than 2,000 people from 34
communities in the
Amazon received training
tailored to their needs.
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Impact Target 3: Enhanced realisation and

enforcement of the environmental rule of law

* North America Regional Office (NARO) contributed

with case studies and inputs to the 1st comprehensive
US National Nature Assessment (NNA) in the United
States. The NNA is part of a broader agenda to
conserve and restore nature for the US, essential

to measuring and monitoring progress.

The Government of El Salvador and IUCN ORMACC
formalised the opening of an IUCN country office in the
Central American country Working from this new location,
IUCN will develop and implement joint conservation and
sustainable development initiatives on the national level, while
contributing to regional efforts. The IUCN Secretariat will now be
able to better coordinate with Members and Committees in the
country, as well as a wide range of partners from academia, civil
society, and government, strengthening the One Programme
Approach

In January, a project AFRIPAC was launched. Standing for
"Effective Plastic Treaty
Capacity Building for Africa”,
this project aims to empower
five African nations” negotiating
skills for a strong Global Treaty
on plastic pollution. The
countries are Cabo Verde,
Guinea Bissau, Sao Tome and
Principe, Senegal and

Sierra Leone.



https://www.doi.gov/priorities/america-the-beautiful#:~:text=The%20President's%20goal%20of%20conserving,and%20for%20decades%20to%20come
https://www.doi.gov/ppa/national-nature-assessment
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Impact Target 1: Ecosystems are retained and restored,

species are conserved and recovered, and key
biodiversity areas are safequarded.

* [JUCN Thailand Country Programme’s Expression of Interest for
the GEF-8 project “Recovering tigers in Thailand through prey
recovery, forest restoration, and community participation” was
selected by the GEF Secretariat in mid-March for the next step of
Concept Note development. The total value of the project is
approximately USD $4.7 million.

 January saw the conclusion of the three-year initiative “SOS
Central Asia”. Through this, IUCN Save Our Species invested
almost USD$500,000 in seven projects in Kazakhstan,
Kyrgyzstan, and Tajikistan which reduced human-wildlife conflict,
increased critical species monitoring, and led to the
establishment of new conserved areas.

* In the lead up to World Wildlife Day, IUCN ESARO signed a grant
agreement for the Gonarezhou National Park Infrastructure
Support Programme through the Southern African Development
Community (SADC) TFCA Finance Facility — and Gonarezhou
Conservation Trust in Zimbabwe. Through this grant, the
Gonarezhou Conservation Trust will receive support worth €3
million to improve conservation outcomes through Gonarezhou
National Park infrastructure by 2026.

« Zambia’s North Luangwa National Park was included in IUCN’s
Green List of Protected and Conserved Areas.

* The March Data Training Workshop on Protected and
Conservation Areas held in Nairobi, Kenya, by the Regional
Resource Hub (RRH) attracted over 80 participants from 21
countries and reflected on the importance of data for effective
decision-making in protected areas.

The Sant Lloreng del Munt
i 'Obac Natural Park - in
the Barcelona area - is the
first site to participate in
the Tech4Nature !
partnership in Spain. —
The project, launched in February, will monitor the impacts of visitors
on the breeding behaviour of the Bonelli's eagle populations

Honduras and Costa Rica are the first two Central American

countries to officially approve the adapted Green List Standard for
national use.

The Restoration Barometer identified over 6 million restored hectares
in El Salvador, Guatemala,
Costa Rica, and Mexico, as :
ORMACC shared in February uf
at the joint annual meeting of
the 20x20 Initiative, the Bonn
Challenge, and AFOLU2040
on the restoration of
degraded lands in

Latin America.
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https://www.iucn.org/story/202303/supporting-species-migration-central-asia
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kk3qGyx3MGc
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/tech4nature-partners-announce-project-to-study-impact-of-tourism-on-biodiversity-in-spain-301714336.html
https://iucn.org/node/38647
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Impact Target 2: Thriving production landscapes are
sustainable, and nature’s value and benefits are
safequarded in the long term.

* In March, IUCN gathered representatives from civil society and
Indigenous peoples’ organisations, as well as seven Mesoamerican
countries, to create an implementation roadmap for the GEF-financed
Integrated Program for Critical Forest Biomes (IP). The IP will help
unlock an additional USD $12 million for conservation action.

* Gabon hosted the inaugural One Forest Summit, 1-2 March,
dedicated to the preservation and sustainable management of
forests. Co-organised by Gabon and France, it culminated in “The
Libreville Plan”, the roadmap to accelerating and scaling up
investments in forest countries. IUCN was represented by Razan Al
Mubarak, IUCN President, and PACO’s new Regional Director Nana
Touré-Sy, who assumed duty on 1 February 2023. At the Summit,
PACO held high-level discussions with government representatives,
donors, private sector representatives, and set the ground for
renewed commitments for partnerships in the Congo Basin.

* In March, IUCN launched a preview of “A guide to investing in
landscape restoration to sustain agrifood supply chains” at the Global
Landscape Forum Investment Symposium in Luxembourg. The guide
provides information and reasoning as to why it is important for
agribusinesses to engage in nature-positive business practices, and
why landscape restoration is an effective solution to issues related to
degradation of landscapes and natural capital on which
agribusinesses depend.

21

Impact Target 3: Nature and people thrive in cities while

delivering solutions for urban challenges and a

sustainable ecologqgical footprint.

* The city of Berlin performed a self-assessment using the [JUCN Urban
Nature Index, a tool that measures the ecological performance of
cities through 30 indicators nested in 6 themes. Based on 27
indicators, the city shows satisfactory performance on governance
responses, and has space for improvement when it comes to its A guide to investi
biodiversity and vegetation. [IUCN supported the process and will in 'and;c,p, ng
develop targeted recommendations. restoration to

* The Smart DESERT project was officially endorsed by the Union for Sustalin agrifood
the Mediterranean, one of the main intergovernmental frameworks in SUPply chaing
the Mediterranean. Several Public Private Partnership agreements
and MOUs were signed to connect farmers and home-based :’.Z.",;”?,::;"mam...,,._
business owners with local and global markets.

* As part of the GEF-8 Integrated Programme, IUCN was selected as
Implementing Agency of two Sustainable Cities Child Projects in two
countries (Guatemala and Peru). These projects bring the [JUCN
urban portfolio to more than USD 15 million.



https://www.iucn.org/es/articulo/202303/arranca-diseno-de-programa-regional-del-gef-para-conservar-y-proteger-los-boques
https://www.elysee.fr/admin/upload/default/0001/14/169a35ac099cdb3d3e0bc03eb30d745c155932a1.pdf
https://iucnurbanalliance.org/
https://www.smartdesertproject.com/about-sd/
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Impact Target 1: The loss of freshwater species and

decline of freshwater ecosystem health is halted, and

restoration initiated.

* Vjosa named Europe’s first Wild River National Park The entire
Vjosa River was declared as the first Wild River National Park in
Europe by the Government of Albania in March. The river was also
granted Category Il status, under [IUCN’s Protected Areas
Categories, thus ensuring the protection of the natural wilderness
area’s ecological and biological systems as well as its species.

The formal declaration was announced on 15 March, with the
participation of the Albanian Prime Minister Edi Rama, the Tourism
and Environment Minister of Albania Mirela Kumbaro, the CEO of
Patagonia Ryan Gellert, and Boris Erg, Director, IUCN Regional
Office for Europe. This status will facilitate solutions to challenges
such as water and land pollution, waste management, and
deforestation, while creating economic opportunities for local
communities.

22

Impact Target 2: Equitable access to water resources
and all associated ecosystem services are secured.

» The UN Water Conference saw the launch of a country-driven
initiative to leverage the support needed to restore 300,000 km of
rivers and 350 million hectares of inland wetlands by 2030 to
enhance water security, tackle climate change, and reverse nature
loss in New York in March. IUCN together with WWF, Wetlands
International, The Nature Conservancy, Ramsar Secretariat, the
UN Decade on Ecosystem Restoration and AB InBev are
supporting this initiative.
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(SN WATER OCEANS

Impact Target 3: Water governance, law and investment Impact Target 1: The loss of marine species and decline
decisions address the multiple values of nature and of marine ecosystem integrity is halted, and restoration
incorporate biodiversity knowledge. initiated.

« In March, IUCN-Med co-organised the Steering Committee of the * During Monaco Ocean Week (20-23 March), IUCN presented the
Mediterranean Alliance for Wetlands in Samsun, Turkey, which results of a 4-year project (Plastimed Bemed) that worked to
helped clarify some of the shared challenges for the conservation improve knowledge on the sources, distribution and abundance of
of wetlands and rivers. The Alliance is comprised of sub-national, plastic pollution in the Mediterranean Sea.
national and international NGOs, CSOs and research A key result was the
organisations — many of which are IUCN Members. A key development of a
conclusion was the need to strengthen the protection of Ramsar Community of Practice,
sites through designating legally binding protected areas. involving civil society

» Ecuador presented a proposal for a national Law for Water based organisations to
on BRIDGE input in Q1. As part of the BRIDGE project, SUR scale-up potential
worked closely with the Government of Ecuador to integrate solutions.

binational water management cooperation and freshwater
ecosystem conservation in its Law for Water. The proposal was
officially presented by President of the Republic of Ecuador, His
Excellency Guillermo Lasso to his cabinet, representatives of
Indigenous communities, the associations of water users and a
general audience of over 500 people in the city of Latacunga,
Cotopaxi province.

Mediterranean
Alliance for
~-~\Wetlands
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https://www.medallianceforwetlands.org/

Impact Target 2: Uses of marine natural resources
generate overall positive biodiversity outcomes and
sustain livelihood benefits for coastal communities.

* The closing event of the REGENERATE project in the Maldives
highlighted significant achievements, including the designation of 12
new protected areas, two UNESCO Biosphere Reserves in Addu
and Fuvahmulah atolls, biodiversity assessments of 79 sites across
the nation, and the launch of the Maldives Red List initiative.

* The IUCN Myanmar Country Office, with the support of
environmental economist Luke Brander, completed an economic
valuation of the ecosystem services provided by the Gulf of
Mottama. The resulting estimate suggests that each household in
the area receives ecosystem services worth around USD $4,500
per year.
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* In March, IUCN-Med participated in a discussion in Brussels

organised by the Mediterranean Posidonia Network - an initiative
led by the French Biodiversity Agency and the subregional
Government of the Balearic Islands - and promoted IUCN’s
activities linked to NbS and Blue Carbon.

In March, IUCN welcomed the High Seas Treaty that was agreed
during the fifth session of the Intergovernmental Conference (IGC5)
on an international legally binding instrument under the UN
Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS).
This represents the culmination of two decades

of work by IUCN (Membership, Commissions,
Secretariat).

IMPACS5, co-hosted by IUCN with the First Nations
— Musqgueam, Squamish and the Tsleil-waututh —
the Province of British Columbia, Government of
Canada, Parks Canada and the Canadian Parks
and Wilderness Society, was held in Vancouver,
Canada on 3-9 February.

It was the first opportunity for the global ocean
community to convene and transform the Global
Biodiversity Framework from ambition to action,
since it was adopted by governments in
December 2022. In total, 3,900 participants
from 123 countries came together to discuss
the full and effective implementation of

SDG 14 (on oceans) and Target 3 of the
Framework.


https://www.iucn.org/story/202304/celebrating-9-years-achievements-regenerate-project-comes-close
https://www.facebook.com/MedPosidoniaNetwork/
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Impact Target 3: Ocean and coastal processes are
maintained as a key foundation for planetary stability.

* IUCN-Med, in cooperation with the Libyan Ministry of Environment
and other NGOs, is supporting the expansion of the marine and
coastal protected areas network in Libya. A January workshop in
Tripoli presented the preliminary list of 26 sites, and the final
selection will support the national strategy of marine and coastal
areas.

* IUCN participated in the International Seabed Authority (ISA)
Council Meeting in March 2023 in Kingston, Jamaica. The meeting
focused on the regulations to govern deep-sea mining, following
Nauru’s announcement to begin mining. Although ISA has two years
to finalise regulations for this industry, ORO delivered a statement
on IUCN'’s behalf, reminding delegations that ‘rushing to complete
the regulations in order to meet an artificial deadline is not
advisable’.

* ORO established a plastic recycling initiative in Vanuatu with
implementing partner Recycle Corp Vanuatu Ltd, to recycle plastic
polymers such as PET, HDPE, LDPE and PP..

* PACO’s marine programme finalised the management plan of the
Bouche du Roy and Lac Toho ACCB (Aires de Conservation
Communautaire de la Biodiversité) in the Mono Biosphere Reserve
in Benin. This 346,285-hectare site in the south-west of Benin and
Togo hosts mangroves, savanna, lagoons, floodplains and forests,
and is home to nearly 2 million people.

25



https://www.iucn.org/story/202302/26-potential-sites-conservation-interest-identified-libya-support-gef-medprogramme
https://www.isa.org.jm/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/statement_IUCN.pdf
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Impact Target 1: Countries use Nature-based Solutions
to scale up effective adaptation to the impacts of climate

change.

* IUCN Rwanda, Rwanda Forestry Authority, the Eastern Province
and seven Districts signed an MoU on degraded land restoration
through projects including “Transforming Eastern Province through
Adaptation”, which will build on I[UCN’s successful community-
based approach in Rwanda.

* The Mission Inclusion Foundation and IUCN were selected for a 3-
year, CAD $30 million project under the Canadian government’s
Partnering for Climate Programme. It will directly benefit 350,000
people, including 225,000 women and 12,500 vulnerable and
marginalised community members.

* Through the Resilient Highlands Project, IUCN delivered grants to
ten small and medium-sized community organisations in the
western highlands of Guatemala. These organisations will
implement Ecosystem-based Adaptation projects to strengthen the
participation of local community members, women, and indigenous
peoples’ organisations. The small organisations received over USD
$222,000, financed by KOICA in Guatemala. Five medium-sized
organisations received USD $2 Million with funds from the Green
Climate Fund.

* The EbA LAC Programme supported four institutional and three
community nurseries in the province of Manabi, Ecuador, laying the
foundations for climate adaptation measures in Latin America
through native forest species and fruit trees seedlings planting.
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Impact Target 2: Countries scale up
Nature-based Solutions to reach
climate mitigation targets.

* IUCN Member, The Society for the Protection of Nature in Lebanon
(SPNL), officially joined the Al Murunah programme as IUCN'’s
national implementing partner. The programme aims to build climate
resilience through enhanced water security in the Middle East and
North Africa and will work to strengthen and empower national NbS
capacities for water and agricultural management.

* In the framework of the Gender and Climate Change Action Plan
(PAGcc) project, which supports Ecuador’s first National
Determined Contribution, 12 workshops were held gathering 263
participants to collect evidence and inputs for this policy instrument
which mainstreams gender within climate change policy.


https://iucn.org/blog/202304/iucn-rwanda-forestry-authority-and-eastern-province-signed-mou-implement-landscape
https://www.iucn.org/press-release/202302/climate-crisis-and-womens-rights-mission-inclusion-and-iucn-selected-3-year-30
https://www.iucn.org/es/articulo/202303/mecanismo-de-subvenciones-cataliza-accion-climatica-local-y-fortalece-la
https://ebalac.com/en/
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Impact Target 2: Countries scale up Nature-based
Solutions to reach climate mitigation targets.

* The IUCN-led initiative, co-chaired by Egypt and Germany,
Enhancing Nature-based Solutions for an Accelerated Climate
Transformation (ENACT), held its first workshop in Cairo in March,
to kickstart the programme. [UCN Members and Commissions as
well as UN agencies and donors have been instrumental in
developing this initiative, which will bring greater coherence and
collaboration between existing NbS efforts and partnerships.

27

Impact Target 3: Responses to climate change and its

impacts are informed by scientific assessment and

knowledge to avoid adverse outcomes for nature and

people.

The closing event of the REGENERATE project in the Maldives

featured the launch of a workbook for primary school children titled
‘Ecosystems of the Maldives’.

The IUCN India Country Office, supported by TCS Foundation,
released a publication titled “Himalaya for the Future” during a
workshop in February, identifying the issues and concerns faced by
the communities in the region, including biodiversity and climate

change

The Syrian crisis has severely increased the pressure on the limited
freshwater resources of Jordan. ROWA is addressing the
challenges related to agriculture, food security and the effects of

climate change, while empowering Syrian refugees and vulnerable
Jordanians in the agricultural sector.
In the first months of 2023, ROWA
helped rehabilitate 70 low-output

farmlands hosting over 300

home-based businesses, and installed
Solar PV systems in 7 processing
facilities. In addition, two farming
clusters which are each 6 hectares

are under implementation.



https://www.iucn.org/story/202304/celebrating-9-years-achievements-regenerate-project-comes-close
https://www.iucn.org/our-work/region/west-asia/our-work/water-climate-change-programme/strengthening-livelihood-food-security-host-communities-syrian-refugees-through-development

Chapter 4. Resource mobilisation and partnerships
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\wr Resource mobilisation

Supported by the European Commission,
BESTLIFE2030 was launched in February. Over the
next eight years, IUCN will continue working in the EU
Overseas territories, and establish a financing facility to
support local stakeholders to work on biodiversity
conservation and the sustainable use of ecosystem
services, including for climate adaptation.

In January, IUCN NARO launched the first strategy
workshop with the board of IUCN-US - a ‘friends-of’
organisation to maximise fundraising efforts. The
workshop ended with the agreement to offer larger
representation and support for all parts of the Union.
This strategy aims to provide another channel to grow
the US$4 million portfolio of field projects and initiatives
led by NARO

At the GEF-8 workshop in January in Bali, Indonesia,
the following was secured - Blue and Green Islands
Integrated Programmes for Palau (USD $8 million) and
the Federated States of Micronesia (USD $4 million).
IUCN Oceania is working closely with UNDP to refine
the concept

proposals.

The Global EbA Fund, managed by IUCN, has
received another EUR 10 million from donors, bringing
its total value to EUR 40 million for EbA.

29

Framework partnership

The annual meeting of the IUCN Framework Partners took
place in Rwanda in April, marking the first time this yearly
gathering took place in an IUCN country office.

The IUCN France Framework Steering Committee meeting
took place on 11 May in Paris, France. The results will be
communicated to Council orally, as these slides were
shared with Council on 9 May as per deadline.




3
IUCN I I
\ Communications

Over 32,386 media articles referenced IUCN in the
first quarter of 2023, including at least 134 articles in
Asian, European and North American target media.
Outlets that referenced IUCN in this period include
The Economist, Le Figaro, Le Monde, El Pais,
Bayerischer Rundfunk, Al Jazeera, Ecns.cn, Agéncia
Brasil, etc.

Commissioned, edited, published and promoted
Crossroads blogs:

— by researchers at Yale Tropical Resources Institute: Can
tourism be nature-positive?

— by Larissa Sousa, Gorongosa National Park: When we
educate a woman, we educate a society
IUCN issued seven press releases in the first quarter

of 2023, e.g.

— IUCN welcomes appointment of Razan Al Mubarak as
UN Climate Change High-Level Champion for the
COP28 Presidency

— Experts gather for first global human-wildlife conflict
summit
IUCN promoted IMPACS5 heavily, and drafted and
issued a press release on the [IUCN World
Commission on Protected Areas awards presented at
the event.
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Outstanding
conservationists
honoured by IUCN

ancouver, Canada, 6 February 2023 (IUCN)

IUCN and tha JUCN Werld Commission on

Protected Araas (WCPA) honoursd three
cutstanding conservationists at the Fifth
intemational Marine Protected Areas Congress in
Vancowver loday. Dr Eleanor Steefing and Dr Kestina
Glerde weare awarded the Frad Packard Award, white
Or Maria del Cammen (Garcia Hivas was presanted
with the Kenton B Miller Award - in recognition of
thelr extraordinary contnbutions to consenvaty
protected arsas around the word.

IUCN welcomes appointment of Razan Al Mubarak as
UN Climate Change High-Level Champion for the COP28
Presidency

land, Switzarand, 12 January 2023 {IUCN) - The Intemational Union for

Consanvation of Nature [ILCN] today welcomead the news that #s Praagent.

Razan Al Mubaralc. has been appointed a5 UN Cimate Changs High-Lavel
Champon for the COP23 Preaidancy by tha govammant of the Undted Arab Emirates.
host of the UN Climate Changs= Confersnce COP28 n 2023
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won HR updates Programme Performance,
\or

Monitoring & Evaluation

« Stats on recruitment/departures (Q1 stats) « Risk Committee meeting and risk analysis
— Number staff's departures: 7 (HQ) and 31 (WW). (presented to FAC)

— Number of worker's arrivals: 9 (HQ), and 51 (WW). - Risk management: 400 managers trained

* Recruitments » Leadership’s bi-annual planning worksho
— Ms Liza Murphy, Head, Conservation Management P P 9 P

Assurance Team (January) (picture below)

— Mrs Nana Oumou Toure-Sy, Director, Regional
Office for West and Central Africa (February)

— Faridah Ibrahim, Head, Business Engagement Unit
(March)

— Mr Martin Sneary, Head, Enterprise and Investment
Team (April)

— Mr Maher Mahjoub, Director, Centre for
Mediterranean Cooperation (April)
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2022 was momentous for IUCN and nature conservation.

Led by our Members, Commission members and Secretariat, IUCN was key to building global
ambition for the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, which was adopted in
December after a two-year delay due to COVID-19 precautions. IUCN, through the IUCN Nature
2030 Programme, now stands ready to support its implementation moving forward.

IUCN’s global leadership in nature conservation was again reaffirmed by world leaders at the Fifth
Session of the United Nations Environment Assembly, which multilaterally agreed a definition
of Nature-based Solutions based on IUCN’s proposal from 2016. This common definition will
help ensure that the goals of the Rio Conventions are achieved together. This is an ambition
reinforced by the inclusion of Nature-based Solutions in the cover decision of the UN Climate
Change Conference at Sharm el-Sheikh (COP27), in the targets of the Kunming-Montreal Global
Biodiversity Framework, and in commitments made by Parties to the UN Convention to Combat
Desertification.

We further strengthened the convening power of the Union with the inaugural IUCN Leaders
Forum in Jeju, South Korea. The Forum was conceived as an annual, high-level, in-person
event that gathers leaders to address key and emerging topics on the global agenda. This year’s
Forum brought together IUCN Members from government, civil society, Indigenous peoples’
organisations and partners from the private sector, with the common goal of helping define
nature-positive economies and societies.

These achievements and the many others highlighted in this report are only made possible by
IUCN’s 1,400 Members and 14,000 Commission members, who collectively are the political and
scientific force that drives our work. In 2022, we welcomed our first 12 subnational government
Members, alongside two new Indigenous Peoples' Organisations. We look forward to welcoming
others, as the Union continues its focus on enabling local conservation action.

With our deep scientific knowledge, bold ambition, and democratic and inclusive mandate, the
Union is helping the world overcome the biodiversity and climate challenges.

Together, we are building a better, greener and fairer future.

Dr Bruno Oberle

Razan Al Mubarak
President Director General
|‘” ool oy
i) ._“1[:"'“‘,'; . __!l':.__':i:"—
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M ISSION a nd Natu re 2030 A just world that values and conserves nature

The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) is a membership

o government and clvil soglety Influence, encourage and assist societies to conserve the
organisations. The experience, resources and reach of its more than 1,400 ’ g

Member organisations and the input of some 14,000 experts make IUCN integrity and diversity of nature and ensure that any use of

the global authority on the status of the natural world and the measures natural resources is equitable and ecologically sustainable
needed to safeguard it.

(5

UNITED FOR LIFE AND LIVELIHOODS

POLICY AMPLIFICATION DIRECT FECM MEMBERS

» The Union H:E_E] 2

The Union has the following constituent parts: s
14 ﬂ'ﬂﬂ P BT
[ yit

= Members
< Ty e FrEmaienat, danbied Al ik

= National and Regional Committees (composed

of Members) Atrairing the S0GH
COLLARDTATION arl meetatg othies
= Commissions ! 4 o s ||||I-|||un.
= Secretariat _ Member ' " ACTON
= Council

= World Conservation Congress
RECIFLE A
o = L Pl s LS T T rin
o S proni i prigprt

DIRECT BENEFITS BACE TO MEMEERS

©IUCN
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Nature 2030: a Union in action

Adopted at the IUCN World Conservation Congress in Marseille, the Nature 2030 IUCN Programme was the result of many years of deliberation across the Union. Covering
a ten-year time frame for the first time, the Programme is a call for mobilisation to IUCN Members, Commissions and the Secretariat. This longer-term outlook aligns with
the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.

» Five Programme Areas

The Programme, with a more inclusive and extended vision, defines five
broad areas where IUCN will work to deliver tangible positive impacts:

PEOPLE Biodiversity is nurtured in harmony with human well-being,
based on the principles of equity, equality and justice.

LAND Intact landscapes are protected while sustainable use
balances the needs of people and nature on production
and urban land.

WATER Freshwater systems support and sustain biodiversity

and human needs.

OCEANS Stronger legal frameworks and investment in biodiversity
restoration ensure a healthy ocean supporting nature
and people.

CLIMATE Global temperature rise is limited to 1.5°C through
ambitious mitigation measures, alongside effective
adaptation.

AT A GLANCE: THE UNION | NATURE 2030: A UNION IN ACTION
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Infographic by Natacha Bigan, using SDG icons

» All contributing to the 17 Sustainable Development Goals
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AND WELL'BEING

/v

QUALITY
EDUCATION
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CLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

v
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M em be rs » Spread of IUCN’s membership
East Europe, North

IUCN harnesses the knowledge, resources and reach of over | : g and Central Asia
1,400 Members. These include States and government agencies

at national and subnational levels, large and small non-

governmental organisations, Indigenous peoples’ organisations,

scientific and academic institutions.

Through their affiliation with IUCN, Members work with North America : West

2 . . and the Caribbean Europe
Commissions and the Secretariat to forge and implement

solutions to the planet’s greatest environmental challenges. South and
IUCN Members also convene and influence diverse stakeholders, - kil
including at the highest levels, in support of nature conservation. Meso and
s.part of a democratic process, at the IUCN World Conservation South America
' mbers vote on Resolutions_that drive the global
ENL istory is built on Members putting Oceania
e to work for a more sustainable

IUCN’s 1,452 Members are in 165 countries and are comprised of:

(,7 | JOINED
[ new | THE UNION

fgplg MeMBERs | IN 2022
a3
Ve 1,600+
= MEMBER
% ORGANISATIONS
1

2
Subnational Governments 1 6 5 WITH I U CN
1,063 counTries | MEMBERS

National Non-Governmental Organisations
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» Evolution of IUCN’s membership by category » Member highlights

= |UCN welcomed its first subnational government Members, a new
category established at the World Conservation Congress in Marseille.
By the end of 2022, IUCN had 12 subnational government Members

1600

news and events throughout the year. Members were invited to take
part in events ranging from a webinar series to prepare for the UN
Biodiversity Conference to various networking events at both regional
and global level.

800

= Many Members partnered on IUCN projects in 2022 as part of the Nature

400 — 2030 Programme, often with far-reaching impact. For example, a project

with IUCN State Member Rwanda implemented a Nature-based Solution

in the country’s Rubavu district to alleviate the regular flooding that

0 . previously caused significant crop damage and displacement of people

— in the Sebeya river catchment area. By 2022, it was reported that the past
D ) $ \Y » N ) ) . L

Na N NS N\t o N\ SN SRR > 12 months were the first year that the municipality had not recorded a
single death attributed to flooding or landslides.

ranging from the City of Paris to the Jeju Special Self-Governing Province
in the Republic of Korea.
1200 e
LAST F IVE YEARS = The biweekly Union Digest newsletter kept Members updated on IUCN

@ Subnational Governments @ National Non-Governmental Organisations . . .
Al 6 - = [UCN Members and its Secretariat continued to collaborate strongly on
ates @ Governmen Agencies the 137 Resolutions adopted at the 2021 World Conservation Congress.
@ Indigenous Peoples’ Organisations @ States To mention just one example, IUCN and its Members WWF, BMZ and

@ International Non-Governmental Organisations Wetlands International helped implementin 2022 the Resolution for the
conservation, restoration and sustainable management of mangrove
ecosystems. This included conducting detailed assessments of the socio-
economic value of mangroves, mapping the state of the mangroves in
the Western Indian Ocean, and working to advance political ambition
on advanced mangrove action both internationally and regionally as
part of the Save our Mangroves Now initiative.

o MEMBERSHIP
Ty IR JE CTORY The Maldives became a new State Member
A in 2022, and Angola and Portugal rejoined

............... : the Union.

} Participantsin El Salvador take partin a workshop on gender as part of
IUCN’s Regional Coastal Biodiversity Project. © Evelyn Vargas
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https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/49217
https://www.mangrovealliance.org/save-our-mangroves-now/
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/members/members-directory

National and Regional
Committees

IUCN Members within a country or region may choose to
organise themselves into National and Regional Committees
to facilitate cooperation among Members, and with other
parts of the Union, and to support the participation of
Members in the Programme and governance of IUCN.

IUCN’s National and Regional Committees can be very

different in nature. Some of the Member Committees

work to jointly implement projects, whereas others_are
__predominantly vehicles for exchange and networking.

e are currently 66 officially recognised National

mittees, eight recognised Regional Committees, one
erregional Committee and a Global Group for National
d Regional Committee Development.

» 8 Officially recognised Regional
Committees of IUCN Members

= Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Committee
= North Africa Regional Committee

= West and Central Africa Regional Committee

= Meso America Regional Committee

= South America Regional Committee

= Caribbean Regional Committee

= South and East Asia Regional Committee

= West Asia Regional Committee

» 1 Officially recognised Interregional
Committee of IUCN Members

= |nterregional Committee for Europe, North and Central Asia

AT A GLANCE: THE UNION | NATIONAL AND REGIONAL COMMITTEES

» Spread of IUCN’s Committees

@]

North America
and the Caribbean

Meso and

South America

O National Committee
D Regional Committee
O Interregional Committee

Africa

Oceania

East Europe, North
and Central Asia

» 66 Officially recognised National Committees of IUCN Members

= Argentina

= Australia

= Bangladesh

= Belize

= Benin

= Bolivia (Plurinational
State of)

= Botswana

= Brazil

= Burkina Faso

= Burundi

= Cambodia

= Cameroon

= Canada

= Chile

= Colombia

= Costa Rica

= Denmark

Dominican Republic ]
Ecuador ]
El Salvador ]
Finland ]
France .
Guatemala ]
Guinea Bissau .
Honduras ]
Hungary .
India .
Israel .
M L]
Japan .
Jordan =
Kenya =
Kuwait -
Lebanon ]
Malawi =

Mali

Mexico

Morocco
Mozambique
Nepal

New Zealand
Nicaragua
Pakistan
Palestine
Panama
Paraguay

Peru

Poland

Republic of Korea
Russian Federation
Senegal

South Africa

Spain

= Srilanka

= Sweden

* Switzerland

= Thailand

= The Netherlands

= Tunisia

= Tirkiye

= Uganda

= United Arab Emirates
* United Kingdom

of Great Britain &
Northern Ireland

= United States of

America

= Viet Nam
= Zimbabwe
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https://www.facebook.com/IUCNCaribbean/
http://www.icenca-iucn.org/
https://www.aciucn.org.au/
https://cciucn.ca/
https://ym.fi/en/iucn-national-committee-of-finland
https://uicn.fr
https://wii.gov.in/iucn
http://www.iucn.it/
https://www.iucn.jp/

http://pnc.iucnp.org/wp/
https://www.uicn.es/
https://iucn.ch/
https://www.iucn.nl/
https://iucn-nc.uk/
https://iucn-nc.uk/
https://iucn-nc.uk/
https://www.iucn-members.us/
https://www.iucn-members.us/

» 2022 Highlights from the National and Regional Committees

IUCN Asia Regional Committee IUCN Regional Committees for Meso America and South America; IUCN National Committee
= Avirtual platform launched in March 2022, the Asia Nature Forum aims to strengthen for Spain
engagement and interaction between IUCN constituents in the Asia region. Six webinars = TheABCHN of IUCN is a working group that promotesinterregional collaboration among IUCN
on topics related to nature conservation and sustainable development allowed Members, constituentsin the Spanish language. Its second online event, held in June 2022, focused on
Commissions, Councillors and Secretariat staff to learn and share experience with each other. the IUCN Secretariat. It provided Members with an opportunity to learn how the Secretariat
. is organised, the services it offers and the work it does, and encouraged participation of
IUCN French Commiittee

Members in IUCN processes and knowledge products.
= Marking 30 years of existence in 2022, the IUCN French Committee is a unique platform for

dialogue and expertise on biodiversity issues in France. As an example of this, its French IUCN Interregional Committee for Europe, North and Central Asia (ICENCA)

Nature Congress in October 2022 - held at the ZooParc de Beauval - brought together = Approved by the IUCN Council in June 2022, ICENCA will provide pragmatic assistance for
150 people to prepare the collective messages to convey during the season of important strengthening cooperation and collaboration between all IUCN entities in Europe, North
international COP meetings that followed. and Central Asia. The Committee held a Members’ workshop on regional plans in Mélaga

in September.

NATIONAL
COMMITTEES

REGIONAL
COMMITTEES

INTERREGIONAL
COMMITTEE

© pixabay.com / PIYABO-NGULUAM
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Commissions

IUCN Commissions are broad and active networks of around 14,000 scientists and experts providing IUCN and its Members with sound know-how and policy advice to drive
conservation and sustainable development.

» Commissions regional spread » Commissions gender split

7 | IUCN
COMMISSIONS

14,000 N5 Experrs

IN 300
7.400 COMMISSION-LED 80 ACTIVE PROJECTS AND
sarricieants | EVENTS -~ | GRANTS
47 ‘GREY LITERATURE’ 50 |PEER-REVIEWED
PUBLICATIONS -~ | ARTICLES
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» IUCN Commissions

- Climate Crisis Commission (CCC)

Chirreaba T

W"’“ Chair: Manuel Pulgar-Vidal (interim)

CCC is the Union’s newest Commission, established at the World Conservation Congress
in Marseille with an Interim Chair and Steering Committee appointed by Council during
2022. The mission of CCC will be to promote appropriate, effective, just and nature-positive
solutions to the climate crisis that are based on the best available scientific evidence from all
reputable international bodies and from indigenous knowledge systems. Recruitment of CCC
members and implementation of its work plan will begin in 2023.

CEC «*  Commission on Education and Communication (CEC)

¥ =
=

Chair: Sean Southey (second term)

CEC drives change through the provision of leadership on communication, learning and
knowledge. The Commission’s role is to strengthen the work of the Union through creative,
innovative, participatory, responsive and effective communication and education, as tools
to bring about positive social and behavioural change for the well-being of people and the
planet.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

Led by CEC along with [IUCN WCPA and Parks Canada, the #NatureForAll movement continued
to grow, reaching around 575 organisational partners. The movement engages new audiences
to connect with and fall in love with nature, thus igniting action for conservation. A major
new multi-partner initiative launched during 2022, funded by the Robert Woods Johnson
Foundation, created the first international survey of outdoor classrooms and learning
environments. Its action agenda will be implemented throughout 2023.

CEC continued to provide leadership on IUCN’s youth engagement, including the delivery to
Council of the first IUCN Youth Strategy. With youth now representing 25% of the IUCN CEC
Steering Committee, the Commission worked to ensure meaningful opportunities foryouth to
engage in international meetings. For example, #NatureForAll facilitated an intergenerational
dialogue on ocean conservation ahead of IMPAC5.

AT A GLANCE: THE UNION | COMMISSIONS

e Commission on Environmental, Economic and
l@' CEESP Social Policy (CEESP)

Chair: Kristen Walker Painemilla (second term)

CEESP works to harmonise nature conservation with the critical social, cultural,
environmental and economic justice concerns of human societies. It does this by generating
and disseminating knowledge, mobilising influence and promoting action.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

CEESP partnered with the Luc Hoffmann Institute and Impact Hub to launch a global challenge
to drive innovation and support solutions that proactively address the deep-rooted issues
facing conservation NGOs, such as legacies of discrimination and inequalities perpetrated
by existing power structures. Nine winning ideas were selected from among the 173 received
across 58 countries.

Working with the Australia National Committee of IUCN, CEESP supported November’s
Reimagining Conservation Forum - Working Together for Healthy Country. This First Nations-
led event brought together First Nations and non-indigenous leaders and practitioners
involved in the policies and practices of land and sea management across Australia.

& Commission on Ecosystem Management (CEM)
CEM Chair: Angela Andrade (second term)

CEM promotes ecosystem-based approaches for the management of landscapes and
seascapes. Its mission is to provide expert guidance on integrated approaches to the
management of natural and modified ecosystems to promote biodiversity conservation and
sustainable development.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

Aresearch team led by CEM members developed the first comprehensive classification of the
world’s ecosystems across land, rivers and wetlands, and seas. Published in October 2022 in
Nature, the IUCN Global Ecosystem Typology provides a globally consistent classification that
will enable more coordinated and effective biodiversity conservation.

CEM is instrumental in developing and improving the knowledge base on Nature-based
Solutions (NbS). The IUCN definition of NbS formed the basis for a landmark resolution on
sustainable development adopted by the fifth session of the United Nations Environment

Assembly (UNEA-5) in March 2022.
IUCN | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 n



https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/commission-ecosystem-management
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-022-05318-4
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-022-05318-4
https://www.iucn.org/news/secretariat/202203/landmark-un-environment-assembly-adopts-key-decisions-and-restores-hope-multilateralism
https://www.iucn.org/news/secretariat/202203/landmark-un-environment-assembly-adopts-key-decisions-and-restores-hope-multilateralism
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/commission-environmental-economic-and-social-policy
https://luchoffmanninstitute.org/the-future-of-conservation-ngos-innovation-portal/
https://luchoffmanninstitute.org/the-future-of-conservation-ngos-innovation-challenge-winning-ideas/
https://www.aciucn.org.au/reimagining-conservation-forum
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-ecosystem-management
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-environmental-economic-and-social-policy
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/commission-education-and-communication
https://natureforall.global
https://www.iucn.org/resources/grey-literature/iucn-youth-strategy-2022-2030
https://www.impac5.ca/2022/08/18/intergenerational-dialogue/
https://www.impac5.ca/2022/08/18/intergenerational-dialogue/
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-education-and-communication
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/climate-crisis-commission
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/species-survival-commission

Species Survival Commission (SSC)

T SSC

Fipmeriws Barenal Geemmisuns

Chair: Jon Paul Rodriguez (second term)

SSC works to influence, encourage and assist societies to conserve biodiversity by building
knowledge on the status of and threats to species. With more than 8,300 volunteer experts,
the Commission works both independently and in conjunction with other IUCN constituents
to provide advice, develop policies and guidelines, and facilitate conservation planning.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

The Centers for Species Survival (CSS), partnerships between the SSC Chair’s Office and
leading species conservation organisations, are designed to support the SSC network in
strengthening local capacity, conservation planning, and implementing conservation action.
Three new Centers were formalised: CSS Southeast Asia in partnership with Mandai Nature,
Singapore; CSS Australasia in partnership with the Zoo and Aquarium Association Australasia,
Australia; and CSS Georgia Aquarium, focused on marine conservation, in the United States.

SSC’s high-level interventions included an alert on the poisoning of migratory birds in
Crimea, an urgent call to reactivate the work for habitat restoration and protection of the Loa
frog in Chile, and an appeal for the urgent declaration of the American red swamp crayfish
as an invasive species in Colombia. Other letters issued concerned poaching of rhinos in
Hluhluwe-iMfolozi Park, South Africa and the protection of the Lower Congo River from large
hydroelectric dam developments.

VWO PA  World Commission on Protected Areas (WCPA)

LIS LT Tl 1
B RCTTC TS AT A

Chair: Madhu Rao (first term)

B T A

ﬁa WCEL World Commission on Environmental Law (WCEL)

-
Chair: Christina Voigt (first term)

WCEL has the goal of advancing environmental law to strengthen the legal foundations of
nature conservation and sustainable development. In addition to developing best practices
and inter-sectoral strategies for effective compliance and enforcement, the Commission aims
to strengthen the capacity of governments, the judiciary, prosecutors, law schools and other
stakeholders as they develop and implement environmental law.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

WCEL convened the 2022 Oslo International Environmental Law Conference, bringing
together more than 800 participants to engage in a broad exchange about the environmental
rule of law and the role and responsibilities of the legal profession in bringing about change.

Two new task forces were created to enhance collaboration with the IUCN Secretariat. The
IUCN WCEL Agreement on Plastic Pollution Task Force provides insights and guidance on
the legal issues central to the process of negotiation of a global plastics treaty. The IUCN
WCEL Rights of Nature Task Force aims to help make the Union’s engagement on the topic of
rights of nature more concrete, examining the consequences of granting legal personality to
ecosystems, species or natural spaces.

WCPA develops knowledge-based policy, advice and guidance on the full range of issues related to protected areas. The Commission brings together experts to develop global protected area standards
and best practice guidelines, supporting governments, NGOs, Indigenous peoples and local communities, and other stakeholders in the implementation of the Global Biodiversity Framework, and
especially its Target 3 on area-based conservation.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

WCPA co-convened two regional congresses: the Asia Parks Congress in Sabah, Malaysia and the Africa Protected Areas Congress in Kigali, Rwanda. These well-attended and highly-inclusive congresses
were significant milestones for setting regional priorities for the next decade, and for preparing for CBD COP15, highlighting conservation successes, challenges and opportunities and fostering
commitment and collaboration. They gave an important voice to both Indigenous peoples and local communities, as well as to youth, to discuss challenging issues in each region.

Through its specialist groups and task forces, WCPA has developed technical guidance on several elements of Target 3 in the newly adopted Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework,
including on equity, on understanding and applying other effective area-based conservation measures (OECMs), and on implementing 30x30 in inland waters.
IUCN | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 n
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https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/world-commission-environmental-law
https://www.iucnwcel2022.com
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/group/iucn-wcel-agreement-plastic-pollution-task-force
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/group/iucn-wcel-rights-nature-task-force
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/group/iucn-wcel-rights-nature-task-force
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/world-commission-environmental-law
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/world-commission-protected-areas
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/world-commission-protected-areas
https://www.iucn.org/our-union/commissions/species-survival-commission
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Secretariat

The IUCN Secretariat works to achieve the vision of the Union’s membership. The Secretariat includes over 900 staff

working in over 50 countries.

IUCN’s headquarters are in Gland, near Geneva, Switzerland, and there are regional, outposted, country and project
offices around the world. In addition to contributing knowledge and undertaking convening and capacity-building
work, the Secretariat manages projects worldwide and coordinates support services to Members and Commissions.

Through the work of the IUCN Centres, the Secretariat supports the implementation of the policy work and the

Programme of IUCN.

The Corporate Services Group is responsible for constituency support, strategic partnerships and donor relations,
communications, human resources, legal, finance, global convenings and events, and knowledge and information

management.

» IUCN Centres

To support the delivery of the Nature 2030 Programme, three new Centres were created in the IUCN Secretariat, reflecting the pillars of sustainable development - environmental sustainability,
economic feasibility and social equity. These are underpinned by a fourth new Centre focused on science and data and the already-established Centre for International Policy.

Centre for Conservation Action

Oversees IUCN’s work on biomes, including global efforts on land, oceans and species. This
Centre works directly with regional teams to drive conservation and policy action on the ground
and apply state-of-the-art knowledge to improve conservation planning, monitoring and results.

Centre for Economy and Finance

Oversees efforts to mobilise and redirect the resources needed to meet the global targets on
biodiversity and climate change. Through the creation of new business models and economic
analysis, the Centre makes the case for investing in nature with the public and private sectors.

Centre for Society and Governance

Responsible forinstitutional, legal and collaborative efforts aimed at empowering and protecting
the rights of a wide range of stakeholders, especially traditionally marginalised communities,
women and girls, Indigenous peoples, local communities and youth.

AT A GLANCE: THE UNION | SECRETARIAT

Centre for Science and Data

Strives to further develop IUCN’s longstanding reputation as a global authority on conservation
science and knowledge, and as a global standard-setter for the collection, assessment and
analysis of biodiversity-related data.

International Policy Centre

Works with the IUCN Director General to enhance the Union’s policy work and impact, guiding
engagement in multilateral processes and international environmental forums to ensure the
provision of sound policy and technical advice to negotiators and key stakeholders.
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IUCN OFFICES

»

ASIA

1- Asia Regional Office (ARO) - Bangkok, Thailand
2- Dhaka, Bangladesh

3- Bangkok, Thailand [}
4- Beijing, China

5- Colombo, Sri Lanka

6- Hanoi, Viet Nam

7- Islamabad, Pakistan

8- Karachi, Pakistan

9- Kathmandu, Nepal

10- Nay Pyi Taw, Myanmar

11- New Delhi, India

12- Phnom Penh, Cambodia

13- Vientiane, Lao PDR

EAST AND SOUTH AFRICA

14- Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Office (ESARO) -
Nairobi, Kenya

15- Dar, Tanzania

16- Kampala, Uganda

17- Kigali, Rwanda

18- Maputo, Mozambique

19- Nairobi, Kenya

20- Pretoria, South Africa

EASTERN EUROPE AND
CENTRAL ASIA

21- Regional Office for Eastern Europe and Central Asia
(ECARO), Belgrade, Serbia

EUROPE

22- European Regional Office (EURO) - Bonn, Germany

MEDITERRANEAN

23- Centre for Mediterranean Cooperation (Med) - Malaga,
Spain
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MEXICO, CENTRAL AMERICA AND
THE CARIBBEAN

24- Regional Office for Mexico, Central America and
the Caribbean (ORMACC) - San Jose, Costa Rica

25- Guatemala City, Guatemala

26- San Salvador, El Salvador

27- Tegucigalpa, Honduras

NORTH AMERICA

28- Regional Office for North America - Washington D.C., USA

WEST AND CENTRAL AFRICA

29- West and Central Africa Regional Office (PACO) - Dakar,
Senegal

30- Conakry, Guinea

31- Bamako, Mali

32- Bissau, Guinea Bissau

33- Dakar, Senegal

34- Nouakchott, Mauritania

35- Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

36- Yaoundé, Cameroon

SOUTH AMERICA

37- South America Regional Office (SUR) - Quito, Ecuador
38-Brasilia, Brazil (Associagao UICN Brasil)

OCEANIA

39- Oceania Regional Office (ORO) - Suva, Fiji

WEST ASIA

40- Regional Office for West Asia (ROWA) - Amman, Jordan

HEADQUARTERS AND OUTPOSTED OFFICES

41- IUCN headquarters, Gland, Switzerland
42- Cambridge Office, Cambridge, United Kingdom
43- Environmental Law Centre (ELC), Bonn, Germany

REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE

44- Permanent Observer Mission of IUCN to the United Nations, New
York, N.Y, USA

45- EU Representative Office, Brussels, Belgium

IUCN Country Project Offices are not reflected on the map
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Council

The IUCN Council is the Union’s principal governing body in between sessions of the World Conservation Congress, the General Assembly of the Union's Members.

Subject to the authority, direction and policy of the Congress, the » Members Of Council ) 2022 Highlights
role of the IUCN Council is to set strategic direction and policy

guidance for the work of the Union; provide oversight and guidance

on the performance of the components of the Union as a whole _
and of the Director General in particular; and to fulfil its fiduciary I Treasurer

responsibilities to the Members and render account to them.

= Following the election of Councillors at the 2021
World Conservation Congress, Council established
the Climate Crisis Commission (CCC) as requested
by 2021 Congress Resolution 110, and adopted its
Terms of Reference.

I Chairs of the Commissions
During 2022, the Council defined five key priorities on which it

committed to deliver by 2025. These included: I A Eotinall o Sl el fs SR

= The Council established the Intersessional Council

1. Strengtheningthe governance of IUCN, and increasing the level of I Indigenous Councillor (appointed) Working Group and kick-started the development
membership participation and confidence in the decision process Councillor from the State in which IUCN has its seat of thTOZO—ye.al\lrbStrategiclVi(sinn for IUCN on which
2. Developinga 20-year Strategic Vision for IUCN, including a financial (Switzerland) Members will be consulted in 2023.

strategy, that receives the support from allits constituent parts )
= Byapprovingits Terms of Reference and Process,

the Council launched the development of an IUCN
policy on synthetic biology in relation to nature
conservation following a request from the 2021
Congress.

3. Implementing the Resolutions of the IUCN World Conservation
Congress
4. Increasing Member engagement and satisfaction

5. Improving IUCN’s influence on the global agenda and mobilising
IUCN’s constituents in order to secure high-ambition conservation
goals = The Councilendorsed proposals from the Advisory
Group for the review of the Statutes established
by 2021 Congress Resolution 148 to turn the [IUCN
World Conservation Congress henceforth into a
hybrid event and make the supreme governance

of IUCN more agile.

= Aspart of its oversight role, the Council provided
direction for the development of a strategy for
knowledge products and knowledge management
that recognises the role of the IUCN Commissions

IUCN President Razan Al Mubarak. © Mohamed .
bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund in the development of knowledge products.

IUCN Council Members and President in Abu Dhabi for the 108t Council
Meeting, January 2023. © Mohamed bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund
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JUCN Leaders Forum

Leadership for a nature-positive future

The first IUCN Leaders Forum, held in Jeju, Republic of Korea in October 2022, highlighted the urgent need for a global transition to a nature-positive economy. Organised
in collaboration with the Korean Ministry of Environment and Jeju Self-Governing Province, the Forum brought together leaders and changemakers from government, civil
society, Indigenous peoples’ organisations, business and finance.

» New initiatives

At the Forum, IUCN proposed a Nature-Positive Approach to
provide a pathway for organisations to become nature-positive.
IUCN defines this as halting and reversing the loss of nature
measured from its current status, reducing future negative
impacts alongside restoring and renewing nature, to put both
living and non-living nature measurably on the path to recovery.

The Union’s new Contributions for Nature Platform was
presented, an online tool that measures the potential
contribution of specific actions in specific places towards
global biodiversity and climate goals. IUCN, in partnership
with Jeju Self-Governing Province, also launched the Nature
Province Partnership, a new network of regional authorities to
support the nature conservation efforts of IUCN Members at this
intermediate level of government.

We can build nature-positive
economies and societies; and this is
how we will advance a new paradigm
for our thriving, collective future and
its species.

Ban Ki-moon, 8th Secretary-General of the United Nations,
speaking at the IUCN Leaders Forum in Jeju

2022 CONVENINGS & NETWORKING | IUCN LEADERS FORUM

» Recommendations

IUCN developed a set of concrete recommendations based
on the conclusions of the Leaders Forum. These included the
need for governments to phase out environmentally harmful
subsidies, a call for the inclusion of specific references to nature-
positive - and related financial flows - in the Global Biodiversity
Framework, and improvements in the quality and quantity of
protected areas. The recommendations emphasise the role and
rights of Indigenous peoples and local communities in achieving
nature-positive economies, as well as the need for greater
transparency and accountability with respect to supply chains
and food systems.

IUCN President Razan Al Mubarak and Lucy
Mulenkei, Executive Director of the Indigenous
Information Network. © IUCN

v

IUCN Director General Dr Bruno Oberle
and Young Hun Oh, Governor of Jeju
Self-Governing Province at the closing
ceremony of the [UCN Leaders Forum Jeju
2022.© IUCN

50+ |

IUCN | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 n



https://www.iucn.org/events/large-event/iucn-leaders-forum-jeju-2022
https://www.iucn.org/resources/file/summary-towards-iucn-nature-positive-approach-working-paper
https://www.iucncontributionsfornature.org/
https://iucn.org/news/202210/iucn-launches-network-regional-government-members-engaged-nature
https://iucn.org/news/202210/iucn-launches-network-regional-government-members-engaged-nature
https://www.iucn.org/resources/file/outcomes-iucn-leaders-forum-jeju-2022
https://www.iucn.org/resources/file/outcomes-iucn-leaders-forum-jeju-2022

Africa and Asia Parks Congresses

» Major mobilisations for protected areas
in Africa and Asia

In 2022, IUCN - including the World Commission on Protected
Areas (WCPA) and IUCN Members - and host country partners
convened two major regional congresses on protected and
conserved areas. The 2" Asia Parks Congress was held in Malaysia
in May; and the inaugural IUCN Africa Protected Areas Congress
(APAC) took place in Rwanda in July. These well-attended events
were significant milestones for setting regional priorities for the
next decade and for fostering commitment and collaboration.

Both congresses were highly inclusive, with active participation
from Indigenous peoples and local communities alongside
representatives of government agencies, NGOs, international
organisations, youth, academia and the private sector.

v

Nyaradzo Auxillia Hoto (IAPF Akashinga Ranger
Team, Zimbabwe) receives the 2022 IUCN WCPA
International Ranger Award. © IUCN

2022 CONVENINGS & NETWORKING | AFRICA AND ASIA PARKS CONGRESSES

» IUCN Africa Protected Areas Congress

This was the first continent-wide gathering of African leaders,
citizens and interest groups to discuss the role of protected areas
in conserving nature, convened jointly by IUCN and two of its
Members - the government of Rwanda and the African Wildlife
Foundation - with strong support from WCPA. Discussions centred
on safeguarding the continent’s iconic wildlife, delivering vital
life-supporting ecosystem services, and promoting sustainable
development while conserving Africa’s cultural heritage and
traditions.

The Congress closed with the adoption, by 2,400 participants
from across Africa and beyond, of the Kigali Call to Action. This
identifies priority actions to strengthen protected areas in a just,
equitable and fair manner. They include reinforcing the rights of
Indigenous peoples and local communities and securing greater
public and private financial investment in nature conservation
and protected areas. The document also calls for enhanced Pan-
African collaboration, cooperation and partnership for protected
and conserved area systems throughout the continent.

£a WCPA

SR D CRAAIS S0
O PROTECTED AREAS

Coordinator of the Association of Peul
Women and Autochthonous Peoples of
Chad, Hindou Oumarou Ibrahim speaks
on a panel of female conservation
leaders in Africa. © IUCN
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» 2" Asia Parks Congress

Jointly convened by Sabah Parks, Malaysia and IUCN, the 2™ Asia Parks Congress identified
the most important actions needed in the next decade to strengthen systems of protected
and conserved areas across Asia. The Congress attracted 1,200 participants from across
Asia and beyond.

The delegates agreed on the Kota Kinabalu Declaration, a powerful statement that calls
on Asian and global leaders to negotiate strong global targets for protected and conserved
areas. These should be implemented with sufficient financial resources to ensure fair and
effective results for people and nature. The Declaration focused in particular on the roles
of Indigenous peoples and some local communities as customary owners, and custodians,
of biodiversity and socio-ecological well-being. It recognises the importance of the full,
effective and meaningful participation of Indigenous peoples and local communities in
policy-making arenas that have the potential to impact on their collective and individual
rights, and on their lands, territories and resources.

WCPA commits to supporting follow-up actions on the congress priorities including
additional emphasis and stronger work programmes on urban parks, ecosystem restoration,
and the nexus between biodiversity conservation, climate and human health.

Dr Madhu Rao, Chair of the IUCN World Commission on Protected
Areas, YB Datuk Jafri Hj Ariffin, Minister of Tourism, Culture and
Environment for Sabah, YB Datuk Jeffrey Kitingan, Deputy Chief
Minister of Sabah, and Dr Grethel Aguilar, IUCN Deputy Director
General for Regions and Outposted Offices, attend the Opening
Ceremony of the 2" Asia Parks Congress, in Sabah, Malaysia,
25May 2022. © 2" Asia Parks Congress
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| PARKS CONGRESS

ASIA
1,200+ [ RARTISIANTS

The Congress was unique in that it convened voices
from Indigenous peoples as well as youth, and
acknowledged the need to go beyond business as usual
to strengthen parks for biodiversity conservation and
for human well-being.

Dr Madhu Rao, Chair of the IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas,
speaking at the Asia Parks Congress
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Oslo International Environmental Law Conference

» Embracing the transformative power of law in Oslo

Convened by the IUCN World Commission on Environmental Law (WCEL) and the University
of Oslo, the 2022 Oslo International Environmental Law Conference brought together 377 in-
person participants and over 400 online participants to engage in a broad exchange about the
role of law and the role and responsibilities of the legal profession in bringing about change.

The conference coincided with a notable year of anniversaries for international environmental
law: 50 years after the Stockholm Declaration that led to the creation of the UN Environment
Programme, 40 after the adoption of the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea, and 30 after the
Rio Declaration on Environment and Development and the Rio Conventions. Building on these
foundations, the event at the University of Oslo focused on the Transformative Power of Law:
Addressing Global Environmental Challenges.

It was a fruitful gathering, not only in identifying emerging global environmental problems
and legal challenges but also in discussing how the law can be shaped to address those issues.
Topics addressed included the meaning and implementation of the environmental rule of law;
legal tools to protect ecosystems; new thinking around rights, including human rights to a clean
and healthy environment and the concept of Rights of Nature; developments in international
environmental treaty-making; and the regulation of financial and development institutions.

We need to innovate in environmental law,
we need to prioritise an approach that puts
the environment at the centre of the law and
imposes a duty on humans to make choices
consistent with ecological integrity and
planetary boundaries.

Inger Andersen, Under-Secretary-General of the United Nations and
Executive Director of the UN Environment Programme

Participants of the 2022 Oslo International Environmental Law Conference. © Sean Southey
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A strong and trusted voice for nature

IUCN achieved significant successes in international policy for nature, working with stakeholders across geographies and sectors to secure the future for life on Earth.

The Director General, President and other members of the wider IUCN leadership team participated as keynote speakers, panellists and expert contributors across several
important international gatherings addressing important topics such as the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), climate change, marine biodiversity

and international environmental law.

» United Nations and the Sustainable Development
Goals

UN Environment Assembly 5.2
Nairobi, Kenya - February/March

IUCN strongly supported the adoption of resolution 5/5 Nature-based Solutions for
supporting sustainable development, in which leaders decided on a multilaterally agreed
definition of NbS largely based on that adopted by IUCN Members in 2016; as well as
resolution 5/14 End plastic pollution: Towards an international legally binding instrument,
which expands on an IUCN Resolution from the World Conservation Congress 2021 on the
global plastic pollution crisis.

Stockholm + 50
Stockholm, Sweden - June

At a special event to mark the 50" anniversary of the declaration that led to the creation
of the UN Environment Programme, IUCN’s call for urgent, bold efforts towards a truly
sustainable global economy contributed to the strong recommendations that emerged for
accelerating action towards a healthy planet for the prosperity of all.

High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development
New York, USA - July

With IUCN being an official custodian agency for five indicators for SDGs 14 (life below water)
and 15 (life on land), its Director General joined the panel conducting an in-depth review of
SDG 15 and described the most critical focus areas for its implementation. He emphasised
links with critical elements that would need to be included in the then post-2020 global
biodiversity framework.

INTERNATIONAL POLICY ADVOCACY

UN General Assembly
New York, USA - September

UN General Assembly. © IUCN / David O’Connor

IUCN co-sponsored several engagements on the margins of the UN General Assembly
including Scaling Finance for Nature and Countdown to COP15, in which the IUCN President
joined a high-level panel on conserving, restoring and sustainably using nature.
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» Marine biodiversity policy

UN Ocean Conference
Lisbon, Portugal - June/July

IUCN was actively engaged in the conference, with a seat on the Advisory Committee, and
provided inputs to the Lisbon Declaration - many of which were taken up - and the eight
interactive dialogues that focused on supporting the implementation of SDG 14. Outcomes
included the West Indian Ocean region’s commitment to the 30x30 goals in marine areas and
several statements calling for a deep-sea mining moratorium, echoing IUCN’s Resolution
122 from the last World Conservation Congress.

Intergovernmental Conference (IGC) on Marine Biodiversity of Areas
Beyond National Jurisdiction (BBNJ)
New York, USA - March and August

IUCN contributions included briefings for negotiators and detailed textual proposals
to address the key elements of the proposed treaty. The IUCN World Commission on
Environmental Law and World Commission on Protected Areas were also active at both
sessions of the Conference. Following significant progress in 2022, IUCN will continue to

support the final push for a treaty in 2023.

} © pexels.com / Tom Fisk

» Rio Conventions

UN Convention to Combat Desertification COP15
Abidjan, Cdte d’lvoire - May

As the first COP since IUCN launched the Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions, this
was an opportunity for IUCN to strongly encourage Parties to endorse the definition and
adopt NbS interventions to restore land. A COP decision on strengthening relationships
with other multilateral environmental agreements explicitly cited the importance of
implementing NbS.

UN Framework Convention on Climate Change COP27
Sharm el-Sheikh, Egypt - November

IUCN Director General Dr Bruno Oberle at COP27. © IISD/ENB / Mike Muzurakis

IUCNwasstrongly engaged at UNFCCC COP27. Akey priority was to secure greater recognition
for the critical role that Nature-based Solutions can play in addressing the interlinked
climate and biodiversity crises. This was fully achieved with the COP27 Implementation
Plan, for the first time explicitly encouraging governments to consider NbS for their climate
mitigation and adaptation actions. COP27 also witnessed the successful launch of the
Enhancing Nature-based Solutions for an Accelerated Climate Transformation (ENACT)
initiative by Egyptian COP27 Presidency together with Germany and IUCN, to provide a
more integrated global approach to NbS. Other new IUCN initiatives at COP27 included the
launch of the Mangrove Breakthrough in collaboration with the Global Mangrove Alliance
and the High-Level Climate Champions.
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UN Convention on Biological Diversity COP15
Montreal, Canada - December
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Sonia Pefia Moreno, Director of IUCN’s International Policy Centre, delivering IUCN’s statement at the stocktaking plenary at the
Convention on Biological Diversity COP15. © 1ISD/ENB / Mike Muzurakis

Bringing a strong delegation to CBD COP15, IUCN partnered with other organisations to
host the Nature Positive Pavilion, which held over 100 events with the goal of engaging
and building convergence in support of an ambitious Global Biodiversity Framework (GBF).
IUCN followed negotiations on this and other COP agenda items, actively engaging with
Parties to relay its main messages. While the main outcome - the Kunming-Montreal Global
Biodiversity Framework - does not go as far as IUCN wanted, it takes many steps in the right
direction, as highlighted in the Union’s post-event statement. The Monitoring Framework of
the GBF, and in particular its headline indicators, is also a substantial success for IUCN, with
numerous indicators derived from IUCN data.

IUCN delegation at the Convention on Biological Diversity COP15. © IUCN / Matthias Fiechter

INTERNATIONAL POLICY ADVOCACY

» Other multilateral environmental agreements and
processes

Ramsar Convention COP14
Geneva, Switzerland and Wuhan, China - November

As an International Organisation Partner (IOP), IUCN has the opportunity to contribute at
all levels to shaping the development and progress of the Ramsar Convention. The COP14
delegation advised Parties and influenced a range of resolutions, including on recognising
the potential of wetlands as a Nature-based Solution for climate mitigation and adaptation.
IUCN co-led an IOP side event on the importance of collaborating to protect and conserve
Ramsar sites, and the IUCN Commission on Ecosystem Management launched the book
Wetlands and People at Risk.

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild
Fauna and Flora COP19

Panama City, Panama - November

IUCN analyses of proposals to amend the CITES appendices, conducted jointly with
TRAFFIC, the Wildlife Trade Monitoring Network, were specifically mentioned by several
Parties during discussions and most of the adopted decisions aligned with the conclusions
of the analyses. A total of 52 proposals were considered, affecting more than 400 species;
the majority were adopted.

Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee (INC) for the
Development of an International Legally Binding Instrument on
Plastic Pollution, Including in the Marine Environment

Punta del Este, Uruguay - November/December

IUCN’s delegation for this first meeting of the INC engaged in the context of the two
Resolutions concerning plastic pollution adopted at the World Conservation Congress in
Marseille. The Union’s principal contributions included a position paper and five legal briefs
for negotiators, the latter developed by the World Commission on Environmental Law. The
moderation of roundtables at the multi-stakeholder forum provided an opportunity to
engage with governments and civil society to better understand their positions.

Plenary of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on
Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES 9)
Bonn, Germany - July

IUCN’s inputs to the ninth session of the IPBES Plenary (IPBES 9) were substantive. In
particular, IUCN secured the inclusion of information based on IUCN standards and other
inputs in the thematic assessment of the sustainable use of wild species.
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Publications

In 2022, IUCN registered around 1.75 million document downloads from the IUCN Library System.

There were 13 new IUCN ISBN publications and 13 translations of IUCN ISBN publications in 2022. Fourteen of these 26
publications were developed with [IUCN Members or Commissions.

» IUCN ISBN publications released in 2022 with most online attention

Situation analysis on the roles and risks of wildlife in the emergence @ Wildlife and power lines
saaa | of human infectious diseases e o s Guidelines for preventing and mitigating wildlife mortality

associated with electricity distribution networks
Commissions involved

N . sse

[T P T Lreap——

=) Selecting species and populations for monitoring of genetic diversity

Selecting species and
populations for monitoring of
geretio diversity

Guidelines for using A Global Standard for the
Identification of Key Biodiversity Areas
Version 1.2

Commissions involved

*-SSC

R

Commissions involved

¥,SSC EAWCPA
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A solution package for plastic pollution - from measurement to action
Insights from Eastern and Southern Africa, Southeast Asia, and the

Mediterranean These Altmetric Attention Scores were captured on 31 January 2023. The live Altmetric Attention Score for these
publications may fluctuate, and the most up-to-date data is available on the publication page.
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» Top 5 IUCN ISBN publications downloaded in 2022 . IUCN PUBLICATIONS REACHED

ONLINE
1‘7 = Primary Microplastics in the Oceans wwebb?ym IUCN Global Standard for Nature- y M E N T I 0 N S

A Global Evaluation of Sources #— =% based Solutions
m First edition
T 28,312 downloads bt
“:..l o= Lo 17,123 downloads
MENTIONS ON TWITTER
Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Approaches to sustainable 5 3 7 2
FIRAEGSET | Management Categories agriculture V V ’
Including IUCN WCPA best practice guidance Exploring the pathways towards the MENTIONS ON WIKIPEDIA

m on recognising protected areas and assigning future of farming
management categories and governance types

20,041 downloads

14,484 downloads

938

MENTIONS IN NEWS OUTLETS

World conservation strategy
Living resource conservation for sustainable
development

WORLD
CONSERVATION
STRATEGY

A 17,924 downloads

1
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Knowledge products based on IUCN Standards

Using IUCN Standards to generate global scale datasets to help identify and address the most pressing nature conservation challenges

» IUCN Red List of Threatened
Species™

... The IUCN Red List is the world’s most
'.. trusted information source on global species
RED biodiversity and the gold standard for
LIST identifying threatened species. Produced
with the active participation and support
of the Red List Partnership, it includes the Green Status
of Species tool, which assesses the recovery of species
populations, measuring conservation success.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= 8,056 new species added to the Red List, for a total of
150,388

= 11 Green Status species added, for a total of 37

= Publication of the first continent-wide assessment of
hoverflies in Europe

Partnership between IUCN SSC,IUCN Secretariat,and several
IUCN Members and partners: New Mexico BioPark Society,
BirdLife International, Botanic Gardens Conservation
International, Center for Biodiversity Outcomes, Arizona
State University, Conservation International, Re:wild,
NatureServe, Missouri Botanical Gardens, Royal Botanic
Gardens, Kew, Department of Biology and Biotechnologies,
Sapienza University of Rome, Senckenberg Society for
Nature Research, Texas A&M University, and The Zoological

Society of London.

» IUCN Red List of Ecosystems

The IUCN Red List of Ecosystems, supported

through the IUCN RLE Partnership, is a tool to

assess the conservation status of ecosystems.

=M |tis based on scientific criteria for performing

RED LIST OF evidence-based analyses of the risk of

R ecosystem collapse. It builds on the IUCN

Global Ecosystem Typology for classifying and mapping all
Earth’s ecosystems.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= Red List of Ecosystems listed as a headline indicator for
monitoring Goal A of the Global Biodiversity Framework
agreed at COP15

= Publication of the [UCN Global Ecosystem Typology for
classifying and mapping all Earth’s ecosystems, closing
a major gap in our ability to measure the state of nature

= 950,750 km? of the world’s ecosystems re-assessed in 2022

The RLE Partnership is comprised of IUCN CEM, IUCN
Secretariat, University of New South Wales, Deakin
University, Arizona State University, Provita, Wildlife

Conservation Society, Coastal Oceans Research and

Development - Indian Ocean (Cordio) East Africa, and

Conservacién Internacional Colombia.

Red List of Ecosystems
{FE &4 | thematic group
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» IUCN Global Invasive Species
Database

The Global Invasive Species Database (GISD) incorporates
impact assessments conducted using the IUCN Standard for
classifying the impact of alien species on the environment,
EICAT (Environmental Impact Classification of Alien Taxa).

2022 HIGHLIGHTS
= EICAT assessments for 314 invasive alien species submitted
for approval
= 113 ofthese approved and published on the GISD, which
now covers over 1,000 invasive species

= EICAT used for papers published on the impacts of rabbits
and hares as alien species and of acacias introduced to
South Africa

GISD is managed by the ISSG of the IUCN Species Survival
Commission. Until 2014, the GISD was hosted by the
University of Auckland, New Zealand. The GISD has been
redesigned with support from the Abu Dhabi Environment
Agency, the Italian Ministry of Environment and ISPRA - the
Institute for Environmental Protection and Research, Italy.

£ Invasive Species
” ol o e

: Specialist Grou
ﬁl@éﬁ: BG. | (856) P
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https://www.iucnredlist.org
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https://www.birdlife.org/
https://www.bgci.org/
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https://sustainability-innovation.asu.edu/biodiversityoutcomes/
https://www.asu.edu/
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https://www.conservation.org/
https://www.rewild.org/
https://www.natureserve.org/
https://www.missouribotanicalgarden.org/
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https://bbcd.bio.uniroma1.it/bbcd/en
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https://www.deakin.edu.au/
https://www.asu.edu/
https://www.provita.org.ve/
https://www.wcs.org/
https://www.wcs.org/
https://cordioea.net/
https://cordioea.net/
https://www.conservation.org.co/
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/commission-ecosystem-management
https://www.iucn.org/commissions/species-survival-commission

» World Database of Key
Biodiversity Areas

IUCN publishes the global standard

I( A for identifying Key Biodiversity Areas
(KBAs), the most important places

in the world for species and their

habitats. IUCN co-hosts the KBA Secretariat with BirdLife

International and is one of 13 global conservation
organisations in the KBA Partnership.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= Launch, by BirdLife International and the KBA Partnership,
of the World Database of Key Biodiversity Areas with
instructional videos on the KBA YouTube channel

= 114 assessments for new (24) or existing KBAs in 21
different countries, bringing the total to 16,336, available
on the KBA Data dashboard

= Onlinetraining on KBA identification launched in English,
French, Spanish and Portuguese

The KBA Partnership includes IUCN, BirdLife International,
Conservation International, Wildlife Conservation Society,
American Bird Conservancy, Amphibian Survival Alliance,
Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund, Global Environment
Facility, NatureServe, Rainforest Trust, Re:wild, World
Wildlife Fund, RSPB

‘ 9-'—":— e
,__|...._._... = il me nalag
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» Protected Planet
' prﬂtEc‘[Ed The Protected Planet initiative,

from IUCN and managed by

PlanE't UNEP-WCMC, provides key

resources to help understand

the current state of protected and conserved areas globally.

It encompasses the World Database on Protected Areas
(WDPA) and other associated databases and indicators.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS
= A total of 142,799 records updated or verified in the
databases, representing 50% of the total

= Publication of Conserving our sea of islands: the state
of protected and conserved areas in Oceania, with the
WDPA as a central source

= Protected Planet databases cited as sources for monitoring
indicators for the Global Biodiversity Framework agreed
at COP15

Protected Planet is a joint project between UN Environment
Programme and JUCN. The compilation and management of
the databasesis carried out by UN Environment Programme
World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC),
in collaboration with governments, non-governmental
organisations, academia and industry.

e
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https://www.keybiodiversityareas.org
https://wdkba.keybiodiversityareas.org/login
https://www.youtube.com/@keybiodiversityareascommun9918
https://www.keybiodiversityareas.org/kba-data
https://www.conservationtraining.org/course/index.php?categoryid=150
https://www.iucn.org/
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Other IUCN Standards

» Global Standard for Nature-based
Solutions™

The Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions™ sets a
common basis of understanding for NbS and contributes to
transformational changes by supporting the development of
policy and improving practice. It is intended for use by anyone
working on the verification, design and scaling up of NbS.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= 729 new users added to the Standard’s user group, for a total
of 2,021

= Adoption of a definition of NbS at the fifth session of the
United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA-5), based on
IUCN’s definition

= Launch of the Enhancing Nature-based Solutions for an
Accelerated Climate Transformation (ENACT) Partnership
at COP27

The IUCN Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions is
developed injoint collaboration with the [UCN Secretariat and the
IUCN Commissions, in particular the Commission on Ecosystem
Management (CEM).

L)
CEM

} © pixabay.com / Sasin Tipchai

» Green List of Protected and
Conserved Areas Standard

B dekat, The IUCN Green List of Protected and Conserved
Areas Standard is the global standard for
effective area-based conservation. It provides
, ’ governments and site managers with a
et framework for assessing and improving the
'.G_F:EE.H_LIE.J[ conservation status of their protected areas, and
a way to publicly demonstrate their commitment

to conservation and sustainable development.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= 16 new protected and conserved areas provisionally listed
in five countries (China, France, Mexico, Peru, Zambia) and
pending the establishment and deliberation of the new Green
List Panel to achieve certification. There are currently 77
certified sites worldwide, with more than 700 more candidate
areas working to implement and achieve the Standard.

= ThelUCN Green List formally recognised by the Convention on
Biological Diversity’s (CBD) new Global Biodiversity Framework

= Creation of new strategic partnerships with ESRI and the High
Ambition Coalition for Nature and People, as well as a new
engagement from the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation
to support the global development of the IUCN Green List

The Green List of Protected and Conserved Areas Standard is
owned by IUCN. IUCN’s World Commission on Protected Areas
(WCPA) appoints the Green List Committee, which oversees the
review and maintenance of the IUCN Green List Standard.
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Decision-support tools and platforms

IUCN hosts or supports a range of other tools providing access to valuable global datasets.

» IUCN Contributions for Nature Platform
Mandated by the IUCN Nature 2030 Programme, the Contributions
for Nature Platform allows all IUCN constituents - Members, National

.
(N e
and Regional Committees, Commission members and the Secretariat

- to document conservation and restoration actions over the decade 2021-2030. This
documentation is used to measure potential contributions towards global goals for
biodiversity, specifically extinction risk reduction and climate change mitigation.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS
= Platform launched in October at the IUCN Leaders Forum in Jeju, Republic of Korea
= Bythe end of the year, over 4,000 contributions received from more than 100 constituents

» PANORAMA - Solutions for a Healthy Planet

FAI"‘“ a im PANORAMA is a global knowledge exchange initiative
that provides an open, neutral platform to document and
promote examples of inspiring, replicable solutions across a range of conservation and
sustainable development topics. PANORAMA promotes solutions across different themes
through dedicated communities, each coordinated by one or several partner organisations.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS
= Two new communities launched: PANORAMA One Health and PANORAMA Mitigation
= 179 new solution case studies published across the entire platform

= Six new compilations published under the Solutions in Focus series, covering topics such
as sustainable tourism, zoonotic disease and technology for nature conservation

Secretariat-led with the support of partners, including GIZ, UNEP, GRID-Arendal, Rare, World

Bank, UNDP, ICCROM, IFOAM Organics International, ICOMOS, EcoHealth Alliance, OCTO.

Supported by funding from Germany’s BMUV, Norway’s Ministry of Climate and Environment,
and the Global Environment Facility.
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» Integrated Biodiversity Assessment Tool (IBAT)
IUCN is part of the IBAT Alliance, whose website offers a ‘one-stop shop’

IBAI data search service for those seeking authoritative global biodiversity
imegmed Bednersty | INTOrmation. Licensees can use its web-based mapping and reporting tool to

Fapesari Tool access datasets including the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species™, World
Database on Protected Areas and World Database of Key Biodiversity Areas.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS
= Roll out of the Species Threat Abatement and Restoration (STAR) metric that measures
the contribution investments can make to reducing species’ extinction risk; around 1,500
STAR reports downloaded
= The reach of IBAT extended through a new partnership with ESG data provider and
consultancy FairSupply

The IBAT Alliance includes IUCN, BirdLife International, Conservation International, and UN
Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre (UNEP-WCMC).

» Restoration Barometer

. The IUCN Restoration Barometer is a tool to track the progress of
g m restoration targets across all terrestrial ecosystems, including coastal and

i inland waters. Based on the core principles of flexibility and inclusivity, it is
currently the only such tool used by national and sub-national governments.

2022 HIGHLIGHTS

= Datasubmitted by 22 countries; for the 18 countries whose data is already validated, a total
of more than 14 million hectares of land under restoration

= The flagship Restoration Barometer report launched, demonstrating the progress that
reporting countries are making on their restoration targets

Secretariat-led with the support of Germany’s Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature
Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer Protection (BMUV).
IUCN | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 ﬂ
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» Portfolio annual distribution » Distribution by Programme Area
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Contributing to

Impact Targets

Fully realised rights, roles, obligations and
responsibilities for just and inclusive conservation
and sustainable use of nature

Equitable and effective governance of natural
resources at all levels to benefit people and nature

Enhanced realisation and enforcement of the
environmental rule of law

© UNES / Andrea Padilla
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Highlights

» Restoring nature and livelihoods
on the Rio Doce

The Rio Doce Panel completed its five-year mandate in 2022.
It was convened and managed by IUCN following the 2015
collapse of a tailings dam at a mining site in Brazil, which
resulted in 19 deaths and severe environmental, economic
and social damage along 670 km of the Rio Doce.

The role of the Panel was to produce technical and scientific
recommendations to the Renova Foundation, responsible for
the restoration of the Rio Doce Basin. The goal was to ensure
that the people who had depended on the river for their
livelihood could do so once again, and in better conditions
than before. Composed of independent experts, the Panel’s
recommendations concerned long-term ecosystem health,
resilience and the promotion of sustainable social and
economic development.

PORTFOLIO
. VALUE AT
END OF 2022

28.6 |2

VALUE

PROGRAMME PORTFOLIO 2022 | PEOPLE

v
3 October 2018, Renova Foundation | Expedition Caminho da Reparagdo. Aerial view of the
mouth of the Rio Doce. © NITRO Historias Visuais

What | value most about this process is how it demonstrates the credibility
that IUCN has: it was called upon to create an independent panel of
scientists and request that they work for a five-year period. Having that
level of trust, including from the mining sector that was the partner in

this effort to recover the quality of life of people and the river ecosystem,
means that the institution itself - IUCN - is credible worldwide.

Yolanda Kakabadse, Chair of the Rio Doce Panel, former Minister of the Environment of Ecuador and former President of IUCN
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https://www.iucn.org/our-work/region/south-america/our-work/rio-doce-panel

Embracing people-centred
conservation

In 2022, several newly launched projects emphasised [UCN’s
commitment to advance inclusive conservation that places
Indigenous peoples, local communities, and women and
girls at the centre. The Inclusive Conservation Initiative
(ICI) was officially introduced at both the climate COP in
Sharm el-Sheikh and the biodiversity COP in Montreal. ICI
aims to enhance the efforts of Indigenous peoples and local
communities (IPLCs) to steward land, water and natural
resources to deliver global biodiversity benefits for all.
Supported by the Global Environment Facility, it is the first
pilot of its kind, designed to adapt environmental financing
mechanisms to increase funding to IPLCs, making it a
significant milestone for conservation funding. The Initiative
isimplemented by IUCN and Conservation International.

Indigenous women are recognised as crucial knowledge
holders, transmitters and important stewards of nature,
yet they are often those who receive the least direct
support in initiatives, at all scales. IUCN collaborated with
its Indigenous Peoples’ Organisation Members to directly
address this, through a new phase of the Indigenous Insights
- Stewarding the Earth campaign. Launched at COP27 in

Guests attend the launch of the Climate
Change Gender Action Plan. © IUCN Pakistan
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Neema Lekule of the Ujamma Community Resource Team (Tanzania) speaks ata COP27 event on gender and
climate action. She sits alongside Sara Bo Che of Tikonel (Guatemala). Neema, Sara and Aisatou Musa (not
pictured) participated at COP27 under a mentorship programme for emerging and youth Indigenous women
leaders at the climate conference called Indigenous Insights - Stewarding the Earth. © IUCN / Matthias Fiechter

Sharm el-Sheikh, IUCN Indigenous Peoples’ Organisation
Members selected three emerging Indigenous women
leaders, who received mentorship support from established
Indigenous women leaders and IUCN to navigate global
climate policy negotiations and advocacy engagements at
COP27.

In July 2022, the government of Pakistan launched its first
Climate Change Gender Action Plan (ccGAP), with support
from IUCN. Notably, it was the first such ccGAP to benefit
from financial support from the Green Climate Fund. It
provides the country with a new roadmap to incorporate
gender equality and women’s empowerment in climate
change discourse and actions.

Strengthening its capacity to address gender-based violence
and environmental linkages, in 2022 IUCN took over
management of the Resilient, Inclusive and Sustainable

Environments (RISE) grants challenge. A call for proposals
resulted in 375 applications for funding, with five projects
selected. These projects span Cambodia, Kenya, Indonesia,
Mexico, the Philippines, Thailand and Zambia, and address
the ways in which gender-based violence impacts the
safe participation of women in community-protected
areas, ecotourism, fisheries, wildlife conservancies and
environmental defence.

With support from USAID, IUCN’s Regional Coastal
Biodiversity Project focuses on social inclusion in sites
of high coastal biodiversity in Honduras, Guatemala
and El Salvador. In 2022, an action plan was designed to
integrate the needs and interests of women, men, youth
and Indigenous peoples to reduce gender gaps, improve
livelihoods and strengthen the governance of marine coastal
resources.
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https://www.iucn.org/story/202209/new-masculinities-strategy-conserving-coastal-biodiversity-central-america-0
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Impact Targets

Ecosystems are retained and restored, species are
conserved and recovered, and KBAs are safeguarded.

Thriving production landscapes are sustainable, and
nature’s value and benefits are safeguarded in the
long term.

Nature and people thrive in cities while delivering
solutions for urban challenges and a sustainable
ecological footprint.

© Smart DESERT
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Highlights

» Ensuring fair and effective
approaches to protected areas

The inclusion of a protected areas target that
specifically mentions the role of Indigenous peoples
and local communities in the newly agreed Global
Biodiversity Framework owed much to the work
of IUCN and its Members. Target 3 of the Kunming-
Montreal agreement reflects a Resolution previously
adopted by IUCN to protect and conserve at least 30%
of lands, freshwater and oceans by 2030. Importantly,
it also carries forward the Resolution’s emphasis on
recognising and respecting the rights of Indigenous
peoples.

The IUCN Green List Standard provides a critically
importantinstrumentto ensure that such conservation
is done well and equitably. It goes beyond simple
measures of whether a given area counts towards a
target, to also cover questions around who is being
consulted and whose values are respected. As an
example of this, one of the newest additions to the
Green List is the Machiguenga Communal Reserve
in Peru. It is co-managed by the National Service of
Natural Areas Protected by the State (SERNANP) and
the Indigenous communities in the area: Matsigenka,
Ashaninka, Kaquinte and Yine-yami.

» Enhancing urban biodiversity and promoting NbS in cities

The IUCN Urban Alliance unveiled a new knowledge product for measuring the ecological performance of cities: the IUCN Urban
Nature Index (UNI). Comprising a set of 30 indicator topics across six themes, the UNI is intended to help cities understand their
impacts on nature, set science-based targets for improvement, and monitor progress accordingly.

Technical support was provided by experts drawn from IUCN Members and Commissions, and representatives of 26 local
governments. The I[UCN Secretariat has started to apply the UNI in several cities in Central America and Europe. The release of the
Making Nature’s City toolkit at the COP15 meeting in Montreal, co-funded by IUCN and part of the IUCN Urban Toolbox, provides
cities with an additional tool to help plan their development in a way that supports nature.

IUCN’s office in Central America worked with four municipalities in Guatemala to support the design of new financing mechanisms
that will enable the implementation of Nature-based Solutions for water. Building on previous work showing that ecosystem
restoration is a cost-effective measure to improve the availability and quality of water, during 2022 I[UCN worked with the
participating municipalities in the metropolitan area of Guatemala to assess their capacities to move forward with ecosystem
restoration schemes in 2023.

» Global endeavour to boost regenerative agriculture approaches

Regenl0 is an international collaboration that aims to put farmers at the heart of food system transformation so that by 2030,
over 50% of the world’s food can be produced in a way that benefits people, nature and climate. Initiated at COP26 in Glasgow,
with IUCN as one of the founding partners, Regen10 took flight at COP27 in Sharm el-Sheikh, having secured funding from The
Rockefeller Foundation and IKEA Foundation.

With a farmer-centric approach, Regen10 will gather and share evidence on the potential of regenerative food systems and
connect those already using regenerative approaches, including Indigenous peoples and local communities. A new team focused
on agriculture was created in the IUCN Secretariat during 2022, ensuring that initiatives such as Regen10 can take full advantage
of the Union’s technical and policy support.
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https://www.iucn.org/press-release/202212/16-protected-and-conserved-areas-china-france-mexico-peru-and-zambia-achieve
https://www.iucn.org/press-release/202212/16-protected-and-conserved-areas-china-france-mexico-peru-and-zambia-achieve
https://regen10.org
https://iucnurbanalliance.org/making-natures-city-toolkit-presented-at-cbd-cop15/
https://iucnurbanalliance.org/making-natures-city-toolkit-presented-at-cbd-cop15/
https://digital.iucn.org/es/regiones/mexico-america-central-y-el-caribe/agua-la-medida-de-nuestro-futuro/
https://digital.iucn.org/es/regiones/mexico-america-central-y-el-caribe/agua-la-medida-de-nuestro-futuro/

» On-the-ground impact for species

In 2022, IUCN continued supporting species conservation
action through carefully targeted funding. Evidence of the
impact of this work came with the reassessment of tigers
on the IUCN Red List: while the tiger remains Endangered,
the fact that numbers are stable or increasing shows that
projects like the IUCN Integrated Tiger Habitat Conservation
Programme (ITHCP) are succeeding and recovery is possible.

A new phase of the ITHCP was launched in June, with
German Development Cooperation providing an additional
€12.5 million up to 2027. Species eligibility was expanded to
include leopards and clouded leopards.

Red List data also fed into the launch by IUCN Save Our
Species (SOS) of a second call for proposals through the
Fondation Segré Conservation Action Fund, focusing on
scaled reptiles. Grants were available both for on-the-ground
conservation action and to support research activities.

Another call for proposals in 2022 targeted sturgeons, the
most threatened group of species surveyed by IUCN. Funding
from La Prairie Group will see SOS Sturgeons supporting
three projects over five years.

An evaluation of the SOS Lemurs initiative rated the project
as being very successful, thanks to its simple grant-making
procedures and accessibility to many NGOs, including small
entities from civil society.

The lessons learned through IUCN SOS, with over 290
successful projects to date, are shared via regular webinars.
In 2022, more than 2,000 people registered to attend
webinars on managing wildlife diseases and on human-
wildlife conflict.

PROGRAMME PORTFOLIO 2022 | LAND
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Sumatran tiger. © Flicker / Brian Mckay
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Contributing to

Impact Targets

The loss of freshwater species and decline of
freshwater ecosystem health is halted, and
restoration initiated.

Equitable access to water resources and all

D associated ecosystem services are secured.
6 Water governance, law and investment decisions
address the multiple values of nature and incorporate

‘/// biodiversity knowledge.

Mozambique delta
© Shutterstock / Toby Grayson
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Highlights

» First wild river national park in
Europe

IUCN has been working to support the effective protection
of one of Europe’s last wild free-flowing rivers. With funding
from outdoor clothing company Patagonia, IUCN formed
an expert group in 2022 to undertake the preparatory work
that enabled the government of Albania to declare, in March
2023, Europe’s first wild river national park around the Vjosa
River. A phased approach has seen the protection initially
of the main stem of the Vjosa, along with three free-flowing
tributaries and all adjacent public land.

The longer-term target is to develop a transboundary
arrangement that would see the entire length of the river
- known as the Aoos in Greece - and all of its free-flowing
tributaries being protected in line with the IUCN Green List
Standard for equitable and effective protected areas. A
major step towards this target was taken at the CBD COP15
in Montreal, where the government of Greece committed to
enhanced protection for the source and headwaters of the
Vjosa-Aoos river system within the country’s North Pindos
National Park.

v

Vjosa-Aoos River at Greek-Albanian border.
©IUCN / Ulrika Aberg

PROGRAMME PORTFOLIO 2022 | WATER

» Getting the full picture on freshwater species

Work on assessment of freshwater fishes intensified in 2022, with 2,228 species, mostly found in South America, added to the
IUCN Red List of Threatened Species™. This significant progress means that 2023 will see freshwater fishes becoming the first
large group of freshwater species to be comprehensively assessed on the Red List. This will open the way to large-scale analyses
of these data to inform policy and management decisions.

These Red List assessments, mostly carried out by members of the IUCN Species Survival Commission, are important not only for
the species themselves, but also as they feed into the definition of Key Biodiversity Areas (KBAs).

During 2022, two landmark reports examined the conservation status of freshwater species and habitats in KBAs, one in the
Sebou river basin in Morocco and one in the Douro river basin in Spain and Portugal. In the latter, for example, 122 species were
recorded, including 11 classified as threatened with extinction.

» Fostering diplomacy-based solutions for shared water ecosystems

Launched in 2011, the BRIDGE programme - Building River Dialogue and Governance - entered its fifth phase
in 2022. Directly targeting SDG 6.5.2 on transboundary water cooperation, the programme focuses on the use
of diplomacy within a hydrological context between states, to help lead them towards workable solutions for
sharing water. Through BRIDGE, IUCN works directly with many State Members and their agencies.

BRIDGE Last year’s achievements included enhanced cooperation between Mozambique and Zimbabwe, in the Buzi-
Pungwe-Save basins, including the establishment of a river basin organisation. 2022 also saw a new bi-national
water commission begin operating, covering nine transboundary river basins in Ecuador and Peru.

Funded from the outset by the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, BRIDGE has been highly effective in leveraging
additional financing. The fifth phase brought the total funding to CHF 26 million, with current co-financing and leveraged

investment of almost CHF 102 million.
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https://www.iucn.org/resources/grey-literature/conservation-status-freshwater-species-and-habitats-key-biodiversity
https://www.iucn.org/story/202211/freshwater-biodiversity-douro-river-basin-portugal-and-spain
https://digital.iucn.org/water/building-river-dialogue/
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Impact Targets

The loss of marine species and decline of
marine ecosystem integrity is halted, and
restoration initiated.

Uses of marine natural resources generate
overall positive biodiversity outcomes
and sustain livelihood benefits for coastal
communities.

i Ocean and coastal processes are maintained as
a key foundation for planetary stability.

Mother seal with her pup in seagrass.
© Ocean Image Bank / Jeff Hester
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Highlights

» A pivotal year for the ocean

The 2021 World Conservation Congress gave IUCN a strong
mandate to act for the conservation and sustainable use of
marine biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction (BBNJ).
2022 was therefore a pivotal year for high seas governance,
kicking off with the One Ocean Summit in Brest, France,
where IUCN was instrumental in the formation and
promotion of a high ambition coalition aiming to accelerate
progress towards a BBNJ treaty. Such a treaty would be a
legally-binding instrument under the UN Convention on the
Law of the Sea.

IUCN contributions to the fourth and fifth intergovernmental
conferences on BBNJ - in March and August - were crucial,
both for raising awareness and ambition around the need
for a treaty and for the provision of expert technical input.
IUCN’s detailed commentary on the draft treaty text was
widely used by state delegates as they neared agreement,
drawing on the deep expertise of the Union’s World
Commission on Environmental Law.

In addition to the climate and biodiversity COP meetings in
Sharm el-Sheikh and Montreal, June’s UN Ocean Conference
in Lisbon provided a further occasion where IUCN used its

» Improving conservation of marine
species

In an important step forward for the protection of sharks,
for which over one-third of species are endangered, the
IUCN Species Survival Commission’s Shark Specialist Group
developed a set of standardised criteria for Important
Shark and Ray Areas (ISRAs). These are discrete portions of
habitats, critical to shark species, that have the potential to
be managed for conservation. Now that the criteria have
been established, the delineation of the first sets of ISRAs
will help improve conservation approaches that will benefit
sharks.

The potential use of the new ISRA criteria was demonstrated
through the application of the equivalent instrument for
marine mammals during an IUCN workshop in Costa Rica
in June 2022. The workshop resulted in the definition of 36
new Important Marine Mammal Areas (IMMASs) in the Pacific
Ocean from northern Mexico to the southern tip of Chile.
Living in or passing through this region are nearly half of the
world’s 132 marine mammal species and more than 30 of
them are now included in IMMAs.

v
Leopard Shark, Ningaloo Reef, Australia.
© Ocean Image Bank / Lewis Burnett

influence to keep high seas governance in the forefront. A
multimedia story - High Time for the High Seas, webinars,
workshops and policy briefs all fed into this effort. With the
fifth intergovernmental conference on BBNJ set to reopen in
February 2023, hopes were high for the swift conclusion of
the urgently needed treaty.
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https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-08/igc5-iucn-commentary-on-bbnj-further-revised-draft.pdf
https://digital.iucn.org/marine/high-time-for-high-seas/
https://www.iucn.org/story/202209/new-hope-conservation-sharks-rays-and-chimaeras-important-shark-and-ray-areas-isras
https://www.iucn.org/story/202209/new-hope-conservation-sharks-rays-and-chimaeras-important-shark-and-ray-areas-isras

» Deep seabed mining: defending the
final frontier

Rising demand for metals, including those used to produce wind
turbines and solar panels, has increased global pressure to permit
deep seabed mining. However, building on Resolution 122 from the
2021 World Conservation Congress, IUCN continued to press for a
moratorium on marine mining at depths of more than 200 m. By the
end of 2022, 13 states had joined the call for a moratorium.

This momentum contributed to a positive result at the biodiversity
COP in Montreal, with a decision calling for the International
Seabed Authority (ISA) to better understand the risks to life in the
deep sea and ensure that no harm to marine biodiversity and the
environment would occur, before permitting deep seabed mining
to go ahead.

v
Blanket octopus. © Ocean Image Bank / Mike Bartick
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» Tackling plastic pollution in policy and practice

Two IUCN Resolutions from the 2021 World Conservation Congress called for strong action on plastic pollution. Since
then, the Union has continued actively contributing to progress towards a global plastics treaty, notably at the first
session of the UNEP-fostered intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC) in Uruguay at the end of 2022. In addition
to bringing scientific knowledge and technical expertise to the INC process, IUCN plays a critical role in shaping
international coalitions.

IUCN is also working with individual states in this context. Starting in 2023, work in five West African countries, for
example, will serve to develop technical capacities to understand what is at stake and what should be the role of
national governments in a global plastics treaty.

A landmark report published in June 2022 outlined the lessons learned from the application of the IUCN/UNEP plastic
pollution hotspotting methodology in eight case studies from Africa, the Mediterranean and Asia. Hotspotting allows
governments to better understand plastic waste and leakage, as well as solutions to these problems.

2022 also saw IUCN launching two further resources to help countries tackle plastic pollution. The first is the Blueprint
for reducing plastic waste on islands, providing a how-to guide on developing a national plan to reduce plastic waste
and eliminate leakage. The second is the Deplastify calculator that recommends the most appropriate technologies
and processes to convert, use or dispose of non-commercially recyclable plastics. Like the Blueprint, it was designed
as part of a project focused on small island developing states but can be scaled for use in any country.

Juvenile fish swimming in plastic. © Ocean Image Bank / Naja Bertolt Jensen
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Impact Targets

Countries use Nature-based Solutions and
innovations in financing to scale up effective
adaptation to the impacts of climate change.

Countries scale up Nature-based Solutions to
reach climate mitigation targets.

Responses to climate change and its impacts
are informed by scientific assessment and

\ knowledge to avoid adverse outcomes for
nature and people.

© unsplash.com / Erik Mclean
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Highlights

> IUCN at the heart of climate
action

In its May 2022 report, the UN’s Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC) made clear that the climate and
biodiversity crises are inextricably linked and need to be
addressed jointly. With this highly significant scientific
backing, I[UCN continued to promote Nature-based Solutions
(NbS) to address climate change, land and ecosystem
degradation, and biodiversity loss. While nature suffers
greatly from the effects of climate change, it also provides
solutions to both limit the future impact of climate change
and to help vulnerable communities and ecosystems adapt
to unavoidable climate impacts.

IUCN worked with the Egyptian COP27 Presidency to launch
the ENACT (Enhancing Nature-based Solutions for an
Accelerated Climate Transformation) initiative in November
2022. Co-chaired by the German Government, ENACT aims
to amplify and strengthen collaboration between existing
NbS efforts and partnerships, and foster an enabling
environment for NbS across the Rio Conventions. The
initiative relies on IUCN’s unparalleled ability to bring state
and non-state actors together.

With a focus on accelerating the uptake of NbS for climate
change adaptation, the FEBA (Friends of Ecosystem-based
Adaptation) collaborative network, administered by IUCN,
has become the gold standard for convening diverse
partners for knowledge sharing and co-production. In
the past year, FEBA has spearheaded work on integrating
NbS into the Sphere Handbook, which guides responses
to humanitarian crises, as well as working with the World
Health Organization on producing health-sector guidance
on climate and NbS. This epitomises IUCN’s efforts to move
beyond traditional partners, a necessary step to break out of
‘business-as-usual’ patterns.

PROGRAMME PORTFOLIO 2022 | CLIMATE

» Championing the role of mangroves for climate action

With involvement from IUCN’s Members, Commissions and Secretariat, the Global Mangrove Alliance (GMA) is an important
collaboration targeting both climate change mitigation and adaptation. During 2022, its work was recognised with the award
of the USD 2 million Food Planet Prize and collaboration with the UN Climate Change High-Level Champions on launching the
Mangrove Breakthrough. This is a science-based, measurable and achievable goal to collectively restore and protect mangroves
at the scale needed to secure the future of these vital coastal forests. Long-term financing is to be ensured by achieving an
investment of USD 4 billion by 2030 to conserve and revitalise these coastal ecosystems.

v
Mangroves and coral, Kimbe Bay, Papua New
Guinea. © Ocean Image Bank / Matt Curnock
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» Boosting Blue Carbon projects
worldwide

The Blue Carbon Accelerator Fund (BCAF) was established
by Australia and IUCN as a dedicated funding scheme to
help increase conservation and restoration of coastal
blue carbon ecosystems, which naturally store carbon
taken from the atmosphere and the ocean. The aim is
to aid climate change mitigation and adaptation, and to
protect both biodiversity and the livelihoods of coastal
communities.

BCAF began its work in 2022, selecting four projects
following a Readiness Support call. In Benin, Peru,
Madagascar and the Philippines, these blue carbon
projects will receive funding to help them prepare for
implementation and access future private sector finance,
growing the global portfolio of credible and investment-
ready blue carbon projects.

2022
VALUE
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IUCN is grateful to its growing membership and partners, who are vital to the success of the Union’s work.

IUCN receives support from a wide variety of partners, with a total income in 2022 of CHF 176.8 million. This includes project income, framework income, membership dues and
philanthropy income.

» 2022 Funding sources » 2022 Top contributors

IUCN’s growing global portfolio, executed in partnership with its Members and partners, puts [IUCN’s
science-based knowledge into practice. Over the course of 2022, IUCN’s portfolio grew to CHF 906.9
million, with the top five donors being the European Commission, the Global Environment Facility
(GEF), the government of Germany, the Green Climate Fund (GCF) and the Gordon and Betty Moore

Private sector
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CONTRIBUTION TO IUCN (IN CHF MILLION) INCLUDING PROJECT FUNDING, FRAMEWORK FUNDING AND
MEMBERSHIP DUES
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» Framework Partners

Framework Partners are a dedicated group who support IUCN’s four-
year Programme, Nature 2030, through multi-year core funding.
TheirsupportallowsIUCNtoinnovate, produce compellingevidence
on emerging challenges, continue to shape global consensus, and
create greater impact for nature. Framework Partners are also
important project partners. In 2022, IUCN welcomed Luxembourg
as a new Framework Partner.

NEW PROJECTS
SECURED
IN 2022

. 1142

The Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC), a
long-standing Framework Partner, worked with IUCN in 2022 to
strengthen the Union’s operational performance management

capacities at the regional level. Measures to further enhance MILLION
development relevancy and effectiveness of programmatic
activities on the ground include:
= Support for the recruitment and onboarding of MEL (monitoring, v
H H H H . H. E. Joélle Welfring, Minister for the Environment,
evaluation and learning) expertise at regional level; Ciimate Change ans Sustainable Development of
= Thematic evaluations and studies that focus on learning, with a gurembourg and 1UCH Birector General Dr 8runo
X . . erle signed a Framework Partnership agreement
view to elevating IUCN’s transformational change work; during a ceremony at COP27 in Egypt on 17
November2022. © IUCN
= Support for strengthening IUCN’s evaluation function.
IUCN’s Framework Partners are:
I B - sty OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS %7« MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT B is= SISt ITERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT COOPERATION
. = MINISTRY FOR THE ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE CHANGE AND n .
E MINISTRY FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS I o nciE DEVELOPMENT ’ SWISS AGENCY FOR DEVELOPMENT AND COOPERATION (SDC)
FRANCE H|EE \oRWAY BE= usa
= FRENCH DEVELOPMENT AGENCY IHIE - \ORWEGIAN AGENCY FOR DEVELOPMENT COOPERATION (NORAD) = = DEPARTMENT OF STATE

= MINISTRY FOR THE ECOLOGICAL AND INCLUSIVE TRANSITION
= MINISTRY FOR EUROPE AND FOREIGN AFFAIRS

= MINISTRY FOR OVERSEAS FRANCE

= MINISTRY FOR AGRICULTURE AND FOOD
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» HIGHLIGHTED PARTNERSHIPS

SPORTS FOR NATURE

IUCN joined forces with Sails of Change, co-founded
by IUCN Patrons of Nature Dona Bertarelli and Yann
Guichard, to launch the Sports for Nature initiative. The
aim is to help sports organisations mitigate negative
impacts on biodiversity and climate and encourage
them to take concrete steps to protect biodiversity.

Patrons of Nature Yann Guichard and Dona
Bertarelli, and Dr Bruno Oberle, at the launch
of the Sports for Nature initiative. © IUCN /
Jo Simoes

PATRONS OF NATURE

IUCN welcomed Mr Eric Jing, Chairman and CEO of Ant Group, and Mr
Jian Xue, Chairman of Jiangsu Wenfeng Group, as its newest Patrons
of Nature. Both accomplished business leaders and philanthropists,
they join a growing group of leaders committed to providing strategic
guidance and support, generating investment for IUCN’s Programme
and for specific initiatives.

ENACT (Enhancing Nature-based Solutions for an
Accelerated Climate Transformation)

Launched in Sharm el-Sheikh by the Egyptian COP27 Presidency,
the government of Germany and IUCN, ENACT will coordinate global
efforts to address climate change, land and ecosystem degradation,
and biodiversity loss through Nature-based Solutions. The initiative
will also produce an annual report to update subsequent climate COP
meetings on progress in implementing NbS commitments.

THREE-YEAR COOPERATION AGREEMENT RENEWED
WITH KFW DEVELOPMENT BANK

For more than a decade, IUCN and KfW have collaborated on a number
of terrestrial and marine conservation programmes and projects.
Renewed engagement will focus on protected and conserved areas,
coastal and marine protected areas, sustainable finance, restoration
and agriculture, as well as human rights-based approaches.

Saving ecosystems and stopping the loss of biodiversity is among the top priorities for
KfW Development Bank. With IUCN we have an experienced and competent partner

in pushing this agenda globally, regionally and at national level. Our cooperation has
been productive and trustful for many years and was again formalised in a recently
renewed Memorandum of Understanding. It serves as a solid basis to engage even more
in preserving nature - and thus tackle one of the most serious challenges of our times

together.

Christiane Laibach, Member of the Executive Board at KfW

STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

» NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS
IN HUMANITARIAN CONTEXTS

Nature-based Solutions (NbS) can contribute to the
humanitarian imperative of preventing and alleviating
human suffering arising out of disasters and conflicts.
In November 2022, at the climate COP meeting in Egypt,
IUCN and IFRC (International Federation of Red Cross
and Red Crescent Societies) formalised a partnership
with nature as a cornerstone. In a Memorandum of
Understanding, the organisations agree to join forces
for supporting implementation of NbS for climate and
disaster resilience in the coming decades, to protect at-
risk communities including children, youth, women and
Indigenous peoples.

Mount Kilimanjaro. © pixabay.com / Antony Trivet
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https://www.iucn.org/news/202210/iucn-and-sails-change-launch-sports-nature-partnership-help-sports-become-nature
https://www.iucn.org/our-work/topic/nature-based-solutions-climate/our-work/enact-initiative#:~:text=The%20ENACT%20initiative%20coordinates%20global,COP%2027%20Presidency%20official%20programme.

Partnering with business

Economic ‘success’ can no longer come at nature’s expense. Through a holistic approach, IUCN works with leading companies in key sectors to improve their environmental
performance, transform economies and promote solutions that work for people and nature.

» NESPRESSO » LA PRAIRIE

This collaboration aims to address Nespresso’s impacts and dependencies LA PRAI RI E In collaboration with La Prairie Group, IUCN Save Our

\ on biodiversity, working towards improved resilience and alignment with Species (SOS) launched a call for proposals for SOS
k community and conservation needs. IUCN has helped to identify priority areas SWITZERLAND Sturgeons. This is a five-year initiative to support on-
for landscape level actions in Nespresso’s sourcing regions by using the STAR the-ground conservation actions that protect threatened sturgeons and their habitats, as

(Species Threat Abatement and Restoration) metric and expert insights. well as improve the livelihoods of the people who depend on them in the Rioni and Lower

Danube river areas.

» PERNOD RICARD

.:ﬁ% The Pernod Ricard group supports the IUCN Agriculture and

Pe d Ri d Land Health initiative aimed at accelerating action towards
s s sustainable agriculture and land health through Nature-
“® based Solutions. The initiative focuses on fostering dialogue
between conservation and agri-food actors, developing knowledge and tools to monitor
nature and ecosystem services, and adopting targeted nature-positive investments and
projects.

Crdafmenn S ale Sosiddd

The Sterlet (Acipenser ruthenus), native to the Danube River Basin, is classified as
Vulnerable by the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species™. 4
© Wrangel
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» BOOSTING REGIONAL MEL
CAPABILITIES AND LEADERSHIP
ACCOUNTABILITY

Funding from the Swiss Agency for Development and
Cooperation (SDC), an IUCN Framework Partner, provided a
boost to the Union’s regional capabilities for accountability,
performance monitoring and quality assurance. This
support enabled the hiring of three full-time coordinators
for monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL) to be based in
IUCN regional offices. They have taken the lead in upgrading
regional portfolio planning and monitoring frameworks,
performance and risk management policy implementation,
and strengthening project MEL capacities.

With the new coordinators in place, a community of practice
around performance and assurance was launched and
meets regularly, also improving communication between
global and regional levels.

The Secretariat increased accountability at leadership
level through improved performance-based planning and
budgeting methodologies and through the roll-out of a new
Manager Scorecard.

OVERSIGHT AND ASSURANCE

» IMPROVED RISK MANAGEMENT

IUCN continues to strengthen its risk maturity level and to
promote a culture of awareness around risk and internal
control across the Secretariat. In 2022, IUCN designed,
revised and rolled out its new Enterprise Risk Management
Policy and Risk Appetite Statement. Implementation of the
policy is guided by a capacity development framework for
first and second lines of defence.

Lefkada, Greece. © pixabay.com/
Julian Hacker

|

» EVALUATING IUCN’S WORK

Evaluation coverage and variety increased in 2022, with the
completion of thirteen independent project evaluations
and an increase in commissioning of independent strategic
reviews of the relevance, efficiency and effectiveness of
key international engagements, events and investments.
Published evaluations can be found in IUCN’s online
database.

TheSecretariatalsosecured fundingfrom SDCto commission
two large-scale thematic evaluations of the relevance,
efficiency and effectiveness of IUCN’s regional portfolios in
influencing transformational changes in policy and action
for the benefit of nature, conservation, biodiversity and
societies. These evaluations will be launched in 2023.



https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-11/iucn-enterprise-risk-management-policy-2022.pdf
https://www.iucn.org/sites/default/files/2022-11/iucn-enterprise-risk-management-policy-2022.pdf
https://www.iucn.org/about-iucn/accountability-and-reporting/external-reviews-and-evaluations/evaluations-database
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Report Currency: CHF (’000)

2022 2021

Secretariat Unrestricted Project Agreements Total
EXTERNAL OPERATING INCOME
Membership dues 12,549 - 12,549
Retention of staff income tax 1,700 - 1,700
Agreements income 596 98,144 98,740
Framework income 13,647 - 13,647
Other operating income 4,790 5,549 10,339
TOTAL EXTERNAL OPERATING INCOME 32,190 127,433 159,623 33,282 103,693 136,975
INTERNAL ALLOCATIONS
Unrestricted allocations to projects
Cross charges from projects 38108 (38,108)
Other internal allocations 1176 (1176)
TOTAL INTERNAL ALLOCATIONS 4272 (427172) = 39284 (39.284)
OPERATING EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 57,310 8,458 65,768
Consultants 1,572 22,057 23,629
Grants to partners 306 4738 4,444
Travel 1135 8,157 9.292
Workshops and conferences 257 2,793 3,050
Publications and printing costs 347 2,072 2,419
Office and general administrative costs 3,155 5191 8,346
Vehicles & equipment - costs & maintenance 957 8,301 9,258
Professional fees or costs 682 1,601 2,283
Depreciation and amortisation 2,068 1 2,069
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURE 70,282 82,369 152,651 67,789 62,769 130,558

|
NET OPERATING SURPLUS 4,080 2,892 6,972 4,777 1,640 6,417
OTHER INCOME - EXPENDITURE
Interest income 206 45 251
Financial charges (415) (261) (676)
Capital gains (losses) 308 B 308
Net (losses) on foreign exchange (43) (1,281) (1,324)
Exchange differences on revaluation of project balances - 208 208
Net movements in provision and write-offs (2,018) 849 (1169)
2021 Congress 2,873 (1,200) 1,673
TOTAL OTHER INCOME - EXPENDITURE (4,096) (2,892) (6,988) omn (1,640) (729)
|

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (16) - (16) 5,688 - 5,688
ALLOCATION AND APPROPRIATIONS TO DESIGNATED RESERVES
Allocations to designated reserves (1,320) - (1,320)
Appropriations from designated reserves 322 - 322
Appropriations from unrestricted reserves
Net allocations/appropriations to reserves 1,019 - 1,019 (998) - (998)
RESULTS FOR THE YEAR AFTER CHANGES IN RESERVES 1,003 - 1,003 4,690 - 4,690
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FAC.10.2
IUCN, INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CONSERVATION OF NATURE
10th Meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee
23 May 2023

Financial Results 2022

Origin: Chief Financial Officer
Action requested:
The Finance and Audit Committee is asked to review the 2022 financial statements and make
a recommendation to Council on their approval, including approval of the proposed transfers
to/from reserves.

Background

1. The audit of the 2022 financial statements has been completed. The auditors expect to give a clean
audit opinion. The auditors will present their audit report during the meeting of the 23 May together
with details of the audit work performed and their findings.

2. Related documents:
e FAC 10.2a: The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
e FAC10.2b: Review of the 2021 financial statements
e FAC 10.2c: Report of the auditors

Issues and Considerations

3. The result for the year after reserve movements was a surplus of CHF 1.0m vs. a budget of CHF1.0.
This compares to the 2021-2024 Financial Plan target of CHF 0.5m.

4. An operating surplus of CHF 4.1m was achieved compared to a budget of CHF 2.1m and a previous
year operating surplus of CHF 4.8m. The operating surplus was, however, substantially utilised to fund
unbudgeted investment losses of CHF 1.7m and foreign exchange losses of CHF 1.3m.

5. The result after the aforementioned items and other income and expenditure items was breakeven.
After taking into consideration allocations from reserves to fund specific items approved by Council
and to set aside funds for specific future costs, the end result was a surplus of CHF 1 million.

6. There was a significant increase in project implementation (CHF 12m above budget) as a result of a
growing project portfolio and a focus on delivery. This led to higher rates of cost recovery (increase in
funding of staff costs and infrastructure costs from the project portfolio) which in turn helped drive
the positive operating surplus.

7. At the end of 2022 total reserves stood at CHF 23.0m (2021: CHF 23.0m)



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources
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IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2022
Report Currency: CHF ('000)

Notes 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and short term bank deposits 11l 91,414 74,316
Financial assets \Y) 13,498 16,034
Membership dues receivables (net) Vi 907 611
Staff receivables Vil 466 273
Receivables from partner organisations Vil - 135
Advances to implementing partners and grantees IX 26,575 17,610
Prepayments 968 1,083
Donor funds receivable X 8,812 8,584
Project agreement receivables Xl 13,594 9,885
Framework agreements receivables Xl - 640
Other account receivables 2,342 1,892
Total Current assets 158,576 131,063
Non-current assets
Fixed assets (net) Xl 23,784 24,607
Intangible assets (net) XV 365 251
Total Non-current assets 24,149 24,858
TOTAL ASSETS 182,725 155,921
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Current liabilities
Membership dues paid in advance 2,341 2,705
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities XV 15,994 13,180
Social charges payable 426 726
Payable to partner organisations Vil 105 -
Project agreement advances Xl 104,149 82,707
Deferred unrestricted income XIX 6,758 3,132
Deferred income buildings XIX 471 467
New building loan XX 175 252
Advances from hosted organisations XVII 184 220
Miscellaneous current liabilities 824 253
Total Current liabilities 131,427 103,642
Provisions
Projects in deficit XVIII 765 1,065
Staff leave and repatriation 2,001 2,306
Staff termination XVII 2,018 1,971
Other provisions 380 -
Total Provisions 5,164 5,342
Non-current liabilities
Long-term deferred income XIX 13,367 12,154
New building loan XX 9,799 11,799
Total Non-current liabilities 23,166 23,953
Funds and Unrestricted Reserves
Designated reserves XXI 2,942 2,380
Unrestricted reserves XXI 20,026 20,604
Total Funds and Unrestricted Reserves 22,968 22,984
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 182,725 155,921



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Report Currency: CHF (‘000)

2022 2021
Secretariat Project Secretariat Project
Notes Unrestricted Agreements Total Unrestricted Agreements Total

EXTERNAL OPERATING INCOME

Membership dues 13,463 - 13,463 12.549 - 12,549
Retention of staff income tax XXIII 1,671 - 1,671 1.700 - 1,700
Agreements income 200 124,262 124,462 596 98,144 98,740
Framework income XXIV 12,430 1,317 13,747 13.647 - 13,647
Other operating income XXV 4,426 1,854 6,280 4.790 5,549 10,339
TOTAL EXTERNAL OPERATING INCOME 32,190 127,433 159,623 33.282 103,693 136,975
INTERNAL ALLOCATIONS

Unrestricted allocations to projects (2,292) 2,292 -

Cross charges from projects 42,667 (42,667) - 38,108 (38,108) -
Other internal allocations 1,797 (1,797) - 1,176 (1,176) -
TOTAL INTERNAL ALLOCATIONS 42,172 (42,172) - 39,284 (39,284) -
OPERATING EXPENDITURE

Staff costs 58,684 9,800 68,484 57,310 8,458 65,768
Consultants 1,726 22,135 23,861 1,572 22,057 23,629
Grants to partners 323 14,167 14,490 306 4,138 4,444
Travel 2,134 11,848 13,982 1,135 8,157 9,292
Workshops and conferences 301 3,651 3,952 257 2,793 3,050
Publications and printing costs 365 2,710 3,075 347 2,072 2,419
Office and general administrative costs 3,140 5,722 8,862 3,155 5,191 8,346
Vehicles & equipment — costs & maintenance 1,070 10,570 11,640 957 8,301 9,258
Professional fees or costs 489 1,703 2,192 682 1,601 2,283
Depreciation and amortisation 2,050 63 2,113 2,068 1 2,069
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURE 70,282 82,369 152,651 67,789 62,769 130,558
NET OPERATING SURPLUS 4,080 2,892 6,972 4,777 1,640 6,417
OTHER INCOME — EXPENDITURE

Interest income XX 440 10 450 206 45 251
Financial charges XX (567) (190) (757) (415) (261) (676)
Capital gains (losses) v (1,663) - (1,663) 308 - 308
Net (losses) on foreign exchange (1,294) (2,600) (3,894) (43) (1,281) (1,324)
Exchange differences on revaluation of project balances XXV - (369) (369) - 208 208
Net movements in provision and write-offs (1,012) 257 (755) (2,018) 849 (1,169)
2021 Congress XXVII - - - 2,873 (1,200) 1,673
TOTAL OTHER INCOME — EXPENDITURE (4,096) (2,892) (6,988) 911 (1,640) (729)
NET SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (16) - (16) 5,688 - 5,688
Allocation and appropriations to designated reserves

Allocations to designated reserves (826) - (826) (1,320) - (1,320)
Appropriations from designated reserves 1,045 - 1,045 322 - 322
Appropriations from unrestricted reserves 800 800

Net allocations/appropriations to reserves 1,019 - 1,019 (998) - (998)
RESULTS FOR THE YEAR AFTER CHANGES IN RESERVES 1,003 - 1,003 4,690 - 4,690



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

CONSOLIDATED FUNDS AND RESERVE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Report Currency: CHF ('000)

Balance at Other Results for Balance at
1 January Allocations  Appropriations movements theyear 31 December
2022
Designated reserves
Reserve for statutory meetings 328 500 - - - 828
Other designated reserves 1,147 326 (1,045) 781 - 1,209
Renovation Fund 905 - - - - 905
Total designated reserves 2,380 826 (1,045) 781 2,942
Unrestricted reserves
Currency Translation Reserve - - - - - -
IUCN Fund 8,621 - - - - 8,621
Retained surpluses 11,983 - (800) (781) 1,003 11,405
Total unrestricted reserves 20,604 - (800) (781) 1,003 20,026
Total reserves 22,984 826 (1,845) - 1,003 22,968
2021
Designated reserves
Reserve for statutory meetings 93 235 - - - 328
Other designated reserves 1,590 1,075 (322) (1,196) - 1,147
Renovation Fund 895 10 - - - 905
Total designated reserves 2,578 1,320 (322) (1,196) - 2,380
Unrestricted reserves
Currency Translation Reserve 347 - - (347) - -
IUCN Fund 8,621 - - - - 8,621
Retained surpluses 6,097 - - 1,196 4,690 11,983
Total unrestricted reserves 15,065 - - 849 4,690 20,604
Total reserves 17,643 1,320 (322) (347) 4,690 22,984



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Report Currency: CHF ('000)

Notes 2022 2021
Cash flow from operations
Surplus/(deficit) from operations (16) 5,688
Effect of exchange rate XXI - (347)
Net balance from operations (16) 5,341
Depreciation of fixed assets Xl 1,940 1,892
Amortisation and write-down of intangible assets XV 113 178
Increase / (decrease) in provisions for projects in deficit XVl (300) (3,621)
Increase / (decrease) in staff leave and repatriation liabilities (305) 14
Increase / (decrease) in the provision for staff termination XVIII 47 281
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions 380 -
(Increase) / decrease in membership dues receivables (net) Vi (296) 461
(Increase) / decrease in staff receivables Vil (193) (39)
(Increase) / decrease in receivables from partner organisations Vil 240 (74)
(Increase) / decrease in advances to implementing partners IX (8,965) (5,325)
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments 115 1,729
(Increase) / decrease in donor funds receivable X (228) (2,430)
(Increase) / decrease in project agreement receivables Xl (3,709) 4,831
(Increase) / decrease in framework agreements receivable Xl 640 (439)
(Increase) / decrease in other accounts receivable (453) (695)
Increase / (decrease) in membership dues paid in advance (364) 448
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities XV 2,814 1,996
Increase / (decrease) in social charges payable (300) 501
Increase / (decrease) in project agreement advances Xl 21,442 9,778
Increase / (decrease) in miscellaneous current liabilities 572 (145)
Increase / (decrease) in hosted organisations advances XVl (37) 118
(Increase) / decrease in financial assets 2,536 (14)
Increase / (decrease) in current deferred income XIX 3,626 (1,844)
Increase / (decrease) in deferred income XIX (456) (467)
(Gain) / loss on disposal of fixed assets Xl 4 (6)
Total cash flow from operations 18,847 12,469
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets Xl (1,132) (709)
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 11 12
Purchase of intangible assets X1V (227) (153)
Total cash flow from investing activities (1,348) (850)
Cash flow from financing activities
Loan repayment XX (401) (401)
Total cash flow from financing activities (401) (401)
Net cash inflow for the year 17,098 11,218
Cash and short term deposits at the beginning of the year 1} 74,316 63,098
Cash and short term deposits at the end of the year 1] 91,414 74,316



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022
All amounts in CHF ("000) unless otherwise stated

ORGANISATION AND ACTIVITY

IUCN, International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources is a membership organisation
constituted by statutes adopted in 1948 at a conference convened by the Republic of France. The membership is
comprised of states, governmental agencies, international and national non-governmental organisations, and
indigenous peoples organisations. IUCN is registered in Gland, Switzerland as an association under article 60 of the
Swiss Civil Code and is solely responsible, to the exclusion of its Members, for all its transactions and commitments.

The highest governing body of IUCN is the World Conservation Congress, which is composed of the membership of
IUCN. The World Conservation Congress elects the Council, which has authority to govern IUCN between meetings.

In 1986, IUCN concluded a fiscal agreement with the Swiss government, which granted IUCN exemption from all
Swiss taxes. IUCN has been granted observer status at the United Nations.

The mission of IUCN is to influence, encourage and assist societies throughout the world to conserve the integrity
and diversity of nature and to ensure that any use of natural resources is equitable and ecologically sustainable.

. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DEFINITIONS

All amounts are expressed in thousands of Swiss francs (CHF) unless otherwise indicated.

1. Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and
loans that are measured at revalued amount or at fair value. The financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

2. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all offices of IUCN and those entities over which IUCN has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. In certain countries,
multiple project offices may exist.

Branches:

« Asia Region
o Asia Regional Office (Thailand)
« Bangladesh Country Office
o Cambodia Country Office
o China Country Office
¢ India Country Office
o Lao PDR Country Office
« Maldives Project Office
e Myanmar Country Office
¢ Nepal Country Office
o Pakistan Country Office
e Sri Lanka Country Office
e Thailand Country Office
e Vietnam Country Office
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022
All amounts in CHF ("000) unless otherwise stated

« Eastern and Southern Africa Region
« Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Office (Kenya)
o Ethiopia Project Office
« Kenya Country Office
o Malawi Project Office
o Mozambique Country Office
o Rwanda Country Office
o South Africa Country Office
o Tanzania Country Office
« Uganda Country Office
e Zimbabwe Project Office

« Eastern Europe and Central Asia Regional Office (Serbia)
« Europe Regional Office (Germany)

« Centre for Mediterranean Cooperation (Spain)

« North America Regional Office

« North America Regional Office (USA)
« Permanent Mission to the UN Representation Office (New York)

« Oceania Regional Office

« Oceania Regional Office (Fiji)

« Samoa Project Office

e Solomon Islands Project Office
« Vanuatu Project Office

« Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean Region
« Regional Office for Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean (Costa Rica)
o Barbados Project Office
o El Salvador Country Office
o Guatemala Country Office
o Honduras Country Office
o Mexico Project Office
o Saint Kitts and Nevis Project Office

« South America Regional Office (Ecuador)
« Cambridge Office (United Kingdom)

« West and Central Africa Region
o West and Central Africa Regional Office (Senegal)
e Burkina Faso Country Office
e Cameroon Country Office
« Chad Project Office
« Ghana Project Office
« Guinea Project Office
e Guinea Bissau Country Office
« Mali Country Office
e Mauritania Country Office
« Niger Country Office
« Senegal Country Office

« West Asia Regional Office

o West Asia Regional Office (Jordan)
« Saudi Arabia Project Office
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Other entities:

The International Union for the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Registered Trustees
(WASAA Trust Fund, Nairobi)

UICN, Bureau de Représentation aupres de I'Union Européenne aisbl
Associacao UICN

IUCN UK (A Company Limited by Guarantee)

IUCN Maldives

IUCN PNG Mangrove Rehabilitation and Management Project Association (dormant)

3. Currency of accounts

a)

b)

Reporting currency

In accordance with IUCN’s Regulations, the reporting currency for the consolidated financial statements is
Swiss francs (CHF).

Functional currency

A separate set of accounts is maintained for each country where IUCN has a presence. The functional
currency for each country is the national currency of the country with the exception of Fiji (USD), Costa
Rica (USD) and Serbia (EUR) where the currency chosen better reflects the economic environment in which
the office operates.

4. Foreign exchange

The following accounting policies are applied when converting transactions and balances to the reporting currency:

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the office ledger currency are converted to the ledger
currency and recorded on the basis of the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. At the
end of the year all balances maintained in transaction currencies are translated to the currency of the office
ledger at the year-end rate. The gains and losses incurred are recognised in the income statement of each
office ledger.

Except for fixed assets which are stated at historical values, non-Swiss franc balances in the consolidated
balance sheet are translated to CHF at the year-end exchange rate and the resulting net unrealised gain or
loss included in the balance sheet as a currency translation adjustment reserve.

Project balances are expressed in the currency of the underlying donor contract. At the end of the year,
project balances are translated to the currency of the office ledger in which they reside at the year-end
rate. The gains and losses incurred are recognised in the income statement of each office ledger. Project
balances are further revalued from the ledger currency to CHF at the year-end exchange rate. The resulting
net unrealised gain or loss is recognised in the currency translation adjustment reserve.

If, as a result of the application of the above translation policies, a net deficit would occur on the currency
translation adjustment reserve the deficit would be recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

5. Income

Income comprises membership dues from Members, contributions from donors, investment income, Swiss
government tax rebates, rental of office space, and sundry income from the sale of other goods and services.

a)

Membership dues

Membership dues are fixed by the World Conservation Congress, the supreme governing body of IUCN,
and are recognised as unrestricted income in the year they fall due.
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b) Voluntary donations

c)

Voluntary donations comprise framework agreements with donors for the core activities of IUCN and
project agreements for project activities.

Framework agreements income
Framework agreements are normally for periods of more than one year and may be subject to restrictions
in their use in terms of geography or thematic area.

Unrestricted Framework agreements income is recognised in the income statement once the agreement
has been signed and in accordance with the amounts specified in the agreement for each calendar year. In
the event that the framework income is not fully utilised in the calendar year, it is recorded as deferred
income.

Restricted Framework agreements income is recorded as Projects agreements income and is recognised as
expenditure is incurred and the conditions fulfilled.

Framework agreements income received in advance of the period to which it relates is recorded as deferred
unrestricted income.

Staff in-kind contributions

In-kind contributions of staff are recognised at fair value over the period of the employment contract as
both income and expenditure in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement. The fair value of in-
kind staff is taken as the average cost that would be incurred by IUCN, if it were to directly employ a person
in a similar position.

Project agreements income

Project agreements income is restricted for specific project activities detailed in project agreements and
subject to specific conditions imposed by the donor. Income is recognised as expenditure is incurred. At
the year end, the balance of projects are recorded as “Project agreement receivables” (current assets)
where expenditure incurred on projects exceeded amounts advanced by donors, and under “Project
agreement advances” (current liabilities) where advances from donors exceeded expenditure incurred.

Retention of staff income tax

Non-Swiss staff resident in Switzerland are exempt from paying taxes on their IUCN earnings on the basis
of a fiscal agreement between IUCN and the Swiss Government, which entered into effect on 1st January
1987. In order to ensure equitable treatment of both Swiss and non-Swiss staff at Headquarters, an internal
tax is levied on non-Swiss staff resident in Switzerland. This is shown as Retention of staff income tax in the
Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement and is classified as unrestricted income.

6. Expenditure

All unrestricted expenditure and project expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis.

7. Cross charges from projects

Cross charges from projects represent transfers between Project agreements and Secretariat unrestricted funds
and comprise staff time charged to projects and indirect costs funded from projects.

Staff time charges

IUCN staff costs are recorded as unrestricted costs. Staff working on projects charge their time spent on
projects through a time recording system. Project agreements are charged the cost of staff time and the
Secretariat unrestricted fund receives the income.
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Indirect cost recoveries

Indirect costs are recorded as unrestricted costs. Indirect costs funded from project agreements are cross
charged to projects and the Secretariat unrestricted fund receives the income.
8. Financial assets

Financial assets are recorded at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair values of financial assets are
recognised in the income statement in the year that they occur as are foreign exchange gains or losses resulting
from the revaluation of financial assets denominated in currencies other than the CHF.

9. Fixed assets

a) Purchased assets

Purchased fixed assets are recorded at historic cost and capitalised when the purchase price is one
thousand CHF or above, or the equivalent in other currencies, and when ownership resides with [UCN.

b) In-kind assets

In-kind contributions of fixed assets are capitalised at fair value and the donations recorded as deferred
income which is then recognised in the income statement over the estimated useful life of the assets in
line with the depreciation charges.

c) Donations for the purchase of fixed assets

Cash donations received for the purchase of fixed assets are recorded as deferred income and recognised
in the income statement over the estimated useful life of the corresponding asset in line with the
depreciation charge.

d) Depreciation

Fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on the following basis:

Computer hardware 3-5 years
Vehicles 4-7 years
Office furniture and equipment 4-7 years
Building renovations 10 -20 years
Building installations 20 years
Building infrastructures 50 years

10. Intangible assets

Purchased computer software is capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire the software and bring it
to its point of use.

Software is depreciated over its estimated useful life on a straight line basis over 2 to 7 years.

The cost of developing in-house software is expensed in the year that the costs are incurred.

11. Provisions
a) Provision for membership dues receivable

A general provision for outstanding membership dues is made to recognise the probability that not all dues
will be received. The increase or decrease in the total provision is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement. Provision for membership dues in arrears is calculated on the following basis, based on the
outstanding balance at the close of the year.
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Membership dues outstanding for:

Three years or more 100%
Two years 67%
One year 33%

The provision against the arrears of some state members and state agencies is calculated on an individual
basis after a review of their own special situations.

Full provision is made against the dues owed by Members whose rights have been rescinded by the IUCN
World Conservation Congress or vote of the membership.

b) Provision for projects in deficit
A provision for projects in deficit is made in respect of those projects where expenditure has exceeded
income and where the receipt of future additional funds to cover the excess expenditure is uncertain.

c) Staff terminations

Provision is made for the estimated cost of known redundancies. A redundancy is considered to be known
when a management decision has been taken and communicated to the staff concerned.

Additional provision is made when there is a local legal obligation.
d) Staff leave and repatriation
Provision is made for holiday entitlement which has not been used by staff at the year-end. The balance at
the year-end also includes the estimated cost of repatriation of international staff.
12. Loans at below market rate of interest

Loans are initially measured at fair value. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loan and the proceeds received. The benefit is recorded as
deferred income and recognised over the period of the loan. The market rate of interest is reviewed annually and
the carrying value adjusted for significant movements in the market rate.

An amount equivalent to the interest that would have been incurred had the loan been acquired at a market rate
is recognised as both an income and an expense in the income and expenditure statement on an annual basis.
13. Hosted organisations

IUCN hosts certain organisations. A hosted organisation has no legal status in the country of operation and
therefore operates under the legal umbrella of IUCN. A hosted organisation is operationally autonomous and is
accountable to its own management and governance structures and not to IUCN.

Income received and expenditure incurred on behalf of a hosted organisation is accounted for in separate project
accounts and excluded from consolidation. Funds held by, or advanced by, IUCN on behalf of hosted organisations
are recorded on the balance sheet as advances from/to hosted organisations.
14. Reserves
IUCN maintains the following reserves:
a) Unrestricted reserves
IUCN Fund

The IUCN Fund is maintained in order to preserve IUCN’s capital base. The use of the Fund is governed by
the IUCN Council and is maintained as a reserve of last resort.

11
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Currency translation reserves

The Currency translation reserve represents changes in the value of the net assets of IUCN at the
consolidation level as a result of movements of functional currencies against the Swiss franc. If the
translation of balances in ledger currency exceeds the balance on the currency translation reserve the
amount is recognised as part of net gains/losses on foreign exchange on the income and expenditure
statement.

Retained surpluses

The Retained surpluses represent other unrestricted reserves.

b) Designated reserves

Designated reserves represent funds set aside from unrestricted reserves to cover the cost of future events
or activities. The designation may be reversed at any time by the IUCN Council.

Reserve for statutory meetings

The Reserve for statutory meetings represents amounts allocated from unrestricted funds to cover costs
of future meetings of the World Conservation Congress and related preparatory meetings.

Renovation Fund
The Renovation Fund represents funds allocated from unrestricted funds for future renovations of the
Headquarters building.

Other Designated reserves
Other Designated reserves represent amounts allocated from unrestricted funds to cover the cost of other
future costs or activities.

lll. CASH AND SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and short-term bank deposits include all bank accounts and short-term deposit accounts operated by IUCN
worldwide. The analysis by region or office is shown below.

REGION OR OFFICE 2022 2021
Asia 3,555 5,605
Eastern and Southern Africa 3,693 2,471
Eastern Europe and Central Asia 190 156
Europe 13,537 4,179
Environmental Law Centre, Bonn 156 175
Headquarters 57,468 52,121
Mediterranean 1,098 576
Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean 2,439 2,043
Oceania 3,383 1,477
South America 493 413
United Kingdom 242 448
United States 813 1,201
Western and Central Africa 3,096 3,171
West Asia 1,251 280
Balance at 31 December 91,414 74,316
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IV. FINANCIAL ASSETS

2022 2021
Bonds 7,497 8,881
Structured Products 285 316
Equities 2,562 3,469
Microfinance 1,514 1,380
Convertibles - 688
Other Investments 1,640 1,300
Balance at 31 December 13,498 16,034

At 31 December 2022, an unrealized foreign exchange loss of CHF 86 (2021 — CHF 39 loss) was recognised on the
investment portfolio.

During the year, the investment portfolio recorded a capital loss of CHF 1,663 (2021 — CHF 308 gain).

At 31 December 2022, the investment portfolio included bank balances of CHF 1,459 (2021 — CHF 686). These are
included under cash and short-term bank deposits.

V. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following forward currency contract commitments existed at 31 December 2022:

Other currency CHF Maturity date
Conversion of USD to CHF 1,260 1,232 10.02.2023
Conversion of EUR to CHF 1,450 1,380 20.01.2023

The contracts for the conversions of USD and EUR to CHF are all forward currency contracts.

VI. MEMBERSHIP DUES RECEIVABLE AND PROVISION

2022 2021
Gross membership dues receivable 1,922 2,150
Provision for dues in arrears (1,015) (1,539)
Net membership dues receivable at 31 December 907 611

The provision for membership dues in arrears has been calculated in accordance with the policy described in
Note II.11 (a).
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2022
2020 and 2021 2022 Total
prior
State member 111 171 500 782
Government agencies 33 138 183 354
Subnational Governments 0 0 21 21
Indigenous peoples 1 1 10 12
International NGOs 3 21 93 117
National NGOs 23 104 441 568
Affiliates 0 6 62 68
Total membership dues receivable 171 441 1,310 1,922
Provision for membership dues (1712) (304) (540) (1,015)
Net membership dues receivable 0 137 770 907
2021
2019 and 2020 2021 Total
prior
Total membership dues receivable 794 545 811 2,150
Provision for membership dues (794) (478) (267) (1,539)
Net membership dues receivable 0 67 544 611

Movement in provision for membership dues

2022 2021
Balance at 1 January 1,539 1,826
Addition to/(release from) provision 574 (287)
Write off of deficits against provision (1,098) -
Balance at 31 December 1,015 1,539

VIl. STAFF RECEIVABLES

Staff receivables comprise travel advances, payroll advances and loans to staff outstanding as at 31 December.

2022 2021
Travel advances 435 262
Payroll advances and staff loans 31 11
Balance at 31 December 466 273

VIIl. RECEIVABLES FROM/PAYABLE TO PARTNER ORGANISATIONS

This balance represents balances due or from partner organisations associated with IUCN that are outstanding as
at 31 December. The balance at the end of December 2022 represents a payable to Ramsar of CHF 105 (2021 - CHF
135 receivable).

2022 2021
RAMSAR Convention Secretariat (105) 135

14
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IX. ADVANCES TO IMPLEMENTING PARTNERS

Advances to implementing partners represent amounts advanced to IUCN partners for the implementation of
project agreements that were not spent as at 31 December.

2022 2021
Asia 3,338 1,207
Eastern and Southern Africa 5,304 1,625
Europe 46 122
Headquarters 8,236 6,920
Mediterranean 60 102
Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean 879 486
Oceania 918 849
United Kingdom (13) 49
United States 679 128
West Asia 1,115 1,532
Western and Central Africa 6,013 4,590
Balance at 31 December 26,575 17,610

Headquarters manages a significant number of grant making programmes. Although the programmes are
managed by Headquarters, the grants themselves are made to organisations globally. Grants are recorded as
advances to implementing partners until the expenditure incurred by the grantees is reported as spent to IUCN.

X. DONOR FUNDS RECEIVABLES

Donor funds receivables represents funds requests sent to donor. The receivable is net of provisions for amounts
IUCN considers may not be settled.

2022 2021
Donor funds receivables 9,214 9,647
Provision for doubtful receivables (402) (1,063)
Balance at 31 December 8,812 8,584

XI. PROJECT AGREEMENTS RECEIVABLES AND ADVANCES

Receivables and advances on project agreements represent respectively the total of projects with a negative cash
balance and the total of projects with a positive cash balance at year end.

2022 2021
Project agreement receivables 13,594 9,885
Project agreement advances (104,149) (82,707)

Balance at 31 December (90,555) (72,822)
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The project agreement receivables are presented net of provisions for amounts IUCN has assessed to be doubtful
from donors to cover expenditures already incurred.

2022 2021
Project agreement receivables 16,354 12,136
Provision for doubtful receivables (2,760) (2,251)
Balance at 31 December 13,594 9,885

Xil. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS RECEIVABLES

Framework agreements receivables represent framework agreements income due but not received as at the end
of the year. As at 31 December 2022 there was CHF nil receivable compared to CHF 640 receivable at 31 December
2021.

Xill. FIXED ASSETS

1. Movement in fixed assets

Vehicles,
Building Building Other Land Equipment,
Infrastructures Installations . .and Furniture & Total
Buildings Fixtures
Purchase value:
Balance as at 31 December, 2020 27,178 13,775 5,461 10,102 56,516
Additions - - 396 313 709
Disposals - - 0 (218) (218)
Balance as at 31 December, 2021 27,178 13,775 5,857 10,197 57,007
Additions - - 112 1,020 1,132
Disposals - - - (213) (213)
Balance as at 31 December, 2022 27,178 13,775 5,969 11,004 57,926
Depreciation:
Balance as at 31 December, 2020 (11,186) (8,460) (2,229) (8,847) (30,722)
Charge for the year (544) (575) (268) (505) (1,892)
Disposals 214 214
Balance as at 31 December, 2021 (11,730) (9,035) (2,497) (9,138) (32,400)
Charge for the year (544) (575) (280) (541) (1,940)
Disposals 198 198
Balance as at 31 December, 2022 (12,274) (9,610) ,777) (9,481) (34,142)
Net book value:
Balance as at 31 December, 2021 15,448 4,740 3,360 1,059 24,607
Balance as at 31 December, 2022 14,904 4,165 3,192 1,523 23,784

Fixed assets purchased using unrestricted funds are depreciated over their estimated useful lives as per Note I.9.

2. Land

In 1990, the commune of Gland gave IUCN the right to use a plot of land for the purpose of building the IUCN
Secretariat Headquarters. The right was granted at no cost for a period of 50 years, i.e. until August 2040. In 2008,
the commune of Gland gave IUCN the right of use of an adjacent piece of land to the original plot for a period of
50 years, with the permission to construct an extension to the existing IUCN Headquarters building.
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XIV.

3. IUCN Headquarters building

Included in Building Infrastructures and Building Installations is the Headquarters building of IUCN. This consists of
an original building and an extension.

a)

b)

Original building

The original building was financed by donations received from the Swiss Confederation, the Canton of Vaud
and the Commune of Gland. Although IUCN formally owns the Headquarters building, it enjoys a restricted
use and cannot dispose of it or use it as collateral without the approval of the Swiss Government. If
disposed of, the Swiss Government has the right to recuperate its initial outlay plus a percentage of the
value added, if applicable. The cost of the building is included in fixed assets and the net book value is
matched by a corresponding value of deferred income to recognise the restricted nature of the building.
The deferred income is released over the estimated useful life of the building in line with the depreciation
of the building.

In 2014, the Canton of Vaud provided a grant of CHF 600 towards the renovation of the original building.
The grant will be released over the estimated useful life of the building renovation (20 years).

Building extension

The building extension was financed by an interest free loan from the Swiss Government of CHF 20,000
payable in 50 equal yearly instalments of CHF 400, the first of which was paid in December 2010. In addition
to the loan from the Swiss Government, IUCN received cash donations of CHF 4,692 and in-kind donations
of CHF 1,815.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The intangible assets consist of an ERP system and portal applications.

Movement in Intangible assets

2022 2021
Purchase value:
Balance at 1 January 5,099 4,946
Additions 227 153
Balance at 31 December 5,326 5,099
Amortisation:
Balance as of 1 January (4,848) (4,670)
Charge for the year (113) (178)
Balance at 31 December (4,961) (4,848)

Net Book Value at 31 December 365 251

17



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022
All amounts in CHF ("000) unless otherwise stated

XV. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities represent amounts owed to creditors and suppliers as at the end of the
year. Of the total outstanding balance of CHF 15,994 as at 31 December 2022 (2021 — CHF 13,180), CHF 6,908
(2021 — CHF 6,691) is related to Headquarters and the balance to regional and country offices.

2022 2021
Accounts payable and supplier accruals 7,505 6,215
Year-end accruals for implementing partners 8,489 6,965
Balance at 31 December 15,994 13,180

XVI. PENSION FUND OBLIGATIONS
IUCN operates different pension plans in different countries, each conforming to the legal regulations in the
respective country. On 31 December 2022, the liability to the pension schemes amounted to CHF nil (2021 — CHF 3).
XVIl. ADVANCES FROM HOSTED ORGANISATIONS
At 31 December 2022 IUCN held funds advanced from hosted organisations of CHF 184 (2021 — CHF 220)
advanced to hosted organisations).
XVIIl. PROVISIONS

1. Projects in deficit

The provision for projects in deficit is funded by unrestricted income and covers projects where negotiations are
still ongoing but where IUCN considers that it may not be able to obtain additional funds from donors to cover

expenditures already incurred.

Movement in project deficit provision

2022 2021
Balance at 1 January 1,065 4,686
Additions to provision 383 2,258
Utilisation of provision (835) (892)
Reversal of Congress provision - (1,673)
Movement on reclassified doubtful receivables 152 (3,314)
Balance at 31 December 765 1,065
Region 2022 2021
Asia - 118
Eastern and Southern Africa Region 142 426
Europe 5 3
Headquarters 87 43
Mediterranean 43 45
Oceania 25 12
United States - 26
Western and Central Africa 463 392
West Asia - -
Balance at 31 December 765 1,065
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In 2022, provisions of CHF 2,223 (2021 — CHF 3,314) were reclassified and netted off donor funds receivable
CHF 251 (2021 — CHF 1,063 — Note X) and project funds receivable CHF 2,172 (2021 — CHF 2,251 — Note XI).
2. Staff termination

The provision for staff termination is calculated separately for each office to comply with local labour laws.
Irrespective of local labour law, provision is made for the estimated cost of staff termination when a decision has
been made to terminate a member of staff and the decision has been communicated to the individual concerned.

Movement in provision for staff termination

2022 2021
Balance at 1 January 1,971 1,690
Additions to provision 1,046 1,026
Utilization of provision (999) (745)
Balance at 31 December 2,018 1,971

XIX. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred unrestricted income represents income received in advance of the period to which it relates.

2022 2021

Deferred unrestricted income 6,758 3,132
Donations for construction of HQ building extension

Donations in cash 2,347 2,449

Donations in kind 169 195
Donation in cash for renovation of original building 356 372

2,872 3,016

Headquarters original building 6,167 6,475
Interest free government loan 4,799 3,130
Total 20,596 15,753
Current
Deferred unrestricted income 6,758 3,132
Buildings:

Original building 308 339

Building extension 162 128

Total buildings 471 467
Total current deferred income 471 3,599
Non-current

Original building 5,859 6,167

Building extension 7,508 5,987
Total long term deferred income 13,367 12,154

Total deferred income 20,596 15,753
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XX.

XXI.

Donations received for the headquarters buildings (original and extension) are recorded as deferred income and
recognised over the useful life of the corresponding purchased or donated assets (see Note XI 3).

The deferred income on the government loan represents the difference between the fair value of the loan
CHF 9,974 (2021 — CHF 12,048) and the outstanding cash value of the loan CHF 14,773 (2021 — CHF 15,178) (see
Note XX). This difference represents the fair value of the interest saved on the interest free loan granted by the
Swiss Government and is recognised over the period of the loan.

NEW BUILDING LOAN

Headquarters building extension loan

2022 2021
Current 175 249
Non-current 9,799 11,799
Balance at 31 December 9,974 12,048

The Swiss Government provided an interest free loan of CHF 20,000 to finance the headquarters building extension.

The loan is repayable in 50 annual instalments of CHF 400. The first instalment was paid in December 2010.

The fair value of the loan is estimated at CHF 9,974 (2021 — CHF 12, 048). The outstanding cash value of the loan
has been discounted at a rate of 2.25% (2021 — 1.25%) which represents the market interest rate for a 10-year loan
based on current market conditions. The difference of CHF 4,799 (2021 — CHF 3,130) between the outstanding cash
value and the fair value of the loan is the benefit derived from the interest-free loan and is recorded as deferred
income (see Note XIX).

The impact of changing the discount rate from 1.25% to 2.25% in 2022 was a decrease in the fair value of the loan
of CHF 1,822 and a corresponding increase in deferred income. This adjustment has not been passed through the
income and expenditure statement as it has no impact on the result for the year.

The value of the interest that would have been paid on an equivalent commercial loan of 2.25% is estimated at
CHF 333 (2021 — CHF 190). This has been recorded in the income and expenditure statement under Interest income
to recognise the benefit of the interest free loan and under financial charges to recognise the interest that would
have been paid.

FUNDS AND UNRESTRICTED RESERVES

1. Unrestricted reserves
Currency translation adjustments & foreign exchange gains and losses

Exchange gains and losses at the individual ledger levels are dealt with in the income statement. The net
unrestricted loss on exchange for the year amounted to CHF 1,294 loss (2021 — loss of CHF 43).

Exchange gains and losses on consolidation and translation of ledgers maintained in other currencies to CHF are
taken to the currency translation adjustment reserve. In 2022, the translation of balances to reporting currency
resulted in a currency loss of CHF 1,357 (2021 — loss of CHF 874), This amount has been recognised in the income
and expenditure statement as part of net gains/losses on foreign exchange as at the end of 2021 the balance
on the currency translation adjustment reserve was nil.

Retained surpluses
In accordance with Council decision C107/10 of 18-19 May 2022, CHF 800k was allocated from unrestricted
reserves to fund 2022 expenditure to fund Commission events (CHF 0.4m), development of a digital member

platform (CHF 0.2m) and The Red List of Threatened Species™ (CHF 0.2m).
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XXil.

XX,

XXIV.

XXV.

2. Designated reserves

The following allocations and appropriations were made to designated reserves:

2022 2021

Allocations Appropriations Allocations Appropriations
Commission operating funds 251 - (322)
External review 75 75 -
Regional conservation fora 250 235 -
Renovation fund 250 10 -
IUCN 20 year strategic vision 45 - -
Institutional strengthening 1,000 1,000 -
Total 826 1,045 1,320 (322)

In accordance with Bureau of Council decision B6/3 of 29 June 2022, CHF 781k was allocated from unrestricted
reserves to fund the IUCN 20-year strategic vision.

The Coalition for Private Investment in Conservation (CPIC)

In 2022, IUCN received CHF 9,561 (USD 9,950) from two donors for a project titled “The Coalition for Private
Investment in Conservation (CPIC)”. The purpose of the project is to scale-up of private investment in
conservation. The project involves the creation of an investment fund that will invest in conservation projects.
IUCN sits on the investment committee and also provides technical support and advice to the investment
managers. In 2022, IUCN transferred CHF 9,561 (USD 9,950) to the investment fund. The transfer has been
included in the income statement under the expenditure category “Grants to partners”. The fund provides first
loss financing for identified projects.

The duration of the fund is ten years. The balance of the investment fund at the end of its duration, including
reflows from projects financed by the fund, will be returned to IUCN and then to the original donors.

RETENTION OF STAFF INCOME TAX

Swiss Government tax rebates amounted to CHF 1,671 (2021 — CHF 1,700) and represents the value of taxes that
would have been paid by non-Swiss staff in the absence of the Fiscal Agreement between IUCN and the Swiss
Government which exempts non-Swiss staff from payroll taxes and which entered into effect on 1 January 1987.

FRAMEWORK INCOME

Annex A lists Framework Agreements income by donor and details income allocations to the IUCN Programme and
operational units. Framework income includes in-kind contributions of CHF 1,088 (2021 — CHF 635).

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income of CHF 4,426 (2021 — CHF 4,790) shown under Secretariat unrestricted funds includes
overhead and management fees from Ramsar Convention Secretariat of CHF 526 (2021 — CHF 513), rental income
of CHF 1,005 (2021 — CHF 987), recognition of deferred income of donations for the headquarters original building
and building extension CHF 467 (2021 — CHF 467), and in-kind contributions of staff other than Framework staff in-
kind of CHF 569 (2021 — CHF 872). The balance of other operating income is made up of miscellaneous external
income received by IUCN at both Headquarters and other offices around the world.

21



IUCN - International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2022
All amounts in CHF ("000) unless otherwise stated

XXVI.

XXVII.

XXVIII.

EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES ON REVALUATION OF PROJECT BALANCES

Project balances are expressed in the currency of the underlying donor contract. At the end of the year, project
balances are translated to the currency of the office ledger in which they reside at the year-end rate. Project
balances expressed in non-CHF ledgers are further revalued to CHF using the year-end exchange rates. The resulting
unrealised gain or loss is recorded as an adjustment to project balances on the balance sheet and the Currency
translation adjustment reserve. The net adjustment is passed through the income and expenditure statement for
project agreements to reflect the net movement on the project portfolio.

AUDIT FEE

The following fees were paid to the auditors of IUCN’s financial statements.

2022 2021
Consolidated financial statement audit 216 196
Other audits 105 48

RELATED PARTIES

1. Identity of related parties

a)

b)

<)

d)

The Commissions

The Commissions of IUCN are networks of expert volunteers entrusted to develop and advance the
institutional knowledge and experience and objectives of IUCN. The Commissions are established by
Congress which determines their mandate.

The National and Regional Committees

National and Regional Committees are groupings of Members of IUCN from specific states or regions. Their
role is to facilitate cooperation among Members and to coordinate the participation of Members in the
programme and governance of IUCN.

The Convention on Wetlands of International Importance (Ramsar)

Ramsar is hosted by the IUCN Secretariat and operates under its legal personality. It is headed by a
Secretary General with sole responsibility for the administration of the convention funds and for all
administrative matters, with the exception of those requiring the exercise of legal personality. IUCN
provides services to the Ramsar Secretariat in terms of financial and budgetary management, office
facilities, human resources management and information technology.

TRAFFIC International

TRAFFIC International is a charity registered in the United Kingdom. IUCN is a founder member and sits on
the Board. The IUCN Secretariat hosts TRAFFIC operations in its offices in Cameroon, Thailand and South
Africa where they operate under the legal personality of IUCN.

International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources — US

The International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources — US is a US registered charity
whose main purpose is to raise funds for conservation to be spent in partnership with IUCN and its
Members.
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2. Transactions with related parties

During the course of the year IUCN made contributions of CHF 1,300 to the Commissions
(2021 — CHF 1,300). The amount is distributed across the expenditure headings that reflect the nature of the
expenses incurred by the Commissions. Unspent allocations are included under Other Designated Reserves

During the year and as part of the services IUCN provides to Ramsar, IUCN received funds of CHF 6,935
(2021 — CHF 5,545) and incurred payments of CHF 6,840 (2021 — CHF 4,937) on behalf of Ramsar. At year-end
the balance held in trust for Ramsar amounted to CHF 6,377 (2021 — CHF 6,946). These transactions are
recorded in Ramsar accounts and financial statements and are therefore not presented in the financial
statements of IUCN. During the year, IUCN received fees of CHF 526 (2021 — CHF 513) for the services provided
to Ramsar,which are included in Other operating income.

During the year IUCN made contributions of CHF 200 to TRAFFIC International (2021 — CHF 276) and received
fees of CHF 94 (2021 — CHF 88) for hosting TRAFFIC operations.

During the year, IUCN received funds from the International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural
Resources —US of USD 2,241 for projects (CHF 2,069) and for Patrons of Nature USD nil (CHF nil). In 2021, USD 98
(CHF 90) was received for projects and USD 333 (CHF 304) for Patrons of Nature. At the end of 2022, USD 166
(CHF 154) was recorded as a receivable from IUCN-US for Patrons of Nature. In December 2021, the Patrons of
Nature receivable was USD nil (CHF nil).

Summary of legally controlled entities:
Year-end
Company closing Currency Capital Share of capital
2022 2021

The International Union for the

Conservation of Nature and Natural 31.12 KES 232,117 100% 100%
Resources, Registered Trustees, (WASAA

Trust Fund, Nairobi)

UICN, Bureau de Représentation aupres

o) o)
de I'Union Européenne aisbl 31.12 EUR 707 100% 100%
Associagao UICN 31.12 BLR 1,007 20% 20%
IUCN UK (A Company Limited by 3112 GBP 36 NA NA
Guarantee)
IUCN Maldives 31.12 MVR - 100% 100%
IUCN PNG “Mangrove Rehabilitation and dormant

Management Project Association

2021 WORLD CONSERVATION CONGRESS

The IUCN World Congress is IUCN’s highest governing body. It comprises the duly accredited delegates of the
Members of IUCN and takes place every four years.

The 2021 Congress was held in September 2021. The financial result of the Congress was recognised in the income
statement in 2021 and allocated to unrestricted reserves.
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XXX. STAFF HEADCOUNT

IUCN’s headcount including staff in-kind is as follows:

2022 2021

Average employees during the year 967 915

XXXI. OPERATING LEASES
At 31 December 2022, IUCN has future minimum office rental commitments amounting to CHF 3,668
(2021 — CHF 3,760) relating to expected rental fees until the end of the lease contracts, all of which expiresin 1 to
5 years.
IUCN has leasing contracts for office equipment and maintenance amounting to CHF 54 (2021 — CHF 49) expiring in
1to 5 years.

XXXIl. BANK GUARANTEES

The following are the IUCN bank guarantees in place at 31 December 2022, (2021 — CHF 88) in favour of IUCN

donors:
Country Currency Amount Amount in CHF
India INR 238 3
Germany usD 25 23
Uganda UGX 639,216 158
Germany EUR 30 30
Saudi Arabia usD 249 230

444

Cash for an equivalent amount is pledged at corresponding banks.

XXXIl.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequents events.
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ANNEX A — CORE FUNDS UNDER FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS

All amounts in CHF ("000)

2022 2022 2021 2021
Secretariat Framework Secretariat Framework
expenditure - allocation - expenditure - allocation -
unrestricted unrestricted unrestricted unrestricted
West and Central Africa Region 3,316 252 3,338 666
Eastern and Southern Africa Region 6,605 259 5,644 752
Asia Region 6,043 480 6,354 948
Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean Region 4,337 275 3,796 548
South America Region 1.340 143 989 275
Eastern Europe and Central Asia Region 554 55 550 76
West Asia Region 1,239 137 1,019 298
Centre for Mediterranean Cooperation 1,486 126 1,450 184
Oceania Region 1,402 94 1,466 286
North America Region 1,043 202 824 -
IUCN Europe Regional Office 1,045 413 1,088 -
Sub Total Regional Components 28,410 2,436 26,518 4,033
Nature-based Solutions (NbS) Coordination Hub - - 448 381
Sub Total Nature-based Solutions (NbS) Coordination Hub - - 448 381
Centre for Economy and Finance - Directorate 311 214 - -
Economics 996 212 877 427
Enterprise and investment 837 - 1,175 240
Multilateral finance and business development 681 - 480 152
Climate change 932 - 786 89
Sub Total Centre for Economy and Finance 3,757 426 3,318 908
Centre for Society and Governance - Directorate 317 214 - -
Water and land 795 212 748 238
Environmental law 452 - 1,189 285
Human rights in conservation 809 - 1,01, 285
Heritage, culture and youth 942 231 1,064 333
Sub Total Centre for Society and Governance 3,315 657 4,011 1,141
Conservation Action Centre - Directorate 321 214 - -
Protected and conserved areas 1,634 - 2,149 285
Ocean 1,323 10 1,543 238
Forest and grassland 747 - 1,933 237
Species conservation action 840 - 1,318 147
Traffic 217 200 276 -
Sub Total Conservation Action Centre 5,082 424 7,219 907
Science and Data Centre - Directorate 243 364 301 356
Science 680 212 888 687
Biodiversity assessment and knowledge 1,985 200 1,701 143
Conservation management and assurance 86 - 1,051 455
Knowledge management 1,610 350 - -
Sub Total Science and Data Centre 4,604 1,126 3,941 1,641
Commission on Education and Communication 248 - 214 -
Commission on Ecosystem Management 136 - 152 -
World Commission on Environmental Law 282 - 383 -
World Commission on Protected Areas 160 - 161 -
Species Survival Commission 239 - 295 -
Commission on Environment, Economics & Social Policy 181 - 291 -
Sub Total Commissions 1,246 - 1,496 -
Director General 2,555 - 1,909 660
International Policy Centre 991 320 874 617
Governance 717 - 484 -
IUCN Academy 368 - 4 -
IUCN 20-year strategic vision 34 - - -
Finance for Nature Unit 129 125 - -
Human Resources Management Group 1,277 225 1,039 -
Global Communications 1,201 - 1,258 593
Strategic Partnerships 1,649 1,695 1,050 1,267
Programme Performance, Monitoring & Evaluation 842 900 676 594
External Review - 75 - 75
Legal Adviser Office 701 135 623 -
Oversight Unit 153 170 232 -
Global Information Systems 3,698 400 3,835 205
Convenings 740 - 1,055 3
Membership and Commission Support 1,081 775 1,169 -
Corporates Bonn 269 - - -
Global Finance Group 1,934 - 1,658 -
Global Programme Operations Unit 2,100 200 1,733 592
General Services Unit 2,918 - 2,817 -
Sub Total Directorate and Support Units 23,357 5,020 20,416 4,606
Othe